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OUR
VISION

•	 We strive to provide business customers 
with solutions to improve their productivity 
and efficiency.

•	 We strive to provide consumers with 
convenience of financial payment and  
remittance through mobile e-wallet.

•	 We strive to provide consumers with 
convenience of financial payment 
and   remittance. We strive to provide 
Digital Contents aggregation & platform 
while promoting local digital content 
development & publication.

•	 We strive to create and innovate through 
continuous training and nurturing of our 
human capital through cross-fertilisation 
of ideas, knowledge and experience with 
our world class partners.

•	 A company that provides software & 
Implementation & Maintenance Services, 
Fintech Mobile and Digital Content 
Aggregation.

•	 We want to be seen as giving emphasis to 
the under – privileged and the rural.

•	 We want to be party to national initiatives 
of economic growth through services that 
cater for domestic and regional market.

•	 Above all we want to be a knowledge-based 
company that is creative and innovative.

OUR
MISSION
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Disclaimer : 

This annual report, prepared by TFP Solutions Berhad (“the 

Management”) may contain certain forward-looking statements 

and is prepared based on the Management’s current view of 

future events that may involve certain assumptions, risks and 

uncertainties. Investors are advised that past performance does 

not necessarily signify its future performance.
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CORPORATE
STRUCTURE

Name of
Subsidiary Companies

Date and Place of
Incorporation

Equity
Interest 

%

Issued
Share

Capital
Principal Activities

Comm Zed Sdn Bhd
(“CommZed”)

16 August 2001
Malaysia

100 326,002 Providing network security, IT solution, 
hardware and software maintenance

Comm Zed Solution Sdn Bhd 
(“CZS”)

19 March 2013
Malaysia

100 100,000 Dormant 

MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd
(“MBP”)

13 March 2004
Malaysia

100 1,000,000 Providing consulting, trading in IT 
related products and services, provide 
services ancillary to mobile Fintech 
products and services and investment 
holding

Agensi Pekerjaan O2U
Solutions Sdn Bhd 
(“O2U”)

18 December 2008 
Malaysia

100 500,000 To carry on business as private 
employment agency to recruit and 
place workers to another employer

Onecent Sdn Bhd
(“OneCent”)

13 February 2020
Malaysia

80 1,000 Providing a mobile fintech platform 
and cashless eco system that 
allow members to make payment, 
settlement of bills and mobile airtime 
reload

SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd
(“SBOne”)

15 April 2005
Malaysia

100 500,000 Providing ERP consulting
and implementation of SAP
products

SoftFac Technology Sdn Bhd 
(“SoftFac”)

28 June 2005
Malaysia

100 500,000 Providing Human Capital Resource 
Management (HCRM) solutions

Jejak Semangat Sdn Bhd
(“JS”)

18 March 2013
Malaysia

75 500,000 Dormant

One Gold Sdn Bhd
(“OneGold”)

10 February 2021
Malaysia

60 10 To carry on business related to metals 
, precious metals, jewellery and 
distribution business also as dealers 
in buying and selling

* CZS is wholly-owned by CommZed as at 2 February 2021		  ** JS is 75% owned by MBP 
# OneGold was incorporated on 10 February 2021

TFP Solutions Berhad
(Registration No.200701015543 

(773550-A)

100%
O2U

100%
SoftFac

80%
Onecent

100%
*CZS

75%
**JS

100%
SBOne 

100%
CommZed 

100%
MBP 

60%
#OneGold
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As for year 2020, Covid-19 pandemic spread like wildfire, bringing repercussions to many businesses in Malaysia. 
This was a wake-up call as many businesses saw the emergence to transform into a cashless and digital ecosystem 
and to be In line with the recent Government’s MyDIGITAL, PEMERKASA and Paynet’s cashless initiatives, we are 
lucky to be in position to facilitate underserved groups to embark on the digital economy. 

During the year, we recorded a loss after taxation of RM3.62 million, as a result of our business strategy 
transformation into fintech, we have also successfully completed our private placements and rights issue exercises 
raising a total of RM16.35 million with our support from our shareholders.

Going Digital with FinTech Infrastructure

In today’s world, communication is at the core of how we associate with one another – OneCALL mobile FinTech 
sim is more than a mobile operator; it is an everyday FinTech lifestyle. TFP Group, via our wholly-owned subsidiary 
MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd inked a co-branding agreement with Tune Talk to form OneCALL, which targets the B40/
rural population, petty traders, and the undeserved gig economy by providing unique features of e-Wallet which 
helps to make bill payments, remittance and prepaid reload. 

The digital cooperative system offered helps to cover all aspects of the businesses needs and provide an easy 
transition from their current system to a new one. Koperasi Perwaja Kemaman Berhad and Koperasi Pembangunan 
Usahama Masyarakat Maju Sabah Berhad (KOPUSAMAJU), both of which is under Malaysia Co-operative 
Societies Commission of Malaysia (SKM), are recent cooperative partnerships with which we are assisting in 
evolution and provision digital cooperative services. We hope with the success, it will set a precedent for the other 
14,000 alliances in Malaysia.

Furthermore, by incorporating our SmartHR payroll system into the OneCALL e-wallet, we provide security for 
management to directly distribute salaries to their workers’ accounts, as well as allowing users to conveniently 
purchase prepaid top up, data plan, and pay for other numerous household bills with a single tap and for the foreign 
workers who subscribe under us can send back money to their families back home via our OTR (OneTransfer 
Remittance).

CHAIRMAN’S
FOREWORD

FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Assalamu’alaikum Warahmatullahi Wabarakatuh

TFP Solutions Berhad, which stands for “Telecommunications, FinTech, 
and App Platform,” has progressed from a software developer to a software 
service provider, and now TFP has shifted into a FinTech entity that works in 

tandem with our existing Business Management Solutions (“BMS”).
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Chairman’s Foreword
(Cont ’d)

Brighter prospects ahead

Malaysia appears to be experiencing yet another period of challenges and uncertainty at the time of writing, 
however TFP will continue to optimise our resources in our ongoing efforts for high productivity coupled with 
prudent spending and investments where needed. 

We see a potential for providing new insights to various businesses by assisting them with an improved digital 
transformation strategy through our FinTech services. 

Fellow shareholders, thank you for your valued support and being with us on the journey regardless of the economic 
environment.

TFP’s upcoming collaborations are expected to further solidify the group’s position as the leading FinTech Solution 
provider in Malaysia, as well as to boost the group’s ongoing strategies aimed at transforming the company into 
a FinTech entity.

Thank You.

Wabillahitaufik Walhidayah, Wassalamualaikum Warahmatullahi Wabarakatuh

Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

DATUK SERI SYED ALI BIN ABBAS ALHABSHEE
Chairman, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 59/Male

Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Syed Abbas Alhabshee (“Datuk Seri Syed Ali”) was appointed to the Board of the Company 
on 9 June 2017 as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman. He obtained his professional 
Diploma in Leadership and Management by the New Zealand Institute of Management, New Zealand in 2003. On 
16 July 2016, Datuk Seri Syed Ali was awarded as Honorary Fellow from Liverpool John Moores University, United 
Kingdom.

Datuk Seri Syed Ali possess great knowledge and has executive experience in leading private, public and 
government controlled organisations from a broad range of industries. Datuk Seri Syed Ali ventured into business 
in the early 1980s and was on the board of several private and public corporations involved in a diverse range 
of businesses such as Chairman of UZMA Berhad until 2018. He was appointed the Chairman of Perbadanan 
Nasional Berhad, an Executive Board of Yayasan Wilayah Persekutuan and on the Board of Technology Park 
Malaysia, until 2018. He was a member of the Malaysian Senate (Dewan Negara) from 21 April 2003 until April 
2009. He was the Head of UMNO, Cheras Division, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur and UMNO State Liaison 
Secretary, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur until 2018. 

Datuk Seri Syed Ali does not hold any other directorship in other public companies and listed corporations. 

Datuk Seri Syed Ali attended two (2) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

DATO’ HUSSIAN @ RIZAL BIN A. RAHMAN D.S.A.P
Managing Director

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 59/Male

Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman (“Dato’ Hussian”) was appointed to the Board of the Company on 15 February 
2013. Dato’ Hussian was subsequently re-designated as Managing Director on 16 July 2018. He obtained the 
Postgraduate Diploma in Business Management from The Oxford Association of Management, Oxford, England 
(“OXIM”) and was also admitted to the membership of Certified Master of Business Administration from the OXIM, 
a membership that recognises management competency and professional development.

Dato’ Hussian has been an entrepreneur since in his mid-20s. He was involved in the businesses of trading 
and shipping and subsequently ventured into the Information and Communications Technology (“ICT”) industry. 
He has extensive experience in the ICT industry and currently is the Executive Director and major shareholder 
of MobilityOne Limited (“MobilityOne”), which is listed on AIM of the London Stock Exchange. MobilityOne 
is an e-commerce infrastructure payment solutions and platform provider that works closely with most of the 
telecommunication companies and financial institutions in Malaysia. 

Dato’ Hussian does not hold any other directorship in other public companies and listed corporations. 

Dato’ Hussian attended all three (3) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 
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Board of Directors’ Profile 
(Cont’d)

YM PUTERI MUNAWARAH SYAMMIYAH BINTI MUNIR
Executive Director

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 34/Female

YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir (“Puteri Munawarah”) was appointed to the Board of the Company 
on 19 January 2021 as Executive Director. She has worked in the banking industry for several years. She was the 
Executive Product Management at CIMB Islamic Bank Berhad from February 2010 to July 2013. From September 
2013 to August 2015, she worked as the Senior Executive, Investment Banking at Kuwait Finance House (Malaysia) 
Berhad. In September 2016, she returned to CIMB as part of CIMB Investment Bank Berhad and was the Manager, 
Regional Debt Capital Markets up to December 2020.

YM Puteri does not hold any other directorship in other public companies and listed corporations.

KONG WEI PENG
Executive Director

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 49/Female

Ms Kong Wei Peng (“Ms Kong”) was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 9 October 2020. She 
has over 20 years of experience in managing companies account and operations department. She also has diverse 
experience and exposure worldwide, live and work over 7 years full time in the USA, UK and Australia.

In year 1992 till 1993, she was the Audit and Accounts Assistant in T. O. Wong & Co. (Malaysia). She moved on to 
Tai Seng Air-Conditioning Engineering Pte. Ltd. (Malaysia) in year 1993 to 1999 and worked as the Accounts and 
Administrative. 

She joined Perosan Pte. Ltd./ Flamingo Institute of Further Education (A Member of The Multi-Purpose Group of 
Companies, Malaysia) as the Senior Accounts Executive in year 1999. Subsequently in year 2000 until 2003, she 
was appointed as the Manager of Administrative and Accounts Department in L&T Frozen Foods (Scotland, UK).

She was a Head of Account and Operation Department in Tai Seng Air-Cond Pte. LTd. (Malaysia) from year 2004 
till 2012. In year 2013, she is the Administrative Executive in Fo Guang Shan Temple (Perth, Australia).

In year 2015, she took on a role as the Head of Account and Operation Department in Oriental Mace Sdn. Bhd.  
and was became the Founder and Group Chief Operation Officer in Oriental Mace Group Berhad in year 2017.  
Oriental Mace Group Berhad is a leading company primarily business in Biotechnology  Healthcare and Beautycare 
under the brand MyBeauty, a brand jointly established with the Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture to lead 1,000 
beautycare service provider in Malaysia.  

Currently, she is the Group COO to Oriental Mace Group Berhad since year 2017.

Ms Kong does not hold any other directorship in other public companies and listed corporations.
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NOOR SHAHWAN BIN SAFFWAN
Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of Audit and Nomination Committee
Member of Remuneration Committee

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 71/Male

Encik Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan (“Encik Shahwan”) was appointed to the Board of the Company on 19 March 
2015 as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. He was subsequently re-designated as Independent Non-
Executive Director on 13 April 2015. He holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from University of Malaya in 
1974. He started his career with the Ministry of Trade & Industry as International Trade Officer from 1975 to 1976. 
From 1976 to 1989, he was with Bank of America, Kuala Lumpur, with his last position there as Assistant Vice-
President. Since he left Bank of America in 1989, he became a Founder Member and Executive Director of Apex 
Communications Sdn Bhd, a diversified conglomerate dealing in telecommunications, broadcasting, Information 
technology equipment, education products, provision of solar hybrid systems, property development, construction 
of specialised oil related projects, transport infrastructure projects in MRT, LRT and BRT.

He does not hold any other directorship in other public companies and listed corporations.

Encik Shahwan attended all three (3) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

WONG LOKE LIM
Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
Member of Audit and Nomination Committee

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 59/Male

Mr Wong Loke Lim (“Mr Wong”) was appointed to the Board of the Company on 23 December 2014 and he is 
a Chartered Accountant with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants and a Certified Financial Planner. 

He has served in the financial services industry for more than 20 years. Previously, he was the Executive Director 
and Licensed Fund Management Representative of Hickham Capital Management Sdn Bhd, a General Manager at 
KAF Investment Bank Berhad and held senior management positions in several public listed companies. He does 
not hold any directorship in other public companies and listed corporations.

Mr Wong attended all three (3) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

Mr Wong, who is retiring pursuant to Clause 125 of the Company’s Constitution at the forthcoming 14th AGM of 
the Company, he has expressed his intention not to seek re-election at the forthcoming 14th AGM of the Company.
Hence, he shall cease to be a Director of the Company at the conclusion of the 14th AGM of the Company.

Board of Directors’ Profile 
(Cont’d)
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YEONG SIEW LEE
Independent Non-Executive Director
Member of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 43/Female

Madam Yeong Siew Lee (“Madam Yeong”) was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Company on 6 February 2018. She graduated from University of Wales College (UK) with the degree of Bachelor 
of Science (Honours) (Accounting and Finance) in 1999 and completed her Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (UK) in 2004.

She is a Chartered Accountant and also a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA). She began 
her career with GHL Systems Berhad (“GHL”), a company listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, as an Assistant Accountant in 2003 and moved up the ranks and became Head/Assistant General Manager 
of Finance in 2008 to supervise the company’s local and overseas accounting teams. She left GHL in August 2009 
to venture into business in the consumer and architectural industry, and was working as a finance adviser for SMR 
HR Group Sdn Bhd.

She is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Sersol Berhad.

Madam Yeong attended all three (3) Board meetings held during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

DATUK CHU BOON TIONG
Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 50/Male

Datuk Chu Boon Tiong (“Datuk Chu”) was appointed to the Board of the Company on 2 March 2021 as the 
Independent Non-Executive Director. He is an Executive Director of Industronics Berhad, which is a company 
listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. Industronics Berhad is an internationally renowned 
and established electronic technology company with a nature of business in manufacturing and trading electronic 
technology products and accessories. The company is equipped with sufficient financial and human resources 
to undertake major technology-based projects around the world. He is also an Executive Director of Higherway 
Electronic Co. Ltd, which is a company listed in Taiwan. The main source of financial resources of Higherway 
Electronic Co. Ltd is in innovative research and development. Its principal business activities include consumer 
multimedia, micro-controller IC application design, solution integration and sales. The sales team of the company 
is highly capable of coping with market demands and proposing leading products which are in line with the 
latest market trends. Further, the high research and development capacity and market adaptability of Higherway 
Electronics makes it the best business partner for IC designers and customers. He was appointed as an Executive 
Director of NWP Holdings Berhad on 23 September 2020. The Company is a public listed company and is listed 
on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad since November 2000. The nature of business of NWP 
Holdings Berhad includes manufacturing and trading a wide range of quality timber products such as interior and 
exterior molded timber products, kiln-drying, timber treatment services, sawmilling, and logging. In this Digital Age 
and with the accelerating development of technology, Datuk Chu has been taking steps to develop new projects 
in the E-commerce business, robotics automation, IOT and block-chain technology in China and Southeast Asia.

Datuk Chu currently sits on the board of Industronics Berhad.

Notes:

• 	 None of the Directors have conflict of interest with the Company and have family relationships with any other 
Director or major shareholder of the Company.

• 	 All Directors have not been convicted for any offences within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences (if 
any) as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies.

Board of Directors’ Profile 
(Cont’d)
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KEY SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

The Key Senior Management consist of 11 persons which includes one (1) Managing Director namely, Dato’ Hussian 
@ Rizal Bin A. Rahman, two (2) Executive Directors namely, YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir and Ms 
Kong Wei Peng, of which their profiles are listed on page 6 and 7, and the persons as below :

VINCENT YONG TUCK SENG
Deputy CEO	

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 55/Male

Mr Vincent Yong is currently the Deputy CEO of TFP Solutions Berhad. He joined the Group in January 2019 as 
Head of Corporate Finance and subsequently he was promoted to the present position in July 2019. Prior to joining 
TFP Solutions Berhad, he was the Head of Corporate Finance and Chief Operating Officer of a subsidiary company 
of a public listed company involved in mining of minerals from 2013 to 2018. Prior to this, he was an independent 
business consultant for the past 15 years. Mr Vincent is a Chartered Accountant with the Malaysia Institute of 
Accountants and Certified Practising Accountant with the CPA Australia. He graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce 
majoring in Accountancy and Information Systems from the University of New South Wales, Australia.

Mr Vincent does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

CHONG HON BU
Head of FinTech Division	

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 50/Male

Mr Chong Hon Bu is currently, the Head of Fintech Division and he joined TFP Solutions Berhad in October 2019 to 
spearhead Mobile FinTech division. He is currently responsible to build the fintech business of the Group.

He holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Major in Computer Engineering) from University of Melbourne Australia. Prior 
to joining TFP Solutions Berhad, he was in his own business in hospitality industry for 10 years. He started his IT 
career in 1994 as a Technical Support Executive at LMS Technology Distributions Sdn Bhd focusing on Internet 
Firewall, remote access server and performance management tools for clients like JARING/MIMOS and Telekom 
Malaysia. He left LMS Technology Distributions as General Manager in 2007 and moved on to establish his 
information technology business, Comm Zed Sdn Bhd focusing on network management solutions before it was 
sold into TFP Solutions Berhad in 2014.

Mr Chong does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

AHMAD SHAHRIR BIN MOHD. SALLEH
Chief Operating Officer of Onecent Sdn Bhd

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 52/Male

Encik Ahmad Shahrir holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Science from the Universiti Sains Malaysia.

Encik Ahmad Shahrir has had over 15 years of combined experience in programming and software development. 
He is currently the COO of OneCent Sdn Bhd and is directly involved with all marketing plans of OneCent. Prior to 
the said position, Ahmad Shahrir has held the following posts;
•	 CEO, Founder – Smart Solutions
•	 Senior Programmer – Bank Pembangunan Malaysia Berhad

Encik Shahrir does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.



11
www.tfp.com.my

TFP Solutions Berhad         2020 ANNUAL REPORT

Key Senior Management’s Profile
(Cont’d)

MAZHARUL HAQUE
Chief Technology Officer

Nationality	 : Bangladesh
Age/Gender	 : 29/Male

Mr Mazharul Haque received his tertiary education in Bangladesh and was successfully awarded the Bachelor of 
Science in Computer Science from American International University, Bangladesh in 2013 and is currently pursuing 
Master of Science in Computer Science at the same university.

Mr Mazharul is currently the Chief Technology Officer with TFP Group of Companies. He joined TFP in March 2019 
as Campus ERP Software Development Manager. He was then promoted to Head the Smart Campus Project in July 
2019 and later to the CTO position for MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd in November 2019.

Mr Mazharul is a Microsoft Certified Professional with proficiency in designing, developing and testing object 
oriented, client server and web-based applications. Among his major duties as CTO includes research, valuate 
and synthesize technical information to design, develop and test computer-based system, conducting requirement 
analysis and preparing specific proposals for new system od modification of existing system.

Mr Mazharul does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporation

JAESON HOO
Group Accountant

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 41/Male

Mr Jaeson Hoo joined TFP Solutions Berhad on March 2019. Prior to joining the Group, he was the Finance Manager 
of a wholly owned subsidiary company of a public listed company involved in oil, gas and mining of minerals 
between 2015 and 2018. He began his career with mid-tier accounting firms, gaining a total of more than 10 years’ 
experience. He graduated from University of East London with the degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting 
and Finance.

Mr Jaeson does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

DAVINDER SINGH A/L MANMOHAN SINGH
Associate Vice President of Consulting

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 42/Male

Mr Davinder Singh A/L Manmohan Singh (“Mr. Davinder”) was our Associate Vice President of Consulting, BMS 
and he was appointed to the Key Senior Management in 2015. Holding a Bachelor Degree of IT from University 
Kebangsaan Malaysia, with a cumulative working experience over 16 years, he has spent his working career 
engaged closely with Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) and business applications. Among the applications that 
he has worked with are SAP Business One (SAP Certified Application Associate)/SAP Business One HANA and 
SAGE UK; his positions ranged from managing, consulting, presales, sales enablement and business development.

Mr Davinder also leads the SAP Business One and Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) initiative on the rollout of GST in 
Malaysia for clients, and is an advocate for SAP Business One HANA and its in-memory computing and analytics. 
He does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

Note: Mr Davinder Singh has resigned on 31/07/2020 
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Key Senior Management’s Profile
(Cont’d)

RAHMAT BIN YAHAYA 
General Manager Comm Zed Sdn Bhd

Nationality	 : Malaysian
Age/Gender	 : 45/Male

Encik Rahmat is currently the General Manager of Comm Zed Sdn Bhd. He obtained his Diploma certification in 
Information Technology from Institute of Commercial Management, United Kingdom and holds PMP Certification 
Prep and is a InfoVista Certified Professional. Mr Rahmat has a total of 26 years of working experience compromising 
of 8 years of MIS experience, 4 years of technical and engineering experience and 14 years of handling project 
management life cycle and being excellent at managing manpower planning and people.

He has experienced in managing large projects in Telco, Oil & Gas, Government Sector, Arm Forces, and Banking 
accumulative worth of RM200 million.

Encik Rahmat does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

FERDINAND NIALDA VENUA
SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd
Acting Head of SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd

Nationality	 : Filipino
Age/Gender	 : 35/Male

Mr Ferdinand is currently the Acting Head of SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd. He has obtained SAP Certified Application 
Associate with over 10 years of experience, and 8 of those years spent engaged with SAP Business One partners 
on the (ERP) solution / Electrical Technology from CIT (Capellan Institute of Technology), Pasig City, Philippines. 
Prior to working here, Mr Ferdinand has over 10 years of domain experience of working in different industry sectors 
such as Construction, Manufacturing and Logistics. His expertise is in core areas of SAP Business One HANA - 
Sales and Purchasing processes, MRP, Projects, Production, Inventory Management and Financial processes. With 
experience on implementing Addon for (MARINGO) MARIProject for SAP Business One, iVend for SAP Business 
One and Crystal Report.

Mr Ferdinand does not hold any directorships in other public companies and listed corporations.

Notes:

•	 None of the Key Senior Management has conflict of interest with the Company and has family relationships with 
any other Director or major shareholder of the Company.

• 	 All Key Senior Management have not been convicted for any offences within the past five (5) years other than 
traffic offences (if any) as well as any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, our Group is principally involved in the ICT business, with our 
base of operations mainly in Malaysia. Our Group’s ICT business comprise:

•	 the BMS business which involves the provision of software solutions/ tools (i.e. Human Resource Management 
	 System, enterprise resource planning application and University/Campus Management System); 

•	 the mobile airtime reload mainly focuses on the provision of services ancillary to mobile communication and 
	 Fintech products and content aggregation; and

• 	 Mobile Fintech related business which involves the provision of mobile data services with e-money and e-wallet 
	 functionalities through the development of mobile applications specifically designed to handle fund transfer, 
	 withdrawal of e-money as well as online payment and others.

The Group registered a reduction in revenue of 77.96% for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (‘FYE 2020’) 
mainly due to decline in revenue from the Mobile Airtime reload business due to lower quantity ordered from a major 
customer for this year, which recorded a revenue of RM12.56 million. However, the Group recorded earnings before 
interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA’) loss of RM3.17 million and Loss after tax (‘LAT’) of 
RM3.62 million as compared to LAT of RM3.51 million for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The financial 
year ended 31 December 2020 results were due to increase in consultancy fee for Smart Digital Entrepreneurs team, 
depreciation charge of plant and equipment, reduction in interest received from the deposits in licensed banks 
and recognised write-off on uncollectible debts as well as inventory. The financial year ended 31 December 2020 
financial performance includes the loss on disposal of RM0.27 million for the disposal of TFP Soft Sdn Bhd

Revenue from BMS for financial year ended 31 December 2020 recorded a slightly increase of 1.32% from RM5.29 
million as compared to RM5.36 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2019 due to additional software 
and licenses sold.

The Group has taken various efforts to transform from a conventional ICT solutions services provider to a 
technology-driven company via collaborations with the following partners for the provision of fintech products, 
solutions and services to expand the Group products to a wider market:-

(a) 	 On 9 July 2019, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into a product co-branding agreement with TuneTalk for 
	 the launch of OneCALL to provide mobile data services features;

(b) 	 On 2 December 2019, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into a non-exclusive agency and reseller agreement 
	 with MobilityOne Sdn Bhd for the appointment of MBP Solutions as the reseller and agent of MobilityOne Sdn 
	 Bhd’s products and services, which includes mobile phone prepaid airtime reload, bill payment and other 
	 products and services such as e-wallet;

(c) 	 On 14 December 2020, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with RSJ Consultancy Sdn Bhd 
	 (on behalf of Koperasi Pembangunan Usahasama Masyarakat Maju Sabah Berhad) for the appointment 
	 of MBP Solutions to provide digital solutions services including mobile payment terminals, sale of mobile 
	 prepaid reload and bill payments, e-remittance services, mini-ATMs and OneCALL mobile Fintech services 
	 and Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) System as well as appoint MBP Solutions as a FinTech service 
	 provider;

(d)	 On 21 December 2020, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with Koperasi Perwaja 
	 Kemaman Berhad (“KPKB”) to provide digital solutions services including online payment gateways, ERP 
	 System as well as the appointment of MBP Solutions as a digital service provider for KPKB’s e-commerce 
	 platform (i.e., MyPerwajaGrocer) for a period of 5 years;
	
(e) 	 On 25 February 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with Persatuan Penghantar 
	 P-Hailing Malaysia (“PENGHANTAR”) for the provision of digital solutions service to PENGHANTAR. MBP 
	 Solutions shall develop, implement and provide smart community digital application services including the 
	 integration of smart community application and OneCALL mobile Fintech services for the use of PENGHANTAR 
	 members for an initial period of 2 years and may be extended for an additional period of 3 years;
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(f) 	 On 1 March 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with SB Supplies & Logistics Sdn 
	 Bhd (“SugarBun”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Borneo Oil Berhad, a company listed on the Main 
	 Market of Bursa Securities) for the provisions of OneCALL airtime and internet data plan service and/or 
	 OneCALL mobile application to customers of SugarBun for a period of 10 years. SB Suppliers & Logistics Sdn 
	 Bhd is the operator of “SugarBun” franchise restaurant brand;
	
(g) 	 On 1 April 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd  had entered into a memorandum of understanding with NWP Access Sdn 
	 Bhd (“NWP Access”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWP Holdings Berhad, a company listed on the Main 
	 Market of Bursa Securities) to explore business collaboration in relation to OneCALL services, mobile 
	 Fintech services, micro-lending services and micro-insurance to be provided by MBP Solutions (or 
	 its affiliates) to NWP Access. The memorandum of understanding with NWP Access is for a period of 1 
	 year commencing from 1 April 2021;

(h) 	 On 9 April 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd had entered into a dealer agreement with Multimax Creations Sdn Bhd 
	 (“Multimax”) for the appointment of Multimax as non-exclusive dealer to distribute and resell products 
	 services made available by MBP Solutions to any agropreneur members (i.e., domestic and/or foreign 
	 workers) procured by Multimax for an initial period of 5 years and may be extended for an additional 
	 period of 2 years commencing on 9 April 2021;

(i) 	 On 9 April 2021, Onecent Sdn Bhd (a 80%-owned subsidiary of our Company) had entered into an 
	 agreement with Vearich International Sdn Bhd (“Vearich”) for the provision of Fintech services (e.g., online 
	 payment gateway, e-wallet, merchant, marketplace and e-remittance) to Vearich and its members. The 
	 agreement with Vearich is for a period of 10 years commencing on 8 April 2021;

(j) 	 On 9 April 2021, Onecent Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with Bumijez Sdn Bhd (“Bumijez”) for 
	 the provision of Fintech services (e.g., online payment gateway, e-wallet, merchant, marketplace and 
	 e-remittance) to Bumijez and its members. The agreement with Bumijez is for a period of 10 years 
	 commencing 9 April 2021; and

(k) 	 On 20 April 2021, Onecent Sdn Bhd had entered into an agreement with Persatuan Pengusaha Restoran 
	 Muslim Malaysia (“PRESMA”) for the provision of Fintech services (e.g., online payment gateway, e-wallet, 
	 merchant, marketplace and e-remittance) and as training coordinator for digital entrepreneur course to 
	 PRESMA members. The agreement with PRESMA is for a period of 10 years commencing 20 April 2021.

Management Discussion and Analysis
(Cont’d)
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FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

RM’000 Audited
2018

Audited
2019

Audited
2020

Revenue 50,506 87,716     19,336

Gross Profit 5,456  3,551      1,957

EBITDA # (2,067)  (3,249)     (3,171)

Net Loss   (1,967)      (3,513)     (3,624)

#  Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation but includes share of profits in associated company, 
is arrived but by taking profit before taxation after associate 
profits, plus depreciation and amortisation.

RM’000   Audited
2018

Audited
2019

Audited
2020

NTA 10,409 7,191 16,049

Cash 7,900 3,262 15,019

Total Assets 24,313 12,255 21,877
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BUSINESS
INFORMATION 

1)	 MBP Solutions Sdn Bhd – Going Digital with FinTech Infrastructure
 
	 MBP Solutions have inked a co-branding agreement with Tune Talk to launch OneCALL Mobile FinTech 
	 which targets the “unbanked” population and offers unique features of e-Wallet which helps to make bill 
	 payments, remittance and prepaid reload.
 
	 MBP Solutions offers a Digital cooperative system offers and provide to help cover all aspects of the 
	 businesses needs and provide an easy transition from their current system to a new one. 
 
	 Koperasi Perwaja Kemaman Berhad and Koperasi Pembangunan Usahama Masyarakat Maju Sabah Berhad 
	 (KOPUSAMAJU) which is under Malaysia Co-operative Societies Commission of Malaysia (SKM), are one of 
	 the recent cooperative partnerships that MBP Solutions is helping to evolve. 

2)	 Onecent Sdn Bhd – Fintech Community

	 OneCENT is a Mobile Fintech platform that allows community of entrepreneurs who believe in the future 
	 lifestyle of the cashless Eco system, which are in line with government’s vision of the digital economy. 
 
	 As of February 2021, OneCENT community has grown to a total of 20,000 members. The community is 
	 gradually expanding as they promote digital lifestyle among themselves and their contacts, which includes 
	 friends and businesses that they meet on a regular basis.

	 In exchange, the community will reap the rewards in the form of cash rebates and share among their circle of 
	 friends and business owners.
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3)	 Softfac Technology Sdn Bhd – Smart Human Resource and Campus System

	 SoftFac offers diverse Human Capital Management System and its vision is to become the preferred Human 
	 Resource Solutions for business enterprise in Malaysia and ASEAN countries.

	 OneSolution - SmartHR & Payroll which is a product of SoftFac is a centralized employee database that is 
	 easily accessible by HR Department to retrieve information and automates tracking of employee’s GPS 
	 attendance, client visits, and monitor daily working hours.

	 Another product is the SmartCAMPUS – to develop digitalize solutions to the education management system. 
	 With SmartCAMPUS technologies, automated academic activities, managing facilities, cashless, and 
	 transportation is more intelligent than ever.

4)	 SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd – Manage your growing business with SAP Business One

	 Established in 2006, SBOne Solutions Sdn Bhd is a certified SAP 
	 partner, offering professional SAP Business One consultancy and 
	 expertise to businesses in Malaysia. 
 
	 Over a span of 10 years, we have established ourselves as a trusted business management adviser and 
	 successfully assisted many organisations from various industries to leverage both On-Premise and On-Cloud 
	 technology, to streamline business processes to boost productivity and competitiveness. 

	 Our core solution: SAP Business One, is supported both On-Premise as well as via the Cloud, commonly 
	 known as a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) platform. We also focus on Corporate Performance Management 
	 (CPM) tools from our principal, Solver APAC. The Solver suite of solutions allows our users to get quicker 
	 insights to their business via reporting and planning tools, integrated to SAP Business One.

Business Information 
(Cont’d)
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Business Information 
(Cont’d)

5)	 Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions Sdn Bhd – Connecting employees with their dream jobs.

	 O2U previously operated as a Software Integrator (SI) before it transformed 
	 into a man-power project that helps businesses identify and employ people.

	 Not only do we hire and recruit businesses in the local public or private 
	 sectors, but we also provide services for international companies.

6)	 Jejak Semangat Sdn Bhd – Mobile Network Service Provider (MVNO)

	 Jejak Semangat is a sub-subsidiary of TFP Solutions Berhad and was established since the year 2013.

	 Jejak Semangat is a licensed Mobile Virtual Network Operator (MVNO) company that provides network service. 
	 With the MVNO license obtained, its core service is to enhance service providers in offering telecommunication 
	 services to use the OneCALL SimCard. Furthermore, Jejak Semangat also holds a Network Service Provider 
	 1 (NSP 1) license.

7)	 One Gold Sdn Bhd – Digital Gold

	 One Gold Sdn Bhd was founded on 10 February 2021, and has partnered with ACE Capital Growth Sdn Bhd to 
	 provide a fintech platform for consumers to conduct gold transactions. The gold transactions will allow the 
	 public to buy and sell gold, as well as terminal merchants to sell gold via the platform.

	 Members will be able to buy and sell digital gold within the OneCENT App, bringing digital gold trading into 
	 the OneCENT community. There are also plans to develop a programme to encourage the “unbanked” 
	 community, such as foreign workers and rural residents, to purchase gold as an investment and safe place to 
	 keep their cash.

8)	 Comm Zed Sdn Bhd – IT Security Solutions and Services.

	 Comm Zed was incorporated on 16th August 2001 with a vision to offer 
	 solutions in building complete Information and Communication 
	 Technology (ICT) Infrastructure, Network Security, IT Solution, 
	 hardwareand software maintenance. 

	 Focus on providing services for ICT infrastructure management 
	 solutions as well as innovative technology IP network and network security products.

	 Alliance with leading international IT security organizations, providing access to a broad range of products 
	 and technical innovations.

	 Our objective is to provide innovative world-class IT Security Solutions and services to the nation.
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Digital Transformation Sustainability 

Our future is all about digitalization and this is a reality of nature. Our company has been keeping up with the latest 
technologies in the market to speed up our business with ease and flexibility, and to be able to offer and implement our 
intelligent technologies and innovation through our products and services to other business sectors. We have signed 
multiple collaboration with Koperasi Perwaja Kemaman Berhad and Koperasi Pembangunan Usahama Masyarakat 
Maju Sabah Berhad under the Malaysia Co-operative Societies Commission of Malaysia (SKM) to provide digital 
cooperative services to help steer their business through this new reality.

Creating a Sustainable FinTech 

Fintech is widely acknowledged as one of the most important innovations in the financial industry, and it is evolving at 
a rapid pace, driven by the sharing and circular economy, favourable regulation, and information technology. FinTech 
implementation has the potential to have a significant impact on the quality of life on our planet.

Stakeholder Engagement 

We engage our shareholders and stakeholders on a regular basis by improving information flow and promoting 
transparency through press releases, news articles, Bursa Announcements, and social media platforms (Facebook  
and Instagram).

Environment-Friendly

Our company recycles paper, plastic, aluminium, and glass. We also encourage paperless offices and use electronic 
media instead of paper-based communication whenever possible. We are proud to say that one of our products, 
SmartHR and Payroll, is a completely paperless solution that promotes a paper - free workplace. We also reuse 
printer wastepaper for our own printing or making notes on any blank sides when possible.

SUSTAINABILITY
STATEMENT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OVERVIEW STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of TFP Solutions Berhad (“the Company”) recognises the importance of good 
corporate governance and continues to be committed to ensure that high standards of corporate governance are 
practised throughout the Group to deliver long term sustainable value to the shareholders and other stakeholders.

As stated in Rule 15.25(1) of ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“Bursa Securities”), a listed issuer is required to provide an overview of its application of the principles set out in the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance  (“MCCG”) in respect of the reporting financial year, in its annual report.

The Board presents this statement to provide shareholders and investors with an overview of the Corporate Governance 
(“CG”) practices of the Company under the leadership of the Board during the financial year 2020. This overview 
takes guidance from the key CG principles as set out in the MCCG.

The application of each Practices set out in the MCCG during the financial year under review is disclosed under TFP’s 
corporate governance report published on the company’s website at www.tfp.com.my.

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of our Company and the delivery of sustainable 
value to its stakeholders. In discharging its fiduciary duties and leadership functions, the Board governs and sets 
the strategic direction of the Company while exercising oversight on management. The Board plays a critical role in 
setting the appropriate tone at the top, providing thought leadership and championing good governance and ethical 
practices throughout the Company.

1.1	 Board Responsibilities

	 The Board assumes full responsibilities for the overall performance of the Company and its subsidiaries by 
setting the policies, establishing goals and monitoring the achievement of the goals through strategic action 
plans and careful stewardship of the Group’s assets and resources. It focuses on financial performance and 
crucial business issues, like principal risks and their management, succession planning for senior management, 
investor relations programme and shareholders communication policy, systems for internal control and 
compliance with laws and regulations.

	 To ensure the effective discharge of its function and duties, the principal responsibilities of the Board include 
the following:-

(a) 	 Review and adopt strategic business plans for the Company

	 The Board contributes to the development of the Group’s strategic planning and directions and 
subsequently monitoring the implementation of the strategic business plan by Management. 

	 The Group has in place an annual business strategy planning and business target session. The 
Management and business unit heads will present to the Board its recommended strategy, together 
with proposed business plans, including new products and introduction of new market penetration, if 
any, for review and approval.

	 The Board will deliberate and suggest Management to take into consideration the varying opportunities 
and risks whilst developing the strategic business plan. Ultimately to ensure optimised returns for the 
Company and the Group.
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Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.1	 Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

(b)	 Oversee the conduct of the Company’s business

	 The Management which is led by the Key Senior Management is responsible, with the support of the 
Board, for the day-to-day management of the business and operations of the Group.

	 The Board monitors the performance of Management on a regular basis by having the following agenda 
items in the scheduled Board meetings:-

-	 To review the Group’s performance for the quarterly financial results; and
-	 To be aware of the updates and progress of key initiatives, business targets and achievements 

to-date.

	 The Key Senior Management would also inform and provide clarification on the challenges and issues 
faced by the Company and business units.

(c) 	 Identify the principal risks and implement appropriate internal controls and mitigation measures

	 The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management, 
which includes the establishment of an appropriate control system and framework as well as reviewing 
its adequacy and integrity.

	 Management assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk 
and control by identifying and assessing the risks faced by the Group, and in the design, operation and 
monitoring of suitable internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

	 The Audit Committee reviews the action plan implemented by the Company and makes relevant 
recommendations to the Board to manage risks. Further explanations on such processes are disclosed 
in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control on pages 32 to 34 of this Annual Report.

(d) 	 Succession planning

	 The Board views succession planning as an important factor for business continuity. It is acknowledged 
that with succession planning, the key job vacancies created due to retirement and resignation of key 
personnel would be filled quickly to ensure no business interruption. Succession planning includes the 
appointment of, training for, fixing the compensation of and where appropriate, replacement of senior 
management.

	 Management has in place, an informal structure and practice to ensure key roles within the Group 
are supported by competent and calibre second-in-line to reduce the impact of abrupt departure of 
key personnel to the minimum possibility. There is a formal organisation structure for the Group with 
delineated lines of authority, responsibility and accountability. It fosters and promotes the continual 
development of key employees and ensures that key positions maintain some measure of continuity, thus 
enabling the Group to achieve business objectives. The succession planning of the Group is enhanced by 
the policies and standard operating procedures as well as job descriptions established for key business 
processes within the Group.



22
www.tfp.com.my
TFP Solutions Berhad         2020 ANNUAL REPORT

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.1	 Board Responsibilities (Cont’d)

(e)	 Oversee the development and implement a shareholders communication policy for the Company

	 The Board communicates with shareholders at shareholders’ meetings and through the distribution of 
its annual reports. The Chairman normally chairs these meetings where he will use this platform as an 
opportunity to inform shareholders of the Company’s affairs including its performance. 

	 The Board strives to provide shareholders and investors with accurate, useful and timely information 
about the Company’s businesses and activities via timely release and updates on the Company’s 
corporate website of quarterly financial results, press releases and announcements (if any). In addition, 
shareholders and investors can make inquiries and get information about investor relations matters via 
the e-mail address available on the Company’s corporate website.

(f)	 Review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal control systems and management information 
systems

	 The Board and Management continuously take measures to strengthen the control environment and 
to improve our system of internal control. The Group has outsourced its internal audit function to a 
professional services firm to provide the assurance to the Audit Committee and the Board pertaining to 
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control systems of the Group.

	 Details pertaining to the Group’s internal control system and its effectiveness are set out in the Statement 
on Risk Management and Internal Control in this Annual Report.

	 The Board has delegated some of its duties and responsibility to various committees within the Board. 
Currently the Board has established four (4) Committees, namely the Audit Committee, Nomination 
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management Committee to assist the Board in the 
deliberation of issues within their respective functions and terms of reference. The Board receives regular 
reports on the respective Committees’ proceedings and deliberations. On matters reserved for the Board 
and where the Committees have no authority to make decisions, recommendations are highlighted in 
their respective reports for the Board’s deliberation and endorsement.

	 The Board meets at least once every quarter to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Additional 
meetings will be convened when the needs arise.

1.2	 Board Balance and Board Composition

	 The Board currently has total eight (8) board members of whom three (3) are Executive Directors, four (4) are 
Independent Non-Executive Directors and one (1) is Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman. In assisting the 
Board to fulfil its functions, various Board Committees have been set up. The Board through the Nomination 
Committee also consider woman candidates as part of its recruitment exercise. Out of eight (8) Directors, 
three (3) Directors are female.

	 TFP had complied with the requirement of the Rule 15.02 of the AMLR of Bursa Securities whereby the Company 
must have at least two (2) or one-third (1/3) of the Board, whichever is higher, who are Independent Directors. 
The profiles of the Directors are presented on pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report 2020.

	 The Company practises a division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the Executive 
Director. Their roles are separately and clearly defined to ensure a balance of power and authority, increase 
accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision.

	 The Chairman of the Board is primarily responsible for the orderly conduct and working of the Board while the 
Executive Director has an overall responsibility in the implementations of the Board’s policies and decisions 
as well as some of the Group’s day-to-day operations.
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.3	 Qualified and Competent Company Secretary

	 The Board is supported by qualified and experienced Company Secretaries who facilitate overall compliance 
with the AMLR of Bursa Securities and other relevant laws and regulations.

	 The Company Secretaries of the Company are qualified to act as company secretaries under Section 235 of 
the Companies Act, 2016. The Company Secretaries play  important roles in ensuring adherence to the Board’s 
policies and procedures from time to time.

	 The Company Secretaries provide support to the Board in carrying out their fiduciary duties and stewardship role 
in shaping the standard of corporate governance of the Group. Prior to the Board meetings, a Company Secretary 
will furnish a notice together with an agenda to the Directors to allow them to have adequate preparation time 
to ensure effectiveness at the proceedings of the meeting. The Company Secretaries will ensure the Board’s 
proceedings are followed regularly and reviewed and will also provide guidance to the Board on the Directors’ 
obligations arising from the rules and regulations including the MCCG and AMLR of Bursa Securities.

1.4	 Supply of Information

	 The agenda for each Board meeting and its relevant papers relating to the agenda items are forwarded to all 
Directors for their perusal prior to the Board meeting. Adequate notice is provided to allow the Directors to review 
the Board papers so that matters arising could be properly deliberated at the Board meetings and appropriate 
decisions could be made by the Board. Senior Management and appointed advisers of the Company may be 
required to attend the Board meetings as and when necessary.

2.1	 Demarcation of Responsibilities

(a)	 Board Charter

	 The Board had on 23 August 2018 approved the Board Charter and the same was uploaded to the 
Company’s website. The Board recognises the importance to set out the key values and principles of the 
Company, as policies and strategy development are based on these considerations. The Board Charter 
includes the division of responsibilities and powers between the Board and Management as well as the 
different Committees established by the Board. The Board Charter will be reviewed by the Board as and 
when required.

	 The details of the Board Charter are available for reference at the Company’s website at www.tfp.com.
my

(b)	 Code of Business Conduct

	 The Code of Business Conduct (“COC”) was posted on the Company’s website at www.tfp.com.my. The 
Board recognises the importance to promote and reinforce ethical standards throughout the Group. 
Moving forward, the Company will continuously support, promote and ensure compliance to the COC. 
The COC will not only apply to every employee of the Group, but also to every Director (Executive and 
Non-Executive). Furthermore, the Company will strive to ensure that our consultants, agents, partners, 
representatives and others performing works or services for or on behalf of the Company comply with 
the COC.

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)
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Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)

PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

2.1	 Demarcation of Responsibilities (Cont’d)

(c)	 Whistleblowing Policy

	 The Group has in place procedures and policies on whistleblowing. The Whistle-Blowing Policy of 
TFP Group is in place with the objective to facilitate the stakeholders of the Group to report genuine 
concerns or allegations to a senior or independent member of the management of the Group about 
alleged unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud within the Group, or improper business conduct 
affecting the Group. The policy is designed to provide protection to those who makes the allegation or 
reports the misconduct.

	 The details of the Whistleblowing Policy are available for reference at the Company’s website at www.
tfp.com.my.

(d)	 Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy

	 With the new Section 17A of the Malaysia Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009 on corporate liability 
for corruption which took effect on 1 June 2020, the Board had on 25 May 2021 adopted the Anti-Bribery 
and Anti-Corruption Policy.

	 The Board is continuously monitoring these procedures through designing and implementing relevant 
measures to detect fraud and safeguard from bribery and controls which are proportionate to the nature 
and size of the entity, as well as to provide training and communication of such policy and procedures 
to the management and all employees of the Group.  This policy and procedure is reviewed periodically 
and may be amended as it necessary to ensure its effectiveness.

	 The details of the Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy are available for reference at the Company’s 
website at www.tfp.com.my.

BOARDROOM COMPOSITION

3.1	 Tenure of Independent Directors

	 Currently, none of our Independent Directors had served the Company exceeding a cumulative term limit of 
nine (9) years.

3.2	 Nine-Years Policy for Independent Directors

	 Currently, the Company did not adopt a policy which limits the tenure of Independent Directors to nine (9) 
years.

	 Notwithstanding the recommendation of the MCCG, the Board is presently of the view that there is no necessity 
to fix a maximum tenure limit for directors as there are significant advantages to be gained from the long-serving 
directors who possess tremendous insight and knowledge of the Company’s businesses and affairs. The ability 
of a director to serve effectively as an Independent Director is very much dependent on his calibre, qualification, 
experience and personal qualities, particularly his integrity and objectivity, and has no real connection to his 
tenure as an Independent Director.

	 The Nomination Committee has carried out annual assessment on the performance of the Independent Directors 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and is satisfied with the effectiveness demonstrated.
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BOARDROOM COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

3.3	 Appointment of the Board and Senior Management

	 The Board of Directors comprise of a collective of individuals having an extensive complementary knowledge 
and competencies, as well as expertise to make active, informed and positive contributions to the management 
of the Group in terms of the business’ strategic direction and development. The appointment of the Board 
and its Senior Management are based on objective criteria, merit and with due regard for diversity in skills, 
experience, age, cultural background and gender.

	 The Nomination Committee will assess the suitability of the candidates before formally considering and 
recommending them for appointment to the Board or senior management. In proposing its recommendation, 
the Nomination Committee will consider and evaluate the candidates’ required skills, knowledge, expertise, 
competence, experience, characteristics and professionalism. For appointment of Independent Directors, 
considerations will also be given on whether the candidates meet the requirements for independence as defined 
in AMLR of Bursa Securities and time commitment expected from them to attend to matters of the Company in 
general, including attending meetings of the Board, Board Committees and Annual General Meeting (“AGM”).

3.4	 Gender Diversity

	 The Company has in place a proper Diversity Policy and is accessible on the Company’s website at www.tfp.
com.my. 

	 The Board has not set gender diversity target as of the reporting period. The Board is of the view that the 
appointment of Board member or management should be determined based on objective criteria, merit and 
with due regard for diversity in skills, experience and other qualities regardless of gender. 

	 Ms Kong Wei Peng and YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir have been appointed as the Executive 
Directors of the Company.

	 As of the date of this Statement, three (3) out of eight (8) of the Board members are female directors, which 
meet the MCCG’s recommendation.

3.5	 Nomination Committee

	 The present Nomination Committee is comprised of three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors of the 
Company as follows:-

(i) 	 Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan, Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)
(ii) 	 Wong Loke Lim, Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)
(iii)	 Yeong Siew Lee, Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)

	 The Nomination Committee monitors, reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding the 
Board’s performance as a whole as well as every individual Director and also the performance of the Board 
Committees. It also reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on the size and composition of the 
Board, the criteria for Board membership, the desirable qualifications, experience and standing of individuals 
appointed to the Board. The Committee also identifies potential candidates for appointment to the Board. 

	 The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the Company’s website at www.tfp.
com.my.

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

BOARDROOM COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

3.5	 Nomination Committee (Cont’d)

	 The Nomination Committee has undertaken the following activities during the financial year:-

(i)	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board, the appointment of new Directors;
(ii)	 Reviewed the effectiveness, composition and balance of the Board;
(iii)	 Conducted the assessment on the effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees;
(iv)	 Conducted the assessment on the contribution and performance of each individual Director;
(v)	 Reviewed and assessed the independence of the Independent Directors on an annual basis;
(vi)	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board, the re-election of the Directors who will be retiring at the AGM 

of the Company; and
(vii)	 Reviewed and confirmed the minutes of the Nomination Committee.

	 The Nomination Committee concluded that each Board member is competent and committed in discharging 
his/her duty and responsibility. All assessments and evaluations carried out by the Nomination Committee 
were properly documented.

3.6	 Appointment of Directors

	 The appointment of Directors is under the purview of the Nomination Committee, which is to assist the Board 
on all new Board and Board Committees’ appointments and to provide a formal and transparent procedure for 
such appointments including obtaining a commitment from the candidate that sufficient time will be devoted 
to carry out the responsibilities as a Director.

	 The Nomination Committee reviews candidates for appointment as Directors based on the following criteria:-

•	 qualifications;
•	 skills and competence;
•	 functional knowledge;
•	 experience;
•	 background and character;
•	 integrity and professionalism;
•	 time commitment; and
•	 in the case of candidates for the position of Independent Non-Executive Directors, whether the test 

of independence under AMLR is satisfied and evaluate the candidates’ ability to discharge such 
responsibilities, functions as expected from Independent Non-Executive Directors.

3.7	 Assessment of Board and Board Committee

	 The Nomination Committee has established a set of quantitative and qualitative performance criteria to evaluate 
the performance of each member of the Board, each Board Committee and to review the performance of the 
Board as a whole. The effectiveness of the Board is assessed in the areas of the Board’s roles and responsibilities 
and composition, attendance record, intensity of participation at meetings, quality of interventions and special 
contributions. Besides, the effectiveness of the Board Committees is assessed in terms of structure and 
processes, accountability and responsibility as well as the effectiveness of the Chairman of the respective 
Board Committees.

	 During the financial year 2020, the Nomination Committee has carried out evaluation on the performance of 
each member of the Board, each Board Committee and to review the performance of the Board as a whole. The 
Nomination Committee had assessed the overall effectiveness of the Board and the performance of individual 
directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and is satisfied with the effectiveness demonstrated. 
In the interval between Board meetings, for any matters requiring Board’s decisions, the Board’s approvals 
are obtained through circular resolutions. The resolutions passed by way of such circular resolutions are then 
noted at the next Board meeting. 
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BOARDROOM COMPOSITION (CONT’D)

3.7	 Assessment of Board and Board Committee

	 During the financial year, the Board held a total of three (3) meetings. The details of the attendance are as 
follows:-

Name of Directors 	 Attendance
	
Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee 	 2/3
Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman 	 3/3
Wong Loke Lim 	 3/3
Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan 	 3/3
Yeong Siew Lee 	 3/3
Kong Wei Peng	 –
(Appointed on 9 October 2020)
YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir	 –
(Appointed on 19 January 2021)
Datuk Chu Boon Tiong	 –
(Appointed on 2 March 2021)

	 Based on the above, all Directors have complied with the minimum 50% attendance requirement in respect of 
Board meetings as stipulated in AMLR. All the Directors have fulfilled the time commitment expected by the 
Board based on the attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings. The attendance of all the Directors 
at the Board meetings showed that the Board is committed to the Company towards fulfilling their roles and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

3.8	 Directors’ Training

	 The Board empowered the Directors of the Company to determine their own training requirements as they 
consider necessary to enhance their knowledge as well as understanding of the Group’s business and 
operations. The training programmes attended by the Directors during the financial year are as follows:-.

Director Title Date
Wong Loke Lim 1.	 The Future of Financial Services in the New Covid-19 

World (City and Financial Global, London)
2.	 Angel Investing (by Malaysian Business Angel 

Network)                                                                               

21 September 2020 and
22 September 2020
2 December 2020 to
4 December 2020

Yeong Siew Lee 1.	 Tax Considerations in Dealing with The Impact of 
Covid-19 Ensuring Business Continuity

2.	 Technical Update on IFRS (MFRS) 2020
3.	 2021 Budget Seminar

24 April 2020

14 December 2020
15 December 2020

		
	 Saved as disclosed above, other Directors of the Company were not able to select any suitable training 

programmes to attend during the financial year due to overseas travelling commitment and their busy work 
schedule. However, they have constantly been updated with relevant reading materials and technical updates, 
which will enhance their knowledge and equip them with the necessary skills to effectively discharge their 
duties as Directors of the Company. 

	 In addition, during the financial year under review, the Directors would be updated on recent developments 
in the areas of statutory and regulatory requirements from the briefing by the External Auditors, the Internal 
Auditors and the Company Secretaries during the Committee and/or Board meetings and suitable training and 
education programmes were identified for their participation from time to time.

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A : BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

REMUNERATION

The Board acknowledges the level and composition of remuneration of directors and senior management take into 
account the Company’s desire to attract and retain the right talent in the Board and senior management to drive the 
Company’s long-term objectives.

In order to achieve the aim, the Board has established Remuneration Committee and developed the remuneration 
policy to assist the Board in discharging its duties and responsibilities in the matters relating to the remuneration 
of the Board and senior management.

4.1	 Remuneration Policy

	 The Board has in place policies and procedures to determine the remuneration of directors and take into 
consideration the demands, complexity and performance of the Company as well as skills and experience 
requirements.

	 The Board has a Remuneration Committee formed to determine the remuneration of Executive Directors and 
Key Senior Management reflecting the level of responsibility, experience and commitment. The fees paid to 
Non-Executive Directors are the responsibilities of the entire Board. No director is involved in determining his 
own remuneration.

	 The detailed breakdown of the Directors Fees and other benefits paid (both the Company and the Group) for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:- 

		  Company	 Group
				    Salaries		  Salaries
				    and other		  and other
			   Fees	 emoluments	 Fees	 emoluments
Directors		  (RM)	 (RM)	 (RM)	 (RM)

Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman	 35,000	 1,200	 35,000	 592,560
Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee	 120,000	 1,200	 120,000	 1,200
Wong Loke Lim		  30,000	 1,200	 30,000	 1,200
Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan		  30,000	 1,200	 30,000	 1,200
Yeong Siew Lee		  30,000	 1,200	 30,000	 1,200
Kong Wei Peng 
 (Appointed on 9 October 2020)	 –	 –	 –	 –
YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti
 Munir (Appointed on 19 January 2021)	 –	 –	 –	 –
Datuk Chu Boon Tiong
 (Appointed on 2 March 2021)		 –	 –	 –	 –

Total	 		  245,000	 6,000	 245,000	 597,360

4.2	 Remuneration Committee

	 The Remuneration Committee was established on 11 January 2008 and is responsible to recommend the 
remuneration packages for Executive Directors taking into consideration the individual performance, seniority, 
experience and scope of responsibility that is sufficient to attract and retain the Directors needed to run the 
Company successfully. The present members of the Remuneration Committee are:-

(i)	 Wong Loke Lim, Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)
(ii)	 Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan, Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)
(iii)	 Yeong Siew Lee, Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)

	 The determination of remuneration packages of Executive Directors should be a matter for the Board as a 
whole. The individuals concerned should abstain from discussing their own remuneration.
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PRINCIPLE B – EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

AUDIT COMMITTEE

5.1	 Composition of Audit Committee

	 The Board has established the Audit Committee on 28 December 2007. 

	 Our Audit Committee comprises of all Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee is not the Chairman of the Board. At least once per year, meetings are held without the presence 
of the management of the Company to ensure that the external auditors can freely discuss and express their 
opinions on any matter to the Audit Committee, and the Audit Committee can be sufficiently assured that the 
management has fully provided all relevant information and responded to all queries from the external auditors. 
The Audit Committee is fully informed about significant matters related to the Company’s audit and its financial 
statements. The Audit Committee also review the internal audit programme and invited the internal auditors 
to the meeting for discussion on the internal audit findings. Besides that, such discussion also served as an 
avenue for the Audit Committee to appropriately communicate its insights, views and concerns about relevant 
transactions and events to the internal and external auditors.

5.2	 Cooling Off Period for Appointment of Former Key Audit Partner

	 The Board took note on Practice 8.2 of the MCCG to have a policy that requires a former key audit partner to 
observe a cooling-off period of at least two years before being appointed as a member of the Audit Committee 
and would consider adopting such recommendation in due course.  None of the Board members are former 
key audit partners of the Group.

5.3	 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

	 The Board has established a transparent relationship with the external auditors through the Audit Committee, 
which has been accorded the authority to communicate directly with the external auditors. The Audit Committee 
was satisfied with the external auditors’ technical competency and audit independence during the financial 
year under review. The external auditors in turn are able to highlight matters which require the attention of the 
Board through the reports to the Audit Committee in terms of compliance with the accounting standards and 
other related regulatory requirements.

	 The Audit Committee met with the external auditors without the presence of the Executive Board Members 
and Management at least once during the year regarding relevant audit and accounting issues. The Audit 
Committee undertakes an annual assessment of the suitability and independence of the external auditors. 
The Audit Committee was satisfied with the external auditors’ technical competences and audit independence 
during the financial year under review. In addition, the external auditors are invited to attend the AGM of the 
Company and are available to answer shareholders’ questions on the conduct of the statutory audit and the 
preparation and contents of their audit report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

6.1	 Establishment of Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

	 The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of risk management and 
internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. However, the Board recognises 
that such system is structured to manage rather than eliminate the possibility of encountering risk of failure 
to achieve corporate objectives.

	 The Audit Committee is assigned by the Board with the duty to review the adequacy and effectiveness of 
control procedures at a regular basis and report to the Board on major findings for deliberation (if any). 

	 The Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control is set out on pages 32 to 34 of the Annual Report 
providing an overview of the state of the risk management and internal controls within the Group.

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
(Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE B – EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

6.2	 Internal Audit Function

	 The Group has outsourced its internal audit function to an independent professional firm, SF Chang Corporate 
Services Sdn Bhd.

PRINCIPLE C – INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

There is continuous communication between the Company and stakeholders to facilitate mutual understanding of 
each other’s objectives and expectations. Stakeholders are able to make informed decisions with respect to the 
business of the Company, its policies on governance, the environment and social responsibility.

7.1	 Effective, Transparent and Regular Communication

	 The Company maintains various methods of dissemination of information important to shareholders, 
stakeholders and the public at large through timely announcement of events, quarterly announcement of 
financial results and product information on the Company’s website at http://www.tfp.com.my.

	 The Company’s AGM also provides an effective means of face-to-face communication with the shareholders 
where they are encouraged to participate in the open question and answering session during the AGM.

CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEEETINGS

General meetings are the important and effective platforms for directors and senior management to communicate 
with the shareholders. Shareholders are able to participate, engage the Board and senior management effectively 
and make informed voting decisions at general meetings.

8.1	 Notice of AGM

	 The Company’s General Meetings remain the primary channel of communication with the Company’s 
shareholders. All Board members, senior management team as well as the Company’s external auditors are 
available to respond to shareholders’ relevant questions raised at the meeting.

	 This would also enable the shareholders to properly consider the resolutions that will be discussed and decided 
at the meeting.

8.2	 Attendance of the Chair of the Board Committees at the AGM

	 The Board took note that the presence of all directors will provide an opportunity for shareholders to effectively 
engage each director. Besides, having the chair of the Board subcommittees present will facilitate these 
conversations and allow shareholders to raise questions and concerns directly to those responsible.

	 Accordingly, barring unforeseen circumstances, all directors as well as the Chairman of respective Board 
Committees (i.e. Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management 
Committee) will be present at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to enable the shareholders to raise 
questions and concerns directly to those responsible.
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CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEEETINGS (CONT’D)

8.3	 Corporate Disclosure Policy

	 The Board is mindful on the importance of maintaining proper corporate disclosure procedures with the aim 
to provide shareholders and investors with comprehensive, accurate and quality information on a timely basis. 
The Board exercises close monitoring of all price sensitive information potentially required to be released 
to Bursa Securities and makes material announcements to Bursa Securities in a timely manner as required. 
In line with best practices, the Board strives to disclose price sensitive information to the public as soon as 
practicable through Bursa Securities and the Group’s website.

8.4	 Leverage on Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information

	 The Company’s corporate website provides all relevant information on the Company and is accessible by the 
public. The Company’s corporate website is accessible at http://www.tfp.com.my.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The Board has deliberated, reviewed and approved this Corporate Governance Overview Statement. The Board 
considered that the Corporate Governance Overview Statement provides the information necessary to enable 
shareholders of the Company to evaluate how the principles and best practices as set out in the MCCG have been 
complied with. The Board shall remain committed in attaining the highest possible standards through the continuous 
adoption of the principles and best practices of the MCCG and all other applicable laws and regulations.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 25 May 2021.

Corporate Governance Overview Statement
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Pursuant to Rule 15.26 of ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”), the Board of Directors is required to make a statement in the annual report on the state of the risk 
management and internal control of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. In this respect, the 
Board of TFP Solutions Berhad is pleased to present the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control which was prepared pursuant to the AMLR and after taking into consideration of the guidelines as guided 
by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors (“Board”) acknowledges its responsibility and reaffirms its commitment in recognising the 
importance of an effective system of internal control and risk management practices to enhance good corporate 
governance.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management, which includes 
the establishment of an appropriate control environment and framework as well as reviewing its adequacy and 
integrity. Because of the limitations that are inherent in any system of internal control, this system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives. Accordingly, it could only provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system of internal control and 
risk management covers, inter alia, financial, organisational, operational and compliance controls.

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls and risk management in place for the year under review 
and up to the date of issuance of the financial statements is sound and sufficient to safeguard the shareholders’ 
investment, the interests of customers, regulators and employees, and the Group’s assets.

Management assists the Board in the implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by 
identifying and assessing the risks faced, and in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls 
to mitigate and control these risks.

KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has a number of internal controls in place. The controls include the following:-

• 	 A management structure with defined lines of responsibilities and appropriate levels of delegations and 
authority.

• 	 Monthly senior management meetings are held to monitor key operational and strategic business development 
together with financial performance of the Group.

• 	 Policies and procedures for key business and financial processes have been reviewed by the Directors to 
promote efficiency and accountability.

• 	 Monitoring by Management of the monthly results as against the budget and in the event of major variances, 
to take appropriate remedial action.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is satisfied that for the financial year under review, there were no material losses, deficiencies or errors 
arising from any inadequacy or failure of the Group’s system of internal control that would require disclosure in the 
Group’s Annual Report.

Management will continue to take measures to strengthen the control environment. In our efforts to improve our 
system of internal control, the Group, since financial year 2008, outsourced its internal audit function to a professional 
services firm to provide the Audit Committee and the Board with the assurance they require pertaining to the adequacy 
and effectiveness of internal control systems. The costs incurred for the internal audit function in respect of the 
financial year 2020 was RM22,281.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has a structured risk management approach, which includes a risk management assessment process 
to identify significant risks and the mitigating measures thereof. The risk management of the Group is undertaken 
by Management of the Group. The process of risk assessment is also addressed by the compilation of risk profiles 
of each company in the Group. 

The risk action plans and internal controls that Management has taken and/or is taking are documented in the 
minutes of Management meetings. The Group’s Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ERM”) was setup in year 
2014 and the ERM Charter was approved by the Board on 25 August 2014.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Group’s ERM is aimed at achieving an appropriate balance between realising opportunities for gains while 
minimising losses to the Group. The risk management framework serves to identify and provide guidance to Directors, 
Senior Management, functional line Management and staff in managing the risk.

The risk management process is to identify risks faced by the Group proactively, particularly in major proposed 
transactions and new business opportunities, changes in nature of activities and/or operating environment, or 
venturing into new operating environment which may entail different risks, and assess the appropriate risk response 
strategies and controls.

Day-to-day risk management of operations are delegated to key management staff and heads of department to 
manage identified risks within defined parameters. Periodical management and operation meetings attended by 
heads of department and key management staff are held to discuss key operational issues, business performance 
matters and appropriate risks mitigation controls to ensure risks are regularly monitored and reported. The practices 
and initiatives by Management serve as an ongoing process adopted by the Group.

This mechanism is overseen by the Audit Committee, which reviews the results of this process including mitigating 
measures implemented by Management to address the key risks as identified. Significant risks are communicated 
to the Board at the scheduled Board meetings of the Audit Committee.

ASSURANCE FROM MANAGEMENT

In view of the Group’s current business activities, the Board is of the view that the above monitoring and reporting 
processes which have been put in place, provide an adequate form of check and balance. Nevertheless, the Board 
recognises that the system must continuously evolve and improve to support the Group’s business activities to 
meet the Group’s objectives. The Board recognises that the systems of internal control and risk management must 
continuously improve in line with the growth of the Group and evolving business environment. Therefore, the Board 
is committed to put in place adequate plans, where necessary, to continuously strengthen the Group’s system of 
internal control and risk management to meet the Group’s objectives.

The Board has received assurance from the Group Managing Director, Group Deputy Chief Executive Officer and 
Group Accountant that the Company’s risk management and internal control system are operating adequately and 
effectively, in all material aspects, based on the risk management model and internal control system of the Group, 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, and up to 25 May 2021, being the date of this statement.
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REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Pursuant to Rule 15.23 of AMLR, the External Auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control. Their review was performed in accordance with Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3 Guidance 
for Auditors on Engagement to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control included in the 
Annual Report issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Based on their review, the External Auditors have 
reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the Statement is 
inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted by the Board in reviewing the adequacy and integrity 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control system.

CONCLUSION

The Board is of the opinion that based on the current level of activities, the Group’s systems of internal control and 
risk management is adequate and accords with guidance provided by the Internal Control Guidance adopted by 
Bursa Securities. 

This statement was approved by the Board on 25 May 2021.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT

1. 	 INTRODUCTION

	 The Audit Committee was established on 28 December 2007 and currently comprises of the following Committee 
members:

Chairman	 : 	Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan, Independent Non-Executive Director
	
Members	 : 	Wong Loke Lim, Independent Non-Executive Director
			   Yeong Siew Lee, Independent Non-Executive Director

2. 	 NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DETAILS OF ATTENDANCE

	 During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held a total of two (2) meetings. The 
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is set out as below:-

Members				    No. of
					     meetings	 % of
					     attended	 attendance

1. Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan				    2/2	 100%
2. Wong Loke Lim				    2/2	 100%
3. Yeong Siew Lee				    2/2	 100%

	 All members of the Audit Committee have a working familiarity with finance and accounting practices. Mr 
Wong is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

3. 	 SUMMARY OF WORKS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

	 The works of the Audit Committee were primarily in accordance with its duties, as set out in its terms of 
reference. The main works undertaken by the Audit Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 
2020 were as follows:

I. 	 Review of the financial performance and reporting

a. 	 Reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial results of the Company and the Group prior to the 
recommendation to the Board for approval and announcement to Bursa Securities.

b. 	 Reviewed the draft audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 
prior to the submission to the Board for approval.

II.	 Oversight of External Auditors

a. 	 Updated by the External Auditors on changes to the relevant guidelines on the regulatory and 
statutory requirements.

b. 	 Met once with the External Auditors without the presence of Executive Board and Management.
c. 	 Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval of the audit fees payable to the External 

Auditors in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
d. 	 Reviewed and recommended the re-appointment of Messrs. Kreston John & Gan as External 

Auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.
e. 	 Reviewed and assessed the suitability and independence of the External Auditors.
f. 	 Discussed with the External Auditors in relation to audit issues, audit reports, assistance provided 

by Management, management letter (if any) and audit plan.
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3. 	 SUMMARY OF WORKS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)

III.	 Oversight of Internal Auditors and Internal Audit Functions

a. 	 Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and Audit Committee Report 
for inclusion in the Annual Report 2020 prior to the submission to the Board for approval.

b. 	 Met with the Internal Auditors bi-yearly.
c. 	 Discussed the internal audit reports prepared by the Internal Auditors and ensured that appropriate 

corrective actions are taken by Management.
d. 	 Reviewed the adequacy and performance of the internal audit function and its comprehensive 

coverage of the Group’s activities.
e. 	 Reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the 

outsourced Internal Auditors and that they have the necessary authority to carry out their work.

IV.	 Review of the Related Party Transactions

	 Reviewed the Related Party Transactions entered into by the Company and the Group on a 	 quarterly 
basis and concluded that there was no conflict of situation that might arise within the Company and 
the Group for the applicable period; and

	 Reviewed the Circular to Shareholders for the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature prior to the submission to the Board for 
approval.

V. 	 Oversight of Internal Control Matters

a. 	 Reviewed and confirmed the minutes of the Audit Committee meetings.
b. 	 Reviewed the Audit Committee Report and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control 

for the Annual Report 2020.

VI.	 Others Activities

a. 	 Monitored the accounts receivable and request explanations from Management on overdue 
accounts status.

b. 	 Reported to the Board on any significant issues and concerns.

4. 	 TERMS OF REFERENCE

	 The full terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available at the Company’s website at http://www.tfp.
com.my. 

5. 	 INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

	 The Audit Committee is supported by an independent and adequately resourced internal audit function which 
has been outsourced to a professional services firm, Messrs. SF Chang Corporate Services Sdn Bhd, which 
was appointed on 5 September 2017. The outsourced Internal Auditors report to the Audit Committee and 
provide the Board with a reasonable assurance of adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the 
internal audit function. 

	 The main role of the internal audit function is to provide the Board, through the Audit Committee, assurance 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the designated entities of the Group. 

	 After review, the Audit Committee noted that the internal audit function of the Company is independent and 
the Internal Auditors have performed with impartiality, proficiency and due professional care.
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5. 	 INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (CONT’D)

	 The Internal Auditors follow the audit guideline of the Malaysian Auditing Standards as a basis for assessing 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk and control processes. This approach is in compliance 
with AMLR on the issuance of Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control.

	 During the financial year 2020, the Internal Auditors had carried out the audit activities for the following two 
(2) areas in accordance with their Audit Planning which was approved by the Audit Committee: -

1.	 Material contracts
2.	 Payment Function

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements prepared for each financial year to give a 
true and accurate view of the state of the Group and the Company of the results and cash flows of the Group and 
the Company for the financial year then ended.

In ensuring the preparation of these financial statements, the Directors have observed the following criteria:

I.	 Overseeing the overall conduct of the Company’s business and that of the Group;
II.		 Identifying principal risks and ensuring that an appropriate system of internal control exists to manage these 

risks;
III.	 Reviewing the adequacy and integrity of Internal Control System and Management Information System in the 

Company and within the Group;
IV.	 Adopting suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
V.	 Making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
VI.	 Ensuring compliance with application Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting and other records which are closed with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and ensuring that the financial statements comply with the 
Listing Requirements the provisions of the Companies Act, 2016 and applicable Approved Accounting Standards in 
Malaysia.  The Directors are also responsible for taking such reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and to minimise fraud and others irregularities.

The Directors are satisfied that in preparing financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 
December 2020, the Group has used appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently and supported 
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.  The Directors also consider that all applicable approved 
accounting standards have been complied with and further confirm that the financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis.

Audit Committee Report
(Cont’d)
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE
INFORMATION

1. 	 UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

(a)	 Disposal of 100% Equity Interest in Tech3 Solutions Sdn Bhd

	 On 11 March 2019, the Company had announced the disposal of 100% equity interest in Tech3 Solutions 
Sdn Bhd (“Tech3”), a wholly-owed subsidiary company of TFP, comprising 5,000,000 ordinary shares to 
Cloud Dynamic Sdn Bhd for a disposal consideration of RM7,904,000 to be satisfied entirely via cash 
(“Disposal of Tech3”). On 8 July 2019, the Company announced that all conditions precedent set out 
in the Share Sale Agreement dated 11 March 2019 have been fulfilled and Tech3 has ceased to be a 
wholly-owned subsidiary company of TFP Solutions Berhad.  The Company had announced extension 
of the timeframe for the utilisation of the remaining unutilised funds allocated for working capital for 
BMS segment for an additional six months, from within 12 months to 18 months from completion on 
24 August 2020.

	 As at 31 December 2020, the proceeds raise from the said disposal has been fully utilised as follows:

Proposed
Utilisation

Timeframe
utilisation

Actual
Utilisation

Balance
unutilised

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Working capital for 
BMS segment 3,636 Within 18 months 

from completion 3,636 –

Funding for new 
business plans 4,068 Within 12 months 

from completion 4,068 –

Estimated
expenses 200 Upon completion 200 –

Total 7,904 7,904 –

(b)	 Private Placement of up to 62,020,100 new ordinary shares of TFP ("TFP shares"), representing 
approximately 30% of the existing total number of issued shares in TFP (excluding 1,279,000 treasury 
shares) to Third Party Investors

	 On 3 February 2020, the Company proposed to undertake the private placement up to 62,020,100 new 
ordinary shares of the Company to third party investor(s).  

	 The private placements were completed as follows:

(i)	 The first tranche was completed on 27 August 2020 following the listing and quotation of  
20,673,000 placement shares at RM0.30 placement shares on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities, 
raising RM6,201,900 for the Company, and

(ii)	 The second tranche was completed on 20 April 2021 following the listing and quotation of 
20,673,000 placement shares at RM0.161 placement shares on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities, 
raising RM3,328,353 for the Company.

	 The summary of the utilisation of proceeds as at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Proposed
Utilisation

Timeframe
utilisation

Actual
Utilisation

Balance
unutilised

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Working capital I 4,815 Within 24 months 2,182 2,633
Working capital II 4,602 Within 15 months – 4,602
Estimated
expenses 113 Immediately 113 –

Total 9,530 2,295 7,235
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1. 	 UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS (CONT’D)

(c)	 Renounceable Rights Issue with Warrants 

	 On 30 September 2020, the Company completed the renounceable Rights Issue of 227,406,945 Rights 
Shares together with 227,406,945 Warrants at an issue price of RM0.03 on the basis of 1 Right Share 
and 1 Warrant for every 1 existing of TFP Share held. The Rights Shares with Warrants were listed and 
quoted on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities on 30 September 2020.

	 The summary of the utilisation of proceeds as at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Proposed
Utilisation

Timeframe
utilisation

Actual
Utilisation

Balance
unutilised

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Working capital 2,643 Within 24 months – 2,643
Exploring other ICT 
and Fintech related 
businesses

3,759
Within 24 months 

– 3,759

Expenses in relation 
to the Rights Issue  420 Immediately 420 –

Total 6,822 420 6,402

2. 	 AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES

	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, Messrs. Kreston John & Gan, the External Auditors have 
rendered audit and non-audit services to the Company and the Group. The breakdown of fees paid were listed 
as below for information:-

					     Company	 Group
					     (RM)	 (RM)

Audit services rendered
- Statutory Audit				    26,400	                93,200

Non-audit services rendered
- Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Statement- 		  6,000	 6,000

Total					     32,400	 99,200

3. 	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS INVOLVING DIRECTOR’S, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS’ 
INTERESTS

	 There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries, involving the Director’s, 
Chief Executive’s and Major Shareholders’ interests during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Additional Compliance Information
(Cont’d)
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Additional Compliance Information
(Cont’d)

4. 	 RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

	 The Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature incurred during the financial year 
are set out below:-

Transacting parties Nature of transactions Relationship of
Related Party

Aggregate value 
made during the 

financial year ended 
31 December 2020

 (RM)
LMS Technology 
Distributions Sdn Bhd 
(“LMS”) and Comm Zed 
Sdn Bhd (“CommZed”)	

Expertise to deploy 
network security project 
related to Telekom 
Malaysia Berhad similar 
to the previous Hewlett- 
Packard Arcsight project 
in 2015, whereby LMS 
has the resources, skill 
set and experience to 
provide this expertise

Dato’ Hussian @ 
Rizal Bin A. Rahman 
is the Managing 
Director of TFP and 
he is also a major 
shareholder of TFP via 
his shareholdings in 
Rapportrans. 

He is also a Director 
and deemed major 
shareholder of LMS and 
Rapportrans, which in 
turn has a shareholding 
of 24.60% in TFP. 

Rapportrans, is a Major 
Shareholder of TFP and 
also a major shareholder 
of LMS.

– *

Comm Zed Sdn Bhd 
(“CommZed”) and LMS 
Technology Distributions 
Sdn Bhd (“LMS”)

Implementation services 
as well as project 
management for OSS 
solution by CommZed 
to LMS, whereby 
CommZed has the 
resources, skill set and 
experience to provide 
this OSS services locally

Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal 
Bin A. Rahman is the 
Managing Director of 
TFP and he also a major 
shareholder of TFP via 
his shareholdings of 
24.60% in TFP. 

He is also a Director 
and deemed major 
shareholder of LMS and 
Rapportrans, which in 
turn has a shareholding 
of 24.60% in TFP.

Rapportrans, is a Major 
Shareholder of TFP and 
also a major shareholder 
of LMS.

808,034
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4. 	 RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (CONT’D)

	 The Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature incurred during the financial year 
are set out below (Cont’d):-

Transacting parties Nature of transactions Relationship of
Related Party

Aggregate value 
made during the 

financial year ended 
31 December 2020

 (RM)
MobilityOne Sdn 
Bhd (“M1”) and MBP 
Solutions Sdn Bhd 
(“MBP”)	

MBP shall act as the 
Agency and Reseller 
for the products and 
services of M1, which 
includes Mobile Phone 
Prepaid Airtime Reload, 
Bill Payment and other 
Products and Services 
such as e-wallet.

Dato’ Hussian @ 
Rizal Bin A. Rahman 
is Director of M1 and 
he is shareholder of 
M1’s holding company, 
MobilityOne Limited via 
his direct shareholdings 
of 124,679,790 ordinary 
shares in MobilityOne 
Limited. He is also 
the Managing Director 
in TFP and he is a 
major shareholder of 
Rapportrans, which in 
turn has a shareholdings 
of 24.60% in TFP.

Rapportrans is a major 
shareholder of TFP.

12,333,419

Dato’ Hussian @ 
Rizal Bin A. Rahman 
(Landlord)

Rental expense being 
rental of office	

Dato’ Hussian @ 
Rizal Bin A. Rahman 
is the Managing 
Director of TFP and 
he is also a major 
shareholder of TFP 
via his shareholdings 
In Rapportrans which 
in turn holds 24.60% 
shareholdings in TFP.

He is also the owner of 
the office.

230,400

* 	 There were no value of transaction during the period as the expected projects did not materialise.

Additional Compliance Information
(Cont’d)
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Additional Compliance Information
(Cont’d)

5. 	 SHARE BUY-BACK

	 The following are the share buy-back transactions as at 31 December 2020. The purchase price of shares is 
the average price for all shares purchased in the day and the total purchase price includes incidental costs. 
As disclosed in Note 13 to the Audited Financial Statements of this Annual Report, all shares bought back 
previously have been maintained as treasury shares and there has been no resale of the Company’s treasury 
shares nor have there been any shares cancelled during the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Date No. of SBB
No. of SBB
proposed to
be cancelled

Min Price
(RM)

Max Price
(RM)

Total
Consideration

(RM)
24.08.2016 140,000 0 0.125 0.125 17,634.87
20.09.2016 190,000 0 0.135 0.135 25,847.29
23.09.2016 10,000 0 0.135 0.135 1,375.78
28.09.2016 330,000 0 0.145 0.145 48,217.55
30.09.2016 49,000 0 0.140 0.140 6,912.82
04.10.2016 110,000 0 0.140 0.140 15,518.84
05.10.2016 50,000 0 0.140 0.140 7,053.75
06.10.2016 400,000 0 0.140 0.140 56,429.97

Total 1,279,000    178,990.87
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally an investment holding company and engaged in the business of providing shared 
services to companies in the Group for which it charges management fees. The principal activities of the subsidiary 
companies are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature 
of these activities during the financial year.

RESULTS
		
				    Group	 Company
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Loss for the financial year after taxation attributable to : -				 
Owners of the Company				    3,624	 1,069
Non-controlling interests				    49	 –

				    3,673	 1,069

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid, declared or proposed since the end of the previous financial year. The directors do not 
recommend any dividend payment in respect of the current financial year. 

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those as 
disclosed in the financial statements. 

TREASURY SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company held as treasury shares a total of 1,279,000 out of its 459,393,690 issued 
and fully paid-up ordinary shares. The treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of RM178,991. Relevant details 
on the treasury shares are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

WARRANTS 2020/2025

The Warrants 2020/2025 were constituted by the Deed Poll dated 13 August 2020.

The salient features of the warrants are : -

(i)	 The warrants are offered at no cost to the entitled shareholders of the Company in the financial year ended 
31 December 2020;

(ii)	 One (1) warrant for every one (1) existing ordinary shares;

(iii)	 The warrants may be exercised at any time within the exercise period expiring on 28 August 2025. Warrants 
not exercised during the exercise period will thereafter lapse and become null and void;
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Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)

WARRANTS 2020/2025  (CONT’D)

The salient features of the warrants are (Cont’d) : -

(iv)	 Subject to the provision of the Deed Poll, each warrant will entitle its registered holder to subscribe for one (1) 
new ordinary share in the Company at the exercise price at any time during the exercise period;

(v)	 The Exercise Price of the warrant is RM0.03 each. The exercise price and the number of outstanding warrants 
shall however be subject to the adjustment in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Deed Poll during 
the exercise period;

(vi)	 The warrants are tradable in board lots of 100 units carrying rights to subscribe for 100 new ordinary shares 
of the Company at any time during the exercise period or such other number of units as maybe prescribed by 
Bursa Securities;

(vii)	 The warrants holders are not entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and /or other distributions, the 
entitlement date of which is prior to the date of issuance and allotment of the new ordinary shares of the 
Company upon the exercise of the warrants. The warrants holders are not entitled to any voting rights or 
participation in any form of distribution and /or offer of securities in the Company until and unless such 
warrants holders exercise their warrants into new ordinary shares of the Company;

(viii)	 The registered holders of the warrants are required to lodge an exercise form, as set out in the Deed Poll, with 
the Company’s registrar, duly completed, signed and stamped together with payment of the exercise price for 
the new ordinary shares of the Company subscribed for by banker’s draft or cashier’s order or money order or 
postal order in Ringgit Malaysia drawn on a bank or post office operating in Malaysia; and

(ix)	 Where a resolution has been passed for a members’ voluntary winding-up of the Company, or where there 
is a compromise or arrangement, whether or not for the purpose of or in connection with a scheme for the 
reconstruction of the Company or the amalgamation of the Company with one (1) or more companies, then: -

a)	 for the purposes of such winding-up, compromise or arrangement (other than a consolidation, 
amalgamation or merger in which the Company is the continuing corporation) to which the warrant 
holder (or some person designated by them for such purpose by special resolution) shall be a party, the 
terms of such winding-up, compromise and arrangement shall be binding on all the warrant holders; and

b)	 in any other case, every warrant holder shall be entitled upon and subject to the conditions at any time 
within six (6) weeks after the passing of such resolution for a members’ voluntary winding-up of the 
Company or the granting of the court order approving the compromise or arrangement (as the case may 
be), to exercise their warrants by submitting the exercise form duly completed authorizing the debiting 
of his warrants together with payment of the relevant exercise price to elect to be treated as if he had 
immediately prior to the commencement of such winding-up exercised the exercise rights to the extent 
specified in the exercise form(s) and had on such date been the holder of the new ordinary shares to 
which he would have become entitled pursuant to such exercise and the liquidator of the Company shall 
give effect to such election accordingly.

As at 31 December 2020, the total outstanding warrants are 224,106,145, and of which 3,300,800 have been exercised 
during the financial year.

Details of warrants issued to directors are disclosed in the section on directors’ interest in this report.
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BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and adequate allowance 
had been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amount written 
off for bad debts, or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts, in the Group or in the Company inadequate to 
any substantial extent.

CURRENT ASSETS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps 
to ascertain whether any current assets, other than debts, were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business 
their value as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company and to the extent so ascertained 
were written down to an amount that they might be expected to realise.
	
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the values attributed 
to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence to 
the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist : -

i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person, or

ii)		 any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial 
year.

No contingent liability or other liability of the Group or of the Company has become enforceable, or is likely to 
become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of 
the directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet its obligations as 
and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this report 
or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, that would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)
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Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE

The results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year were not, in the opinion of the 
directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect substantially the results of 
the operations of the Group or of the Company for the current financial year.

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the issued and paid-up ordinary share capital of the Company was increase by the following : - 

i.	 20,673,000 new ordinary shares at RM0.30 per ordinary share via a private placement to eligible investors for 
a total cash consideration of RM6,201,900 for working capital purposes;

ii.	 227,406,945 new ordinary shares at RM0.03 per ordinary share via a rights issue to eligible investors for a total 
cash consideration of RM6,822,208 for working capital purposes; and 

iii.	 3,300,800 new ordinary shares at RM0.03 per ordinary share via a exercise of warrant to eligible investors for 
a total cash consideration of RM99,024 for working capital purposes.

The Company did not issue any debenture during the financial year.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The directors of the Company in office at any time during the financial year and since the end of the financial year are : -

Datuk  Seri  Syed  Ali  Bin  Abbas  Alhabshee – Chairman 
Dato’  Hussian  @  Rizal  Bin  A.  Rahman
Noor  Shahwan  Bin  Saffwan 
Wong  Loke  Lim  
Yeong  Siew  Lee
Kong  Wei  Peng – appointed on 9/10/2020
YM  Puteri  Munawarah  Syammiyah  Binti  Munir – appointed on 19/1/2021
Datuk  Chu  Boon  Tiong – appointed on 2/3/2021

The directors who hold office in the subsidiary companies (excluding directors who are also directors of the Company) 
during the financial year until the date of this report are : -

Ahmad  Shahrir  Bin  Mohd  Salleh – appointed on 13/2/2020
Muhammad  Nabil  Redzwan  Bin  Hussian – appointed on 2/3/2020
Foong  Siang  Ming – resigned on 2/3/2020
Abdul  Latib  Bin  Tokimin – resigned on 13/7/2020
Derrick  Chia  Kah  Wai – resigned on 13/7/2020
Soh  Yu  Chuang  @  Soh  Chuang  Khim – resigned on 15/11/2020
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The interests and deemed interest in the ordinary shares of the Company of those who are directors at year 
end (including the interests of the spouses or children of the directors) as recorded in the Register of Directors’ 
Shareholdings are as follows : -

	 Number of ordinary shares
		  As at			   As at
		  1/1/2020	 Bought	 Sold	 31/12/2020

Indirect interests
Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman *	 62,339,895	 62,339,895	 –	 124,679,790
Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee **	 39,000,000	 45,694,594	 –	 84,694,594

	 Number of warrants 2020/2025
		  As at			   As at
		  1/1/2020	 Granted	 Expired	 31/12/2020

Indirect interest				  
Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman *	 –	 62,339,895	 –	 62,339,895
Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee **	 –	 45,694,594	 –	 45,694,594

*	 Deemed interested by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd. and Kenanga Nominees 
(Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.

**	 Deemed interested by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd.

By virtue of Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016, Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman and Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin 
Abbas Alhabshee are deemed to have interests in shares of the subsidiary companies during the financial year to 
the extent that TFP Solutions Berhad has an interest.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The amounts of the remuneration of the directors or past directors of the Company comprising remunerations 
received or receivable from the Company or any of its subsidiary companies during the financial year are disclosed 
in Note 35 to the financial statements.

None of the directors or past directors of the Company have received any other benefits otherwise than in cash from 
the Company or any of its subsidiary companies during the financial year.

No payment has been paid to or payable to any third party in respect of the services provided to the Company or any 
of its subsidiary companies by the directors or past directors of the Company during the financial year.

INDEMNIFYING DIRECTORS, OFFICERS OR AUDITORS

No indemnities have been given to or insurance premium paid, during or since the end of the financial year, for any 
person who is or has been the director, officer or auditor of the Company.

Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)
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Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the directors of the Company have received or become entitled 
to receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and 
receivable by the directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or 
a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which 
the director has a substantial financial interest except for any benefits which may deemed to have arisen by virtue 
of the significant related party transactions as disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is a party, which had 
the object of enabling the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Details of significant events are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of subsequent events are disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

a)		 Details of auditors’ remuneration for the Group and the Company are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial 
statements.

b)		 The auditors, Kreston John & Gan, Chartered Accountants, have indicated their willingness to accept re-
appointment.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance
with a resolution of the Directors

Dato’  Hussian  @  Rizal  Bin  A.  Rahman	 Datuk  Seri  Syed  Ali  Bin  Abbas  Alhabshee

Kuala Lumpur,
Date : 25 May 2021
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS’ REPORT

to members of TFP Solutions Berhad

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of TFP Solutions Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2020 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 54 to 134.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company as at 31 December 2020, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial 
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct 
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws 
and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue Recognition

Refer to Notes 3(l) and 20 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter

The main revenue streams of the Group are segregated into goods sold and services. We identified revenue recognition 
in respect of goods sold and services to be an area of audit focus as it is to be a possible cause of higher risk of 
material misstatements in the timing and amount of revenue recognised, specifically, we focused our audit efforts 
to determine the possibility of overstatement of revenue. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to members of TFP Solutions Berhad

(Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters  (Cont’d.)

Revenue Recognition  (Cont’d.)

How our audit addresses this matter

We performed the following audit procedures, among others, around revenue recognition : -

•	 Tested the operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls over timing and amount of revenue 
recognised;

•	 Inspected the terms of significant sales contracts to determine the point of transfer of control over goods or 
services;

•	 Inspected the documents which evidenced the delivery of goods and services to customers;

•	 Tested sales transactions as well as credit notes issued, near to the financial year ended date to assess whether 
the revenue was recognised in the correct period; and

•	 Assessed the completeness, accuracy and relevance of disclosures required by MFRS 15.

Trade Receivables

Refer to Notes 2(d)(iv) and 8 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter

As at 31 December 2020, the Group carries significant outstanding trade receivables balance of approximately 
RM4.45 million and is subject to major credit risk exposures. The assessment of recoverability of receivables 
involved judgements and estimation uncertainty in analysing historical bad debts, customer concentration, customer 
creditworthiness, current economic trends, customer payment terms, etc.

How our audit addresses this matter

We performed the following audit procedures, among others : -

•	 Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s control over the receivable collection process and how the Group 
identifies and assesses the impairment of receivables; 

•	 Reviewing the ageing analysis of receivables and testing the reliability thereof;

•	 Reviewing subsequent cash collections, customer correspondences, proposed or existing settlement plans, 
repayment schedule and considering explanation on recoverability with significantly overdue amounts;

•	 Evaluating the reasonableness and adequacy of the allowance for expected credit losses made against doubtful 
trade receivables; and 

•	 Assessed the completeness, accuracy and relevance of disclosures required by MFRS 9.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Chairman’s Statement and Directors’ Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to members of TFP Solutions Berhad

(Cont’d)
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to members of TFP Solutions Berhad

(Cont’d)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  (Cont’d.)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also : -

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiary of which 
we have not acted as auditors, are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

OTHER MATTER

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the contents of this report.

Kreston John & Gan
( AF 0113 )	
Chartered Accountants

Charles  Lee  King  Long
Approval No: 3142/04/2023(J)
Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur,
Date : 25 May 2021

Independent Auditors’ Report
to members of TFP Solutions Berhad

(Cont’d)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2020

			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM'000	 RM'000

ASSETS

Non-current Assets
 Plant and equipment			   4	  847 	  1,170 
 Right-of-use asset			   5	  133 	  320 

Total Non-current Assets				     980 	  1,490 

Current Assets
 Inventories			   7	  211 	  177 
 Trade receivables			   8	  4,452 	  3,908 
	 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments		  9	  1,026 	  3,269 
 Current tax assets				     189 	  149 
 Deposits with licensed banks			   11	  6,837 	  792 
 Cash and bank balances				     8,182 	  2,470 

Total Current Assets				     20,897 	  10,765 

Total Assets				     21,877 	 12,255 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
 Share capital			   12	  22,637 	  10,059 
 Treasury shares			   13	  (179)	  (179)
 Reserves			   14	  (6,409)	  (2,689)

				    16,049 	  7,191 
Non-controlling interests			   15	  (40)	  (87)

Total Equity				     16,009 	 7,104 

Non-current Liabilities
 Lease liabilities			   16	  19 	  110 
 Deferred tax liabilities			   17	  10 	 – 

Total Non-current Liabilities				     29 	 110 

Current Liabilities
 Trade payables			   18	  3,939 	  3,984 
 Other payables and accruals			   19	  1,783 	  841 
 Lease liabilities			   16	  117 	  216 

Total Current Liabilities				     5,839 	  5,041 

Total Liabilities				     5,868 	  5,151 

Total Equity and Liabilities				     21,877 	  12,255 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM'000	 RM'000

Revenue			   20	  19,336 	  87,716 
Cost of sales				     (17,379)	  (84,165)

Gross profit				     1,957 	  3,551 

Other income			   21	 286 	  2,119 
Selling and distribution costs				     (175)	  (489)
Administrative expenses				     (5,040)	  (8,044)
Other expenses				     (640)	  (702)

Loss from operations				     (3,612)	  (3,565)

Finance cost			   22	  (13)	  (22)

Loss before taxation			   23	  (3,625)	  (3,587)

Income tax expense			   25	  (48)	  7 

Loss for the financial year, representing total
 comprehensive loss for the financial year			    (3,673)	  (3,580)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year attributable to : -

Equity holders of the Company				     (3,624)	  (3,513)
Non-controlling interests				     (49)	  (67)

				     (3,673)	  (3,580)

Basic loss per share  (sen)			   26	  (0.80)	  (1.70)
Diluted loss per share  (sen)			   26	  (0.76)	  (1.70)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM'000	 RM'000

Cash flows from operating activities	

Loss before taxation				     (3,625)	  (3,587)

Adjustments for : -

Bad debt written off				     53 	 –
Depreciation of plant and equipment				     272 	  200 
Depreciation of right-of-use asset				     197 	  195 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary company			   –	  (1,416)
Goodwill written off				    –	  83 
Impairment losses on trade receivables			    20 	  235 
Interest income				     (28)	  (79)
Interest expense				     13 	  22 
Inventories written off				     68 	  4 
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary company			    27 	 –
Plant and equipment written off				    –	  14 
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables			    (155)	 –
Unrealised loss on foreign exchange				     3 	  * 

Operating loss before working capital changes			    (3,155)	  (4,329)

Increase in inventories				     (104)	  (181)
Increase in trade receivables				     (462)	  (7,208)
Decrease /(Increase) in other receivables, deposits and prepayments		   2,240 	  (2,993)
Increase in trade payables				     62 	  4,584 
Increase in other payables and accruals			    962 	  373 

Cash used in from operations				     (457)	  (9,754)

Interest paid				     (13)	  (22)
Tax paid				     (85)	  (130)
Tax refund				     7 	  395 

Net cash used in operating activities				     (548)	  (9,511)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired	 27	 –	  1 
Additional investment in subsidiary company 			    * 	  –
Subscribed of shares in new subsidiary - Non-controlling interests		  * 	 – 
Interest received				     28 	  79 
Net proceed from reduction of stake in subsidiary company		  * 	 – 
Uplifted /(Placement) of pledged deposits 			    525 	  (305)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment			   –	  6 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary company,
 net of cash and cash equivalents			   28	  * 	  7,609 
Purchase of plant and equipment			   29	  (101)	  (1,278)

Net cash from investing activities				     452 	  6,112 

Balance carried forward				     (96)	  (3,399)
	
*	 Less than RM1,000		
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			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Balance brought forward				     (96)	  (3,399)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities				     (200)	  (189)
Proceed from issuance of ordinary shares			    12,479 	 – 
Proceed from ordinary shares issued pursuant to warrant exercised		  99 	  295 

Net cash from financing activities				     12,378 	  106 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			    12,282 	  (3,293)

Effects of foreign exchange translation			   –	 * 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year		  2,470 	  5,763 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year	 30	  14,752 	  2,470

*	 Less than RM1,000

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

(Cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2020

			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM’000	 RM’000

ASSETS

Non-current Assets
 Plant and equipment			   4	 –	 –
 Investment in subsidiary companies			  6	  1,444 	  1,480 

Total Non-current Assets				    1,444 	  1,480

Current Assets
 Other deposit and prepayments			   9	  364 	  2 
	 Amount due from subsidiary companies		  10	  7,507 	  7,870 
 Current tax assets				     58 	  31
 Deposits with licensed banks			   11	  6,500 	  – 
 Cash and bank balances				     7,160 	  2,091 

Total Current Assets				     21,589 	  9,994 

Total Assets				     23,033 	  11,474 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
 Share capital			   12	  22,637 	  10,059 
 Treasury shares			   13	  (179)	  (179)
 Reserves			   14	  (361)	  708 

Total Equity				     22,097 	  10,588 

Current Liabilities
 Other payable and accruals			   19	  508 	  260 
	 Amount due to subsidiary companies		  10	  428 	  626 

Total Liabilities				     936 	  886 

Total Equity and Liabilities				     23,033 	  11,474

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue			   20	 –	  –
Other income			   21	  281 	  1,843 
Selling and distribution costs				     (2)	  (2)
Administrative expenses				     (578)	  (1,501)
Other expenses				     (759)	  (1)

(Loss) /Profit before operations				     (1,058)	  339 

Finance cost			   22	  (11)	  (14)

(Loss) /Profit before taxation			   23	  (1,069)	  325 

Income tax expense			   25	 –	 –

(Loss) /Profit for the financial year, representing total	
 comprehensive (loss) /income for the financial year			    (1,069)	  325

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements



62
www.tfp.com.my
TFP Solutions Berhad         2020 ANNUAL REPORT

STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CASH FLOWS

for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

			   Note	 2020	 2019
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss) /Profit before taxation				     (1,069)	  325 

Adjustments for : -

Bad debt written off 				     722 	 – 
Depreciation of plant and equipment				     –	  1 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary company			    –	  (1,625)
Impairment losses on investment in subsidiary companies		   * 	  * 
Interest expense				     11 	  14 
Interest income				     (281)	  (179)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary company 			    37 	 – 

Operating loss before working capital changes			    (580)	  (1,464)

(Increase) /Decrease in other deposit and prepayments			    (361)	  7 
Increase in other payable and accruals			    248 	  83 

Cash used in operations				     (693)	  (1,374)

Interest paid				     (11)	  (14)
Tax paid				     (27)	  (31)
Tax refund				    –	  24 

Net cash used in operating activities				     (731)	  (1,395)

Cash flows from investing activities

Additional investment in subsidiary company 			    * 	  –
Incorporation of new subsidiary company			    (1)	 –
Advance to subsidiary companies				     (558)	  (5,411)
Interest received				     281 	  179 
Proceed from disposal of  plant and equipment			   –	  6 
Proceed from disposal of subsidiary company			    * 	  7,904 
Purchase of plant and equipment			   29	 –	  (7)

Net cash (used in) /from investing activities			    (278)	  2,671 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceed from issuance of ordinary shares			    13,024 	 –
Proceed from ordinary shares issued pursuant to warrant exercised		  99 	  295 
Share issuance expenses				     (545)	  – 

Net cash from financing activities				     12,578 	  295 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents			    11,569 	  1,571 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year		  2,091 	  520 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year	 30	 13,660 	  2,091 

*	 Less than RM1,000

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2020

1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

	 TFP Solutions Berhad is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed 
on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The address of the registered office and principal 
place of business of the Company are as follows : -

Registered office	 :	 With effective from 27 January 2021
			   Level 5, Blok B, Dataran PHB
			   Saujana Resort, Section U2
			   40150 Shah Alam, Selangor

			   Prior to 27 January 2021
			   Suite 10.02, Level 10, The Gardens South Tower
			   Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
			   59200 Kuala Lumpur

 Principal place of business	 :	 Wisma LMS, No. 6, Jalan Abd. Rahman Idris
			   Off Jalan Raja Muda Aziz
			   50300 Kuala Lumpur

	 The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 
2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually referred 
to as “Group entities”). The financial statements of the Company as at and for the financial year ended 31 
December 2020 do not include other entities.

	 The Company is principally an investment holding company and engaged in the business of providing shared 
services to companies in the Group for which it charges management fees. The principal activities of the 
subsidiary companies are set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

	 These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2020.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

a)	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. 

	 The Group and the Company have applied the following accounting standards, interpretations and 
amendments of the MFRSs for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2020 : -

•	 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in MFRS Standards
•	 Amendments to MFRS 3, Business Combinations - Definition of a business
•	 Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements and MFRS 108, Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Definition of Material
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments, MFRS 139, Financial Instruments : Recognition 

and Measurement and MFRS 7, Financial Instruments : Disclosures – Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform
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(Cont’d)

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 
2020

•	 Amendment to MFRS 16, Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 17 August 
2020

•	 Amendments to MFRS 4, Insurance Contracts – Extension of the Temporary Exemption from 
Applying MFRS 9

•	 Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2021

•	 Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139, MFRS 7, MFRS 4 and MFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phase 2

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 
2021

•	 Amendments to MFRS 16, Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021. 

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022

•	 Amendments to MFRSs contained in the document entitled “Annual Improvements to MFRS 
Standards 2018-2020”

•	 Amendments to MFRS 1, First Time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (Annual 
Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle)

•	 Amendments to MFRS 3, Business Combinations – Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
•	 Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-

2020 Cycle)
•	 Amendments to MFRS 116, Property, Plant and Equipment – Property, Plant and    Equipment – 

Proceeds before Intended Use
•	 Amendments to MFRS 137, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets – Onerous 

Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
•	 Amendments to MFRS 141, Agriculture (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020 

Cycle)
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(Cont’d)

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023

•	 MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
•	 Amendments to MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
•	 Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-current and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
•	 Amendments to MFRS 108, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – 

Definition of Accounting Estimates

	 MFRSs, interpretations and amendments effective for a date yet to be confirmed

	 Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture

	 The Group and the Company plan to apply the abovementioned accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments : -

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020; 

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 17 August 2020; 

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021; 

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021; 

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022; and

•	 from the annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for those accounting standards, interpretations 
and amendments that are applicable to the Group and the Company and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
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(Cont’d)

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

a)	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

	 The initial application of the accounting standards, interpretations and amendments are not expected 
to have any material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of the 
Group and the Company except as mentioned below : - 

	 Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture

	 The amendments clarify that : -

•	 gains and losses resulting from transactions involving assets that do not constitute a business, 
between investor and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the entity’s financial statements 
only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture; and

•	 gains and losses resulting from transactions involving the sale or contribution of assets to an 
associate or a joint venture that constitute a business is recognised in full.

	 The amendments are to be applied prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual 
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by Malaysian Accounting Standards Board. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

	 The Group and the Company are currently assessing the financial impact that may arise from the adoption 
of amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128.

b)	 Basis of measurement 

	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in Note 
3 to the financial statements.

c)	 Functional and presentation currency 

	 These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Group’s and Company’s 
functional currency.

d)	 Use of estimates and judgements 

	 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
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(Cont’d)

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

d)	 Use of estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

	 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 

	 There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other than 
the following items : -

i)	 Depreciation of plant and equipment
	
		 Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. 

Management estimated the useful life of these assets to be within 5 years. Changes in the expected 
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful life and the 
residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

ii)	 Depreciation of right-of-use assets
	
	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life or the 

end of the lease term. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 
could impact the economic useful life and the residual values of these assets, therefore future 
depreciation charges could be revised. 

iii)	 Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies

	 The Company reviews the investments in subsidiary companies for impairment when there is 
an indication of impairment and assess the impairment of receivables on the amounts due from 
subsidiary companies when the receivables are long outstanding.

	 The recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiary companies and amounts due from 
subsidiary companies are assessed by reference to the value in use of the respective subsidiary 
companies.

	 The value in use is the net present value of the projected future cash flows derived from the business 
operations of the respective subsidiary companies discounted at an appropriate discount rate. 
For such discounted cash flow method, it involves the use of estimated future results and a set 
assumptions to reflect their income and cash flows. Judgement had also been used to determine 
the discount rate for the cash flows and the future growth of the businesses of the subsidiary 
companies.

iv)		 Measurement of Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) allowance for financial assets

	 The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and 
expected loss rates. The Group and the Company use judgement in making these assumptions 
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s and the Company’s 
past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of reporting 
period
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(Cont’d)

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

d)	 Use of estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

v)	 Deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unabsorbed tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances 
and other temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the unabsorbed tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other temporary 
differences can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of 
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised 
deferred tax assets arising from unabsorbed tax losses, capital allowances and other temporary 
differences are as disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

vi)	 Income tax expense

	 There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may 
be different from the initial estimate. The Group and the Company recognise tax liabilities based 
on its understanding of the prevailing tax laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due 
in the ordinary course of business. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these financial 
statements and have been applied consistently by the Group entities, unless otherwise stated.

a)	 Basis of consolidation

i)	 Subsidiaries

	 Subsidiaries are entities, including structured entities, controlled by the Company. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.

	 The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Potential 
voting rights are considered when assessing control only when such rights are substantive. The 
Group also considers it has de facto power over an investee when, despite not having the majority 
of voting rights, it has the current liability to direct the activities of the investee that significantly 
affect the investee’s return.

	 Investments in subsidiaries are measured in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost 
less any impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or distribution. The 
cost of investments includes transaction costs.
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(Cont’d)

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

a)	 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

ii)	 Business combinations 

	 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method from the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

	 For new acquisitions, the Group measures the cost of goodwill at the acquisition date as : -

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest 
in the acquiree; less

•	 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed.

	 When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets at the acquisition date.

	 Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

iii)	 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

	 The Group accounts for all changes in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a 
loss of control as equity transactions between the Group and its non-controlling interest holders. 
Any difference between the Group’s share of net assets before and after the change, and any 
consideration received or paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves.

iv)	 Loss of control

	 Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
former subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the 
former subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any surplus or deficit 
arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in 
the former subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 
Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale 
financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

a)	 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

v)	 Non-controlling interests

	 Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary 
not attributable directly or indirectly to the equity holders of the Company, are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity within equity, 
separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in 
the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and the comprehensive income for 
the year between non-controlling interest and owners of the Company.

	 Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling 
interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

vi)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

	 Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

	 Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates and joint ventures are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

b)	 Foreign currency

i)	 Foreign currency transactions 

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group 
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period 
are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

	 Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are not retranslated at the 
end of the reporting date, except for those that are measured at fair value which are retranslated 
to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.

	 Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
differences arising on the retranslation of equity instruments where they are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income or a financial instrument designated as a cash flow hedge, 
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

	 In the consolidated financial statements, when settlement of a monetary item receivable from or 
payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely to occur in the forseeable future, foreign 
exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a 
net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are 
presented in the foreign currency translation reserve (“FCTR”) in equity.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

b)	 Foreign currency (Cont’d)

ii)	 Operations denominated in functional currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia

	 The assets and liabilities of operations denominated in functional currencies other than RM, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to RM at 
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, except for goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising from business combinations before 1 January 2012 (the date when the Group first adopted 
MFRS) which are treated as assets and liabilities of the Company. The income and expenses of 
foreign operations, are translated to RM at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

	 Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the foreign currency translation reserve (“FCTR”) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is 
allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that 
control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the FCTR related to 
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

	 When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When 
the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a 
foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of 
the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

c)	 Financial instruments

i)	 Recognition and initial measurement

	 A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

	 A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) or a 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issuance. A trade 
receivable without a financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

	 An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract where the host contract 
is not a financial asset, and accounted for separately if, and only if, the derivative is not closely 
related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host contract is 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an embedded 
derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the 
nature of the host contract.  
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c)	 Financial instruments  (Cont’d)

ii)	 Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement

	 Financial assets 

	 Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified 
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group or the Company changes its business 
model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified 
on the first day of the first reporting period following the change of the business model.

a)	 Amortised cost

	 Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value 
through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by 
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 3(h)(i)) where the effective interest rate 
is applied to the amortised cost.

b)	 Fair value through other comprehensive income

i)	 Debt investments

	 Fair value through other comprehensive income category comprises debt investment 
where it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the debt investment, and its contractual terms give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. The debt investment is not designated as fair 
value through profit or loss. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit 
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.

	 Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 3(h)(i)) where the 
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost.

ii)	 Equity investments
		
	 This category comprises investment in equity that is not held for trading, and the Group 

and the Company irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s 
fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the 
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of investment. Other net 
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. On derecognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are not reclassified 
to profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c)	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

ii)	 Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

	 Financial assets (Cont’d)

c)	 Fair value through profit or loss

	 All financial assets not measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income as described above are measured at fair value through profit or loss. This includes 
derivative financial assets (except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument). On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably designate a 
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or loss if 
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise. 

	 Financial assets categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at 
their fair value. Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised 
in the profit or loss.

	 All financial assets, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, are subject to impairment 
assessment (see Note 3(h)(i)).

	 Financial liabilities

	 The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows : -

a)	 Fair value through profit or loss

	 Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are derivatives 
(except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective 
hedging instrument), contingent consideration in a business combination and financial 
liabilities that are specifically designated into this category upon initial recognition.

	 On initial recognition, the Group or the Company may irrevocably designate a financial liability 
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost as at fair value 
through profit or loss : -

i)	 if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise;

ii)	 a group of financial liabilities or assets and financial liabilities is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided 
internally on that basis to the Group’s key management personnel; or

iii)	 if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not a financial 
asset in the scope of MFRS 9, where the embedded derivative significantly modifies 
the cash flows and separation is not prohibited.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c)	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

ii)	 Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

	 Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

	 The categories of financial liabilities at initial recognition are as follows : - (Cont’d)

a)	  Fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

	 Financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured 
at their fair value with gains or losses, including any interest expense are recognised in the 
profit or loss.

	 For financial liabilities where it is designated as fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition, the Group and the Company recognise the amount of change in fair value of 
the financial liability that is attributable to change in credit risk in the other comprehensive 
income and remaining amount of the change in fair value in the profit or loss, unless the 
treatment of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or enlarge an 
accounting mismatch.

b)	  Amortised cost

	 Other financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss. 
Any gains or losses on derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.

iii)	 Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

	 A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, 
using trade date accounting in the current year. 

	 Trade date accounting refers to : - 

a)	 the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and

b)	 derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the 
recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.  

iv)		 Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when 
due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. 

	 Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured 
at higher of : -

a)	 the amount of the loss allowance; and

b)	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised in accordance to the principles of MFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers.

	 Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are presented together with other provisions.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

c)	 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

v)	 Derecognition

	 A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire or transferred, or control of the asset is not retained 
or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to 
another party. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial asset and the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained 
less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 

	 A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also derecognised when 
its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, 
in which case, a new financial liability based on modified terms is recognised at fair value. On 
derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

d)	 Plant and equipment

i)	 Recognition and measurement

	 Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

	 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. 
For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy 
on borrowing costs.

	 Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment. 

	 When significant parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

	 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and is recognised net 
within “other income” and “other expenses” respectively in profit or loss. 

ii)	 Subsequent costs
  
	 The cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and equipment is recognised in the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the component will flow to the Group or the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of the 
day-to-day servicing of plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

d)	 Plant and equipment (Cont’d)

iii)	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of 
individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from the 
remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately. 

	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of each component of an item of plant and equipment from the date that they are available for 
use. The principal annual rates of depreciation for the plant and equipment are as follows : -

		  Rate                                    
		   %
	
 Computer equipment	 20
 Furniture and fittings	 20
 Office equipment	 20
 Renovation	 20

	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at end of the reporting period, 
and adjusted as appropriate. 

e)	 Leases

i)	 Definition of a lease

	 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether : -

•	 the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of 
a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset 
is not identified;

•	 the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and 

•	 the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer for this right when it 
has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the 
asset is used is predetermined, the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset if 
either the customer has the right to operate the asset; or the customer designed the asset 
in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

	 At inception or an reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their 
relative stand-alone prices. However, for lease of properties in which the Group is a lessee, it has 
elected not to separate non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and non-lease 
components as a single lease component.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

e)	 Leases (Cont’d)

ii)	 Recognition and initial measurement

a)	 As a lessee

	 The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measure at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site in which it is located, less 
any lease incentives received.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the respective Group entities’ incremental borrowing 
rate. Generally, the Group entities use their incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

	 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following : -

•	 Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentives receivable;

•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using 
the index or rate as at the commencement date;

•	 Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;

•	 The exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to 
exercise; and

•	 Penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not 
to terminate early.

	 The Group excludes variable lease payments that linked to future performance or usage 
of the underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the performance or use occurs.

	 The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. 
The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

e)	 Leases (Cont’d)

ii)	 Recognition and initial measurement (Cont’d)

b)	 As a lessor 

	 When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease.

	 To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If 
this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease.

	 If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies MFRS 15 
to allocate the consideration in the contract based on the stand-alone selling prices.

	 When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and 
the sublease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sublease with reference to 
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. 
If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described 
above, then it classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

iii)	 Subsequent measurement

a)	 As a lessee

	 The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of the right-of-use assets are determined 
on the same basis as those of plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements 
of the lease liability.

	 The principal annual rate of depreciation for the right-of-use asset is as follows : -

		  Rate  
		  %
	
Office building	 41.40 – 50.00

	 The lease liability is measure at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there is a 
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option.

	 When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

b)	 As a lessor 

	 The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term as part of “revenue”.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

f)	 Inventories

	 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	 The cost of inventories is calculated using the First-in First-out (FIFO) method, and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. In the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, cost 
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

g)	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid 
investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original maturities of three 
months or less, and are used by the Group and the Company in the management of their short-term 
commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented 
net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.

h)	 Impairment 

i)	 Financial assets

	 The Group and the Company recognise loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, contract assets and lease receivables. Expected credit losses are a 
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.

	 The Group and the Company measure loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit loss, except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date, cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss 
allowances for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables are always measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

	 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Group and the Company consider 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information, 
where available.

	 Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are the portion 
of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses 
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit 
risk.

	 The Group and the Company estimate the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a 
provision matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience.

	 An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in 
profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)	 Impairment (Cont’d) 

i)	 Financial assets (Cont’d)

	 An impairment loss in respect of debt investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss and the allowance account is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

	 At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets carried at 
amortised cost and debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

	 The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group or the 
Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that 
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
or the Company’s procedures for recovery amounts due.

ii)	 Other assets  

	 The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories, contract assets, lease receivables, 
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, investment property measured at fair 
value and non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale) are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount 
is estimated each period at the same time.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or cash-generating units. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for 
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired 
in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a cash-generating 
unit or a group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

	 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating 
unit.

	 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating 
unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

h)	 Impairment (Cont’d) 

ii)	 Other assets  (Cont’d)

	 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the carrying amounts 
of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.

	 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment 
losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are recognised.

i)	 Equity instruments
	
	 Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured 

subsequently.

i)	 Issue expenses

	 Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as a 
deduction from equity.

ii)	 Ordinary shares 

	 Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

iii)	 Treasury shares

	 When the Company re-acquires its own equity shares, the amount of the consideration paid, 
including directly attributable costs, is recognised in equity. Shares re-acquired are held as treasury 
shares and presented as a deduction from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
on the sales, re-issuance or cancellation of the treasury shares. Should such treasury shares be 
reissued by re-sale in the open market, the difference between the sales consideration and the 
carrying amount are shown as a movement in equity, as appropriate. Where treasury shares are 
distributed as share dividends, the cost of the treasury shares are applied in the reduction of the 
share premium reserve or distributable retained profits or both.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

j)	 Employee benefits

i)	 Short-term employee benefits

	 Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave 
and sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 
is provided.

	 A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii)	 State plans

	 As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the state pension scheme, the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit 
or loss as incurred.

k)	 Provisions

	 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

l)	 Revenue and other income

i)	 Revenue from contract with customers

	 Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties. The Group or the Company recognises revenue when (or as) it transfers control 
over a product or service to customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains 
control of the asset.

	 The Group or the Company transfers control of a good or service at a point in time unless one of 
the following over time criteria is met : - 

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the Group or 
the Company performs;  

•	 the Group’s or the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

•	 the Group’s or the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative 
use and the Group or the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

l)	 Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

i)	 Revenue from contract with customers (Cont’d)

	 If control of the assets is transferred over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract 
by reference to the progress towards the satisfaction of each of those performance obligations. 
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtain control over the 
goods or service.

a)	 Goods sold

	 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon delivery of goods where the control of 
the goods has been passed to the customers, net of returns and allowances and discounts. 

	 Deferred costs are recognised when the goods delivered to customers but pending installation 
and /or testing rendered to customers.

b)	 Services rendered

	 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The stage of completion 
is assessed by reference to services performed to date as a percentage of total services to 
be performed.

ii)	 Management fee

	 Management fee is recognised upon the service rendered.

iii)	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

iv)	 Interest income

	 Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or loss 
except for interest income arising from temporary investment of borrowings taken specifically 
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset which is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy on borrowing costs.

v)	 Rental income

	 Rental income related to rental of properties are recognised over the period of tenancy or usage, 
as appropriate. 

m)	 Borrowing costs  

	 Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

m)	 Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

	 The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when 
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying 
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

n)	 Income tax  

	 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised directly 
in equity or other comprehensive income.

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous financial years.

	 Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax bases. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.

	 Unutilised reinvestment allowance and investment tax allowance, being tax incentives that is not a tax 
base of an asset, is recognised as a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the unutilised tax incentive can be utilised.

o)	 Earnings per ordinary shares

	 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares (“EPS’).

	 Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own 
shares held.

	 Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to 
employees.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

p)	 Operating segments 

	 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with 
any of the Group’s other components. Operating segments results are reviewed regularly by the chief 
operating decision maker, which in this case is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, 
and for which discrete financial information is available.

q)	 Contingencies

i)	 Contingent liabilities

	 Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 
be estimated reliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of financial position and is 
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

ii)	 Contingent assets

	 When an inflow of economic benefit of an asset is probable where it arises from past events 
and where existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity, the asset is not recognised in 
the statements of financial position but is being disclosed as a contingent asset. When the inflow 
of economic benefit is virtually certain, then the related asset is recognised. 

r)	 Fair value measurements

	 Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction 
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a 
principal market, in the most advantageous market.

	 For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

	 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as 
possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input used 
in the valuation technique as follows : -

 Level 1	 :	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 
can access at the measurement date.

 Level 2	 :	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

 Level 3	 :	 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

	 The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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4.	 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	 	 Computer	 Furniture	 Office
Group	 equipment	 and fittings	 equipment	 Renovation	 Total
2020		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cost

Balance at 1/1/2020	  573 	  321 	  260 	  241 	  1,395 
Additions 	  34 	  25 	  30 	  12 	  101 
Disposal of subsidiary
 company	  (185)	 –	  – 	  – 	  (185)

Balance at 31/12/2020	  422 	  346 	  290 	  253 	  1,311 

Accumulated Depreciation
	
Balance at 1/1/2020	  124 	  38 	  60 	  3 	  225 
Charge for the financial year	  102 	  68 	  53 	  49 	  272 
Disposal of subsidiary
 company	  (33)	 –	 –	  –	  (33)

Balance at 31/12/2020	  193 	  106 	  113 	  52 	  464 

Net Book Value	  229 	  240 	  177 	  201 	  847 

2019
	
Cost
	
Balance at 1/1/2019	 512 	  187 	  162 	  89 	  950 
Additions 	  462 	  319 	  256 	  241 	  1,278 
Disposal /Written off	  (72)	  (102)	  (111)	  (32)	  (317)
Disposal of subsidiary
 company	  (329)	  (83)	  (47)	  (57)	  (516)

Balance at 31/12/2019	  573 	  321 	  260 	  241 	  1,395 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1/1/2019	  360 	  158 	  139 	  57 	  714 
Charge for the financial year	  88 	 43 	  62 	  7 	  200 
Deletion	  (72)	  (102)	  (105)	  (18)	  (297)
Disposal of subsidiary
 company	  (252)	  (61)	  (36)	  (43)	  (392)

Balance at 31/12/2019	  124 	  38 	  60 	  3 	  225 

Net Book Value	  449 	  283 	  200 	  238 	  1,170 
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4.	 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 	 	 Computer	 Furniture	 Office	
Company	 	 equipment	 and fittings	 equipment	 Total
2020			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Cost

Balance at 1/1/2020 and 
 31/12/2020		   2 	 –	 –	  2 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1/1/2020 and 
 31/12/2020		   2 	 –	 –	  2 

Net Book Value		  –	 –	 –	 –

2019

Balance at 1/1/2019		   2 	  67 	  40 	  109 
Additions 		   7 	 –	 –	  7 
Disposal /Written off		   (7)	  (67)	  (40)	  (114)

Balance at 31/12/2019		   2 	 –	 –	  2 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1/1/2019		   2 	  67 	  40 	  109 
Charge for the financial year		   1 	 –	 –	  1 
Deletion		   (1)	  (67)	  (40)	  (108)

Balance at 31/12/2019		   2 	 –	 – 	  2 

Net Book Value		  –	 – 	 – 	 –

	 The gross carrying amounts of fully depreciated plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are 
as follows : -

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Computer equipment	  	 3 	  3 	  2 	  2 
Furniture and fittings 		   42 	  42 	 –	 – 

			    45 	  45 	  2 	  2
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5.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

	 	 	 	 	 	 Office
	 Group					     building
	 2020					     RM’000

At cost

Balance at 1/1/2020					      515 
Additions					     41 
Disposal of subsidiary company 				     (64)

Balance at 31/12/2020					      492

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1/1/2020					     195 
Charge for the financial year					     197 
Disposal of subsidiary company 				     (33)

Balance at 31/12/2020					     359 

Carrying amount					      133 

	 2019

At cost
Balance at 1/1/2019					     –
Additions					      515 

Balance at 31/12/2019					     515 

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at 1/1/2019					      –
Charge for the financial year					     195 

Balance at 31/12/2019					     195 

Carrying amount					      320 

	 The Group leases an office building from one of the directors for a period of 30 months, with an option to 
renew the lease after the expiry of lease period.

6.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

			   Company
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost				     17,418 	  17,482 
Less :  Allowance for impairment losses			    (15,974)	  (16,002)

					     1,444 	  1,480
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6.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

	 The reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses is as follows : -

			   Company
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At beginning of the financial year			    16,002 	  16,623 
Amount written off				     * 	 – 
Impairment losses recognised				     * 	  * 
Disposal of subsidiary company				    (28)	  (621)

At the end of the financial year				     15,974 	  16,002
 

	 The principal activities of the subsidiaries in the Group and the interest of TFP Solutions Berhad are as 
follows : -
					  
Name of	 Place of		  Effective ownership
subsidiary	 incorporation	 Principal activities	 interest
				    2020	 2019
				    %	 %

Comm Zed	 Malaysia	 Providing network security,	 100	 100
Sdn. Bhd.		  IT solution, hardware and software
			   maintenance.	

MBP Solutions	 Malaysia	 Providing consulting. During the 	 100	 100
Sdn. Bhd.		  year, the company also providing 
			   services ancillary to mobile 
			   telecommunication and Fintech 
			   products and services and investment 
			   holding.	

Agensi Pekerjaan	 Malaysia	 Carry on business as Private	 100	 51
O2U Solutions		  Employment Agency to recruit and
Sdn. Bhd. (i)		  place worker(s) to another employer.	

SBOne Solutions 	 Malaysia	 Providing ERP consulting and 	 100	 100
Sdn. Bhd.		  implementation of SAP products.	

SoftFac Technology	 Malaysia	 Providing Human Capital Resource	 100	 100
Sdn. Bhd.		  Management (HCRM) solutions.

TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd.	 Malaysia	 Developing and providing Enterprise 	 100	 100
(+)			   Business Solutions value added 
			   services.

Onecent Sdn. Bhd.  	 Malaysia	 Providing a mobile fintech platform 	 80	 –
(ii)			   and cashless eco system that allow 
			   members to make payment, settlement 
			   of bill and mobile airtime reload.

*	 Less than RM1,000
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6.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

Name of	 Place of		  Effective ownership
subsidiary	 incorporation	 Principal activities	 interest
				    2020	 2019
				    %	 %

Subsidiary company of Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd.

Comm Zed Solution 	 Malaysia	 Dormant.	 51	 100
Sdn. Bhd. (iii)

Subsidiary company of MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

Jejak Semangat 	 Malaysia	 Dormant.	 75	 75
Sdn. Bhd. *

(+)	 This subsidiary company was disposed of during the financial year.

*	 Audited by a firm other than Kreston John & Gan. 

(i)	 Acquisition of share from non-controlling interest

	 On 11 February 2020, the Company acquired an additional 49% interest in Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions 
Sdn. Bhd. for RM1 which increased the equity ownership from 51% to 100%. Accordingly, Agensi Pekerjaan 
O2U Solutions Sdn. Bhd. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

(ii)	 Incorporation of new subsidiary company

	 On 13 February 2020, the Company incorporated a private company limited by shares, known as Onecent 
Sdn. Bhd. (“OCSB”). The share capital of OCSB is RM1,000comprising 1,000 ordinary shares at RM1each 
which has been issued and fully paid-up. The Company holds 800 ordinary shares in OCSB for RM800, 
representing 80% equity interest in OCSB.

(iii)	 Reduction in stake without loss of control

	 On 31 August 2020, Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd. (“CZSB”), a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
entered into an agreement with an individual to dispose of 49,000 ordinary shares in Comm Zed Solution 
Sdn. Bhd. at a total consideration of RM1 which reduced the equity ownership from 100% to 51%.

	 The auditors’ reports of subsidiary companies were subject to the following emphasis on material uncertainty 
related to going concern : - 

	 MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

	 The subsidiary company’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, notwithstanding 
that the subsidiary company incurred accumulated losses of RM6,927,526 as at 31 December 2020, and as 
of that date, the subsidiary company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM6,536,052, thereby 
indicating the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the subsidiary 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The auditors’ opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

	 Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  

	 The subsidiary company’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, notwithstanding 
that the subsidiary company incurred accumulated losses of RM694,293 as at 31 December 2020, and as of that 
date, the subsidiary company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM208,264, thereby indicating 
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the subsidiary company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The auditors’ opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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6.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

	 Non-controlling interest in subsidiary company

	 The Group’s subsidiary companies that have material non-controlling interest (“NCI”) are as follows : -

			   Jejak 		  Comm Zed		
		  Semangat	 Onecent	 Solutions	

2020			   Sdn. Bhd.	 Sdn. Bhd.	 Sdn. Bhd.	 Total

NCI percentage of ownership 	
 interest and voting interest		  25% 	  20% 	  49%
Carrying amount of NCI  (RM’000)	  (55)	  (34)	  49 	  (40)

Loss allocated to NCI  (RM’000)		  (15)	  (34)	  * 	  (49)

	 Summarised financial information before intra-group elimination : -

			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000

As at 31 December					   
Non-current assets		   –	  91 	 – 
Current assets		   2 	  3,357 	  106
Non-current liabilities		  –	  (19)	 – 
Current liabilities		   (221)	  (3,597)	  (7)	

Net liabilities		   (219)	  (168)	  99 	

Year ended 31 December		
Revenue		  –	  2,488 	 –
Loss for the financial year, 
 representing total comprehensive 
 loss for the financial year 		   (58)	  (169)	  (5)

Cash flows from operating 
 activities	  	 1 	  174 	  1 
Cash flows from /(used in)
 investing activities		   (1)	  (55)	 5 
Cash flows from financing 
 activities		  –	  46 	 – 	

Net increase in cash and cash	
 equivalents	  	 * 	  165 	  6

Dividends paid to NCI		  –	 –	 – 

*	 Less than RM1,000
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6.	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)

	 Non-controlling interest in subsidiary company (Cont’d)

	 The Group’s subsidiary companies that have material non-controlling interest (“NCI”) are as follows : - (Cont’d)

				    Agensi
				    Pekerjaan
				    O2U	 Jejak 
				    Solutions	 Semangat	
2019				    Sdn. Bhd.	 Sdn. Bhd.	 Total

NCI percentage of ownership 
 interest and voting interest			   49% 	  25%
Carrying amount of NCI  (RM’000)		   (47)	  (40)	  (87)

Loss allocated to NCI  (RM’000)			   (54)	  (13)	  (67)

Summarised financial information before intra-group elimination : -

				    RM’000 	  RM’000

As at 31 December
Non-current assets			    43 	 – 	
Current assets			    101 	  2 	
Non-current liabilities			    (14)	 – 	
Current liabilities			    (272)	  (162)	

Net liabilities			    (142)	  (160)

Year ended 31 December
Revenue			   –	 –
Loss for the financial year, representing total
 comprehensive loss for the financial year 		   (110)	  (51)	

Cash flows from /(used in) operating activities		   102 	  (63)	
Cash flows used in investing activities		  –	  (63)	
Cash flows (used in) /from financing activities		   (81)	  63

Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	  21 	  (63)

Dividends paid to NCI			    –	 –
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7.	 INVENTORIES

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At cost
Finished goods				     211 	  177 

Recognised in profit or loss : -	
-  Inventories recognised as cost of sales			    330 	  1,286 
-  Inventories written off				     68 	  4 

8.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Trade receivables				     4,552	 4,143 
Less : Allowance for impairment losses  (Note 32(b)(i))		   (100)	  (235)

					      4,452 	  3,908 

		 Included in the trade receivables is an amount of RM3,147,780 (2019 – RM31,737) due from a company in 
which one of the directors has an interest.

		 The normal credit terms of trade receivables range from immediate payment to 60 days (2019 – 90 days). 
Other terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.

9.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Other receivables		   159 	  12 	  50 	  –
Other deposits		   125 	  2,128 	 –	 –
Prepayments	  	 742 	  1,129 	  314 	  2 

			    1,026 	  3,269 	  364 	  2 

	 Group

	 Included in the other deposits are as follows : -

i)	 deposit in relation to business supplies of Nil (2019 – RM2,000,000) paid to a company in which one of 
the directors has an interest.

ii)	 rental deposits of RM58,800 (2019 – RM67,200) paid to one of the directors for leases an office building.

iii)	 deposit is an amount of RM42,000 (2019 – Nil) due from a company in which one of the directors has 
an interest.
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10.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM /(TO) SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

			   Company
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Amount due from subsidiary companies : -				  
	

Non-Trade
-  Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  			    127 	  148 
-  Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd.				     630 	  1,181 
-  MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd.				     6,495 	  5,592 
-  Onecent Sdn. Bhd. 				     7 	  – 
-  SBOne Solutions Sdn. Bhd.				     239 	  204 
-  SoftFac Technology Sdn. Bhd.				    9 	  42 
-  TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd.				    –	  703

					     7,507	 7,870 

Amount due to subsidiary companies : -				  
	

Non-Trade	
-  Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd.				     (2)	  * 
-  Comm Zed Solution Sdn. Bhd.				   –	  (100)
-  SBOne Solutions Sdn. Bhd.				     (277)	  (270)
-  SoftFac Technology Sdn. Bhd.				    (149)	  (256)
-  TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd.				    – 	  * 

					     (428)	  (626)

*	 Less than RM1,000
	
	 Included in the amount due from subsidiary companies is an unsecured loan of RM7,031,738 (2019 – 

RM7,561,177) due from subsidiary companies, which bears interest at rate of 3.10% (2019 – 3.50%) per annum 
and repayable on demand in cash and cash equivalent.

	 Included in the amount due to subsidiary companies is an unsecured loan of RM372,167 (2019 – RM519,442) 
due to subsidiary companies, which bears interest at rate of 3.10% (2019 – 3.50%) per annum and repayable 
on demand in cash and cash equivalent.

	 The remaining amounts outstanding are in respect of advances and payments made on behalf, which are 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand in cash and cash equivalent.
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11.	 DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Fixed deposits with licensed banks	  1,837 	  792 	  1,500 	 – 
Repo deposits with licensed banks	  5,000 	 –	  5,000 	 – 

			    6,837 	  792 	  6,500 	 – 

	 Group

	 The effective interest rates of deposits with licensed banks of the Group are range from 1.50% to 1.70% (2019 
– 3.15%) per annum.

	 Included in deposits with licensed banks of the Group are amounts of RM266,558 (2019 – RM792,101) which 
have been pledged to licensed banks as security for the credit facilities granted to the subsidiary companies.

	 Company

	 The effective interest rates of deposits with licensed banks of the Company are range from 1.50% to 1.70% 
(2019 – Nil) per annum.

12.	 SHARE CAPITAL

		  Group and Company
		  2020	 2019
			   Number of		  Number of
			   ordinary		  ordinary
			   shares		  shares
			   Unit’000	 RM’000	 Unit’000	 RM’000

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares with no par value

At 1 January	  	 208,012 	  10,059 	  205,059 	  9,764 
Issued of shares : - 
-   private placement 		   20,673 	  6,202
-   rights issue		   227,407 	  6,822
-   exercise of warrants		   3,301 	  99 	  2,953 	  295 
Share issuance expenses 		   – 	  (545)	 –	 –

At 31 December		   459,393 	  22,637 	  208,012 	  10,059 
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12.	 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

	 During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid up share capital from 208,012,945 to 
459,393,690  by way of issuance of 251,380,745 new ordinary shares as follows : -

a)	 20,673,000 new ordinary shares through private placements at an issue price of RM0.30 per ordinary 
shares;

b)	 227,406,945 new ordinary shares through rights issue at an issue price of RM0.03 per ordinary shares; 
and

c)	 3,300,800 new ordinary shares through exercise of warrant 2020/2025 at an exercise price of RM0.03 
per ordinary shares.

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank pari passu with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets.

13.	 TREASURY SHARES

	 The shareholders of the Company, by a resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 June 2016, 
approved the Company’s plan to purchase its own shares. The directors are committed to enhancing the value 
of the Company to its shareholders and believe that the purchase plan can be applied in the best interests of 
the Company and its shareholders. 

	 The details of the shares purchased from the open market using internally generated funds and held as treasury 
shares during the financial year are as follows : -

		  Group and Company
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
		  Number of shares (Unit’000)	 RM’000	 RM’000

Balance at 1 January /31 December 	  1,279 	  1,279 	  179 	  179

Average unit cost for the financial year (RM)			   0.14 	 0.14 

	 As at the reporting date, the Company held 1,279,000 (2019 – 1,279,000) of the Company’s shares and the 
number of ordinary shares in issue after setting off against treasury shares is 458,114,690 (2019 – 206,733,945).

14.	 RESERVES

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-distributable	
Warrant reserves	  	 7,687 	 –	  7,687 	 – 

Distributable
Retained profit /
 (Accumulated losses)	  	 (14,096)	  (2,689)	  (8,048)	  708 

			   (6,409)	  (2,689)	  (361)	  708 
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14.	 RESERVES (CONT’D)

	 Warrant reserves

	 The warrant reserves represent the fair value adjustment for the free warrants issued pursuant to the Deed 
Poll agreement dated 13 August 2020. The fair value of the warrants was measured using “Trinomial” pricing 
model with the following inputs and assumptions : -

						      2020

Fair value of warrants and assumptions

Fair value of warrants at issuance date (RM)				    0.0343 

Exercise price (RM)					     0.03 
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)				    3%
Option life (expected weighted average life)				    5 years 
Risk-free interest rate (based on rates of years Malaysian government bonds)		  3%

Retained profits

	 The Company may distribute dividends out of its retained profits under the single tier system which are tax 
exempt in the hands of shareholder.

15.	 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Balance at the beginning of the financial year			    (87)	  7 
Arising from acquisition of subsidiary			   – 	  (27)
Arising from incorporation of new subsidiary 			    * 	 –
Changes in stake in subsidiary companies			    96 	 – 
Transferred from profit or loss				     (49)	  (67)

Balance at the end of the financial year			    (40)	  (87)

*	 Less than RM1,000 
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16.	 LEASE LIABILITIES

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Minimum lease payments : -
- not later than one year				     122 	  230 
- later than one year and not later than two years			    20 	  115

					      142 	  345 
Less : Future interest charges				     (6)	  (19)

Present value of lease liabilities				     136 	  326 

Repayable as follows : -

Non-current liabilities	
- later than one year and not later than two years			    19 	  110 

Current liabilities
- not later than one year				     117 	  216

					     136 	  326

Effective interest rate				    3.10% - 4.35%	 4.35%

	 The lease liabilities related to an office building that leased from one of the directors for a period of 30 months, 
with an option to renew the lease after the expiry of lease period.

a)	 Reconciliation of movements in lease liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January 				     326	  – 
Net changes from financing cash flows			    (200)	  (189)
Acquisition of right-of-use asset  (Note 5)			    41 	  515 
Disposal of subsidiary company			    (31)	 – 

At 31 December 				     136 	  326 
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16.	 LEASE LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

b)	 Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

						    
Included in net cash from operating activities : -			 
Payment relating to short-term lease			    28 	  24 
Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities  (Note 22)		   13 	  22 

Included in net cash from financing activities : -
Repayment of lease liabilities			    200 	  189 

Total cash outflows for leases			    241 	  235 

17.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Balance at the beginning of the financial year			   –	  5 
Recognised in profit or loss  (Note 25)			    10 	  (5)

Balance at the end of the financial year			    10 	  –

	 The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are as follows : -

					     Recognised
	 	 	 	 As at	 in profit	 As at
Group			   1 January	 or loss	 31 December
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2020

Deferred tax liabilities					   
Accelerated capital allowances			   –	  10 	  10 

2019

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances			    5 	  (5)	 –
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18.	 TRADE PAYABLES

	 Group

	 Included in the trade payables is an amount of RM3,261,764 (2019 – RM3,228,901) due to a company in which 
one of the directors has an interest.

	 The normal credit terms of trade payables are in range from immediate payment to 60 days. However, the 
terms may vary upon negotiation with the trade payables.

19.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Other payables		   1,196 	  424 	  250 	  – 
Accruals		   587 	  417 	  258 	  260 

			    1,783 	  841 	  508 	  260 

	 Group

	 Included in the other payables is an amount of RM1,373 (2019 – Nil) due to a company in which one of the 
directors has an interest.

	 Included in the other payables is an amount of Nil (2019 – RM50,000) due to non-controlling corporate 
shareholder of a subsidiary company.

	 Included in accruals is an amount of accrued directors’ remuneration of RM225,000 (2019 – RM190,000).

	 Company

	 Included in accruals is an amount of accrued directors’ remuneration of RM225,000 (2019 – RM190,000).

20.	 REVENUE

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue from contract with customers			    19,336 	  87,716 
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20.	 REVENUE (CONT’D)

20.1	 Disaggregation of revenue

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Primary geographical markets
-  Malaysia				     19,336 	  87,716 

Major products
-  sales of goods 				     14,449 	  68,958 
-  maintenance services and installation			    3,635 	  17,935 
-  implementation and customisation, training,	
 outsourcing and other services			    1,252 	  823 

					     19,336 	  87,716 

Timing of revenue

-  at a point in time				     15,701 	  69,781 
-  over time				     3,635 	  17,935 

					     19,336 	  87,716

20.2	 Nature of goods and services

	 The following information reflects the typical transaction of the Group : -

Nature of
goods and
services

Timing of
recognition or 
method used
to recognise
revenue

Significant
payment
terms

Variable 
element in
consideration

Obligation
for returns or
refunds Warranty

Sales of 
goods

Revenue is 
recognised at a 
point in time 
when the goods 
are delivered and
accepted by the
 customer at its 
premise.

Credit 
period of 
30 days 
from 
invoice 
date.

Not 
applicable.

The Group 
allows return 
only for 
exchange 
with new 
goods (i.e. no 
cash refund 
are offered).

Not 
applicable.

Maintenance
services and
installation

Revenue is 
recognised over 
time when the 
services are 
performed.

Credit 
period of 
30 days 
from 
invoice 
date.

Not 
applicable.

Not 
applicable.

Not 
applicable.
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20.	 REVENUE (CONT’D)

20.2	 Nature of goods and services (Cont’d)

	 The following information reflects the typical transaction of the Group : -  (Cont’d)

Nature of
goods and
services

Timing of
recognition or 
method used
to recognise
revenue

Significant
payment
terms

Variable 
element in
consideration

Obligation
for returns or
refunds Warranty

Implementation 
and
customisation,
training, 
outsourcing 
and other
services

Revenue is
recognised 
at a point in 
time when 
the services 
are rendered.

Credit 
period of 
30 days 
from 
invoice 
date.

Not 
applicable.

Not 
applicable.

Not 
applicable.

20.3	 Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

	 The Group apply the practical expedient on the exemption on disclosure of information on remaining 
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.

20.4	 Significant judgements and assumptions arising from revenue recognition

	 The Group did not apply significant judgements and assumptions that significantly affect the determination 
of the amount and timing of revenue recognised from contracts with customers.

21.	 OTHER INCOME

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Commission received 		   3 	 –	 –	 – 
Fixed deposit interest income	  	 11 	  50 	 –	 – 
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary	
 company		   –	  1,416 	 –	  1,625 
Interest income on advances to	
 subsidiary companies		  –	 – 	  264 	  150 
Interest received		   1 	 –	  1 	 –
Partners’ incentive		  – 	  566 	 –	 –
Realised gain on foreign exchange	  * 	  14 	 –	 –
Rental income		  –	  1 	 –	  –
Repo deposit interest income	  	 16 	  29 	  16 	  29 
Reversal of impairment loss on
 trade receivables		   155 	 –	 –	 –
Sundry income		  –	  43 	 –	  39 
Wages subsidy program - COVID 19	  100 	 –	 –	  –

			   286 	  2,119 	  281 	  1,843 
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22.	 FINANCE COST

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Interest expense of financial liabilities
 that are not at fair value through
 profit or loss : -	
-  Interest expenses on advances from
 subsidiary companies		  –	 –	  11 	  14 
-  lease liabilities		   13 	  22 	  –	 –

			    13 	  22 	  11 	  14 

23.	 (LOSS) /PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

This is arrived at after charging : -

Auditors’ remuneration :	
-  Audit fees
 -  Kreston John & Gan		   97 	  99 	  48 	  32 
 -  Other auditors		   2 	  2 	 –	 –
Bad debt written off	  	 53 	 –	  722 	 – 
Depreciation
-  plant and equipment		   272 	  200 	 –	  1 
-  right-of-use asset		   197 	  195 	 –	 – 
Employee benefits expense
 (Note 24)		   4,022 	  7,435 	  54 	  457 
Expenses relating to short-term lease	  28 	  24 	 –	 –
Goodwill written off		  – 	  83 	 –	 – 
Impairment losses on
-  trade receivables		   20 	  235 	 –	 –
-  investment in subsidiary 
 companies		  –	 –	  * 	  * 
Interest expense 
-  subsidiary company		  –	 –	  11 	  14 
-  lease liabilities 		   13 	  22 	 –	 – 
Inventories written off	  	 68 	  4 	 –	 –
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 
 company 		   27 	 –  	  37 	 –
Loss on foreign exchange
-  realised		   * 	  3 	 –	 –
-  unrealised		   3 	  * 	 –	 – 
Plant and equipment written off	 	 –	 14 	 –	 – 

*	 Less than RM1,000
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23.	 (LOSS) /PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONT’D)

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

and after crediting : -

Commission received		   3 	 –	 –	 – 
Fixed deposit interest income		   11 	  50 	 –	 –
Gain on disposal of subsidiary
 company	  	 –	  1,416 	 –	  1,625 
Other interest received		   1 	 –	  1 	 –
Realised gain on foreign exchange 	  * 	  14 	 – 	 – 
Interest income on advances to
 subsidiary companies		   – 	 –	  264 	  150 
Rental income		   –	  1 	 – 	 –
Repo deposit interest income	  	 16 	  29 	  16 	  29 
Reversal on impairment loss on 
 trade receivables		   155 	 – 	 –	 –

*	 Less than RM1,000

24.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Salaries, allowances and bonus		   3,385 	 5,898	 –	 358
Employees provident fund 		   339 	  744 	  – 	  26 
Employment Insurance System 		   5 	  5 	  – 	  * 
Social security costs		   31 	  48 	 –	  2 
Other staff related expenses 	  	 262 	  740 	  54 	  71 

	  		  4,022 	 7,435 	  54 	  457 

	 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are directors’ emoluments amounting 
to RM588,000 (2019 – RM1,182,148) and RM6,000 (2019 – RM222,968) respectively as disclosed in Note 35 
to the financial statements.

	 The estimated monetary value of benefits not included in director’s emoluments of the Group and of the 
Company amounted to RM63,360 (2019 – RM131,256) and Nil (2019 – RM6,840) respectively as disclosed 
in Note 35 to the financial statements.
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25.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Income tax
-  current financial year provision	  38 	  – 	 –	 – 
-  overprovision in previous financial
 year		  – 	  (2)	 –	 – 

			   38 	  (2)	 –	 – 
Deferred taxation  (Note 17)		   10 	  (5)	 –	 –

			    48 	  (7)	 –	 –

	  Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% of the estimated assessable profit for the 
financial year. 

	 The numerical reconciliation between the effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate is as follows : -

		  Group	 Company
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   %	 %	 %	 %

Applicable tax rate		   (24)	  (24)	  (24)	  24 
Deferred tax assets not recognised 
 during the financial year		   19 	  34 	  4 	  1 
Non-allowable expenses		   13 	  36 	  20 	  95 
Non-taxable income		   (1)	  (46)	 –	  (120)
Utilisation of unabsorbed capital
 allowance		   (6)	 –	 –	 –

Effective tax rate		   1 	  – 	 – 	 – 

*	 Less than RM1,000
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25.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 The utilisation of unabsorbed tax losses and capital allowances is as follows : -

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Tax losses - approximate
Balance brought forward	  	 10,556 	  7,965 	  1,454 	  138 
Claimed during the financial year	  2,065 	  3,366 	  (476)	  1,316 
Disposal of subsidiary company		  (599)	  (775)	 – 	  – 

Balance carried forward	  	 12,022 	  10,556 	  978 	  1,454
 

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Capital allowances - approximate				  
Balance brought forward				     1,249 	  855 
Claimed during the financial year			   –	  414 
Utilised during the financial year				    (108)	 – 
Disposal of subsidiary company				    (559)	  (20)

Balance carried forward				     582 	  1,249 
 

	 The tax savings of the Group and of the Company derived from the utilisation of unabsorbed tax losses and 
unabsorbed capital allowances brought forward from previous years are as follows : -

		  Group	 Company
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Unabsorbed capital allowances	  	 26 	 –	 –	 – 

	 Unabsorbed tax losses and capital allowances of the Group and of the Company which are available to .set-off 
against future chargeable income for which the tax effects have not been recognised in the financial statements 
are shown below : -

		  Group	 Company
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Unabsorbed tax losses		   12,022 	  10,556 	  978 	  1,454 
Unabsorbed capital allowances		   582 	  1,249 	 – 	  – 
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25.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

	 The unabsorbed capital allowances of the Group are only allowed to be carried forward to offset against 
future taxable profits from the same business source of the Group. The availability of unused tax losses for 
offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries in Malaysia is subject to no substantial 
changes in shareholdings of those subsidiaries under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the 
tax authority. Effective from year of assessment 2019 as announced in the Annual Budget 2019, the unused 
tax losses of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and thereafter will only be available for carry forward for 
a period of 7 consecutive years. Upon expiry of the 7 years, the unabsorbed losses will be disregarded.

	 The potential deferred tax benefits that have not been accounted for in the financial statements are as follows : -

				    Unabsorbed	 Other
			   Unabsorbed	 capital	 temporary
Group		  tax losses	 allowances	 difference	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 2019		   1,912 	  205 	  (19)	  2,098 
Arising /(Utilising) during
 the financial year		   794 	  113 	  (97)	  810 
Disposal of subsidiary company		  (186)	  (5)	  16 	  (175)

Balance at 31 December 2019		   2,520 	  313 	  (100)	  2,733 
Arising /(Utilising) during
 the financial year		   475 	  (12)	  (35)	  428 
Disposal of subsidiary company		  (130)	  (144)	  13 	  (261)

Balance at 31 December 2020		   2,865 	  157 	  (122)	  2,900

Company
	
Balance at 1 January 2019		   33 	  – 	 –	  33 
Arising during the financial year		   316 	 – 	 –	  316 

Balance at 31 December 2019		   349 	 –	 –	  349 
Utilising during the financial year	  (114)	 –	 – 	  (114)

Balance at 31 December 2020		   235 	 –	 –	  235

	 No deferred tax asset has been recognised as the Group and the Company is unable to ascertain whether it is 
probable that taxable profit of the Company and its subsidiary companies will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.



109
www.tfp.com.my

TFP Solutions Berhad         2020 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2020

(Cont’d)

26.	 LOSS PER SHARE

	 Basic :

	 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
 holders of the Company				     (3,624)	  (3,513)

			   Number of shares
					     Unit’000 	  Unit’000 

Number of shares in issue 				     455,474 	  206,326 

Basic loss per share  (sen)				    (0.80)	  (1.70)

	 Diluted :

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
 holders of the Company (diluted)			    (3,624)	  (3,513)

			   Number of shares
					     Unit’000 	  Unit’000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (basic)		   454,814 	  206,326 
Dilutive potential ordinary shares	
- Assumed exercise of warrants				     23,326 	 –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (diluted)		   478,140 	  206,326 

Diluted loss per share  (sen)				    (0.76)	  (1.70)

27. 	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

	 31/12/2019

	 On 21 June 2019, MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“MBP”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
entered into an agreement with LMS Technology Distribution Sdn. Bhd. to acquire 375,000 shares in Jejak 
Semangat Sdn. Bhd. (JSSB) at a total cash consideration of RM1. 
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27. 	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONT’D)

	 The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date : -

Fair value of consideration transferred

						      Group
						      2019
						      RM’000

Cash and cash equivalents					      * 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed				  
	

						      Group
						      2019
						      RM’000

Other receivables					      1 
Cash and cash equivalents					      1 
Liabilities					      (112)

Total net assets acquired					      (110)

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary

						      Group
						      2019
						      RM’000

Purchase consideration settled in cash and cash equivalents			    * 
Cash and cash equivalents					      1

						      1

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows : -

						      Group
						      2019
						      RM’000

Total consideration transferred					      * 
Fair value of identifiable net assets				    110 
Non-controlling interest					      (27)

Goodwill					      83 

*	 Less than RM1,000
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28.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

	 31/12/2020

	 On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into a Shares Sale and Purchase Agreement with a third party for the 
disposal of the entire shareholding of the Company in TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary company 
of the Company. 

	 The effect of the disposal on the financial position of the Group is as follows : -

						      2020
						      RM’000

Plant and equipment					     152 
Right-of-use assets					      31 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments				     2 
Current tax assets					     – 
Deposits with licensed banks					     – 
Cash and bank balances					      * 
Trade payables					      (106)
Other payables and accruals					     (20)
Lease liabilities					      (32)

Net assets disposed					      27 

	 The effect of the disposal on the cash flows of the Group during the financial year is as follows : -

						      2020
						      RM’000

Plant and equipment					      152 
Right-of-use assets					      31 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments				     2 
Cash and bank balances					      * 
Trade payables					      (106)
Other payables and accruals					      (20)
Lease liabilities					      (32)

Net assets disposed					      27 
Loss on disposal					      (27)

Total cash consideration from disposal				     * 
Less : Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary				     *

Proceeds from disposal, net of cash and cash equivalent			    * 

	 31/12/2019

	 On 11 March 2019, the Company entered into a Shares Sale and Purchase Agreement with a third party for the 
disposal of the entire shareholding of the Company in Tech3 Solutions Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
company of the Company. The disposal was completed on 8 July 2019.

*	 Less than RM1,000
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28.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANY (CONT’D)

31/12/2019 (Cont’d)

The effect of the disposal on the financial position of the Group is as follows : -

						      2019
						      RM’000

Plant and equipment					      124 
Trade receivables					      17,743 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments				     574 
Current tax assets					      238 
Deposits with licensed banks					      1,650 
Cash and bank balances					      295 
Trade payables					      (13,349)
Other payables and accruals					      (787)

Net assets disposed					      6,488

	 The effect of the disposal on the cash flows of the Group during the financial year is as follows : -

						      2019
						      RM’000
	
Plant and equipment					      124 
Trade receivables					      17,743 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments				     574 
Current tax assets					     238 
Deposits with licensed banks					      1,650 
Cash and bank balances					      295 
Trade payables					      (13,349)
Other payables and accruals					      (787)

Net assets disposed					      6,488 
Gain on disposal					      1,416 

Total cash consideration from disposal				     7,904 
Less : Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary				     (295)

Proceeds from disposal, net of cash and cash equivalent			    7,609 
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29.	 PURCHASE OF PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	 During the financial year, the Group and the Company made the following cash payments to purchase plant 
and equipment : -

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Purchase of plant and equipment
 (Note 4)		   101 	  1,278 	  – 	  7 

  
30.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Deposits with licensed banks	  	 6,837 	  792 	  6,500 	  –
Bank balances		   8,182 	  2,470 	  7,160 	  2,091 

			   15,019 	  3,262 	  13,660 	  2,091 
Less : Pledged deposits  (Note 11)	  (267)	  (792)	 –	  –

			    14,752 	  2,470 	  13,660 	  2,091

	 The foreign currency exposure of cash and bank balances of the Group is as follows : -

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

US Dollar				    –	 4
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31.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

	 The Group has six reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The 
strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require 
different corporate and marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Group’s Managing 
Director (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management reports at the least on quarterly 
basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments : -    

•	 Business Management Solutions	 Providing software solutions to businesses in the private and 
public sectors.

		
•	 Converged Infrastructure Solutions	 Providing Enterprise Systems Solutions to organisations.
		
•	 Mobile Airtime Reload	 Providing services ancillary to mobile telecommunication and 

Fintech products and services.
		
•	 E-Sport	 Providing Enterprise Business Solutions value added services.

•	 Registration fee	 Becoming Fintech community entrepreneurs to promote the digital 
lifestyle and digital wallet.

		
•	 Other	 Management services, investment holding and sales of mobile 

prepaid starter packs.

	 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as described in Note 3 to the financial 
statements. 

	 There are varying levels of integration among the reportable segments. This integration includes transfers of 
goods and financial resources. Inter-segment pricing is determined on negotiated basis in a manner similar 
to transactions with third parties. 

	 Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax, interest, depreciation and amortisation, as 
included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by Group’s Managing Director (the chief 
operating decision maker). Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that 
such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities 
that operate within these industries.

	 Segment assets

	 Segment assets information is neither included in the internal management report nor provided regularly to 
the Group’s Managing Director. Hence no disclosure is made on segment assets.

	 Segment liabilities

	 Segment liabilities information is neither included in the internal management report nor provided regularly to 
the Group’s Managing Director. Hence no disclosure is made on segment liabilities.

	 Segment capital expenditure

	 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire plant and equipment.
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31.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

b)	 Geographical segment

	 Segment information by geographical segment is not provided as the activities of the Group are located 
principally on Malaysia. 

c)	 The following are major customers with revenue equal or more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue : -

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

-  Customer A				     2,165 	  –
-  Customer B				     3,164 	 –
-  Customer C				    11,169	  54,297 

					     16,498 	  54,297

32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a)     Categories of financial instruments

	 The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows : -

(i)	 Financial assets measured at amortised cost (“FAAC”); and
(ii)	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“FLAC”).

				    Carrying		
				    amount	 FAAC	 FLAC
Group			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2020

Financial assets
Trade receivables			    4,452 	  4,452 	 –
Other receivables			    159 	  159 	 –
Deposits with a licensed bank		   6,837 	  6,837 	 –
Cash and bank balances			    8,182 	  8,182 	 –

				     19,630 	  19,630 	 – 

Financial liabilities
Trade payables			    (3,939)	 –	  (3,939)
Other payables and accruals		   (1,783)	 –	  (1,783)
Lease liabilities			    (136)	  –	  (136)

				     (5,858)	 –	  (5,858)
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

a)	 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

				    Carrying		
				    amount	 FAAC	 FLAC
Group			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2019

Financial assets	
Trade receivables			    3,908 	  3,908 	  –
Other receivables			    12 	  12 	 – 
Deposits with a licensed bank		   792 	  792 	 – 
Cash and bank balances			    2,470 	  2,470 	 – 

				     7,182 	  7,182 	  –

Financial liabilities
Trade payables			    (3,984)	 –	  (3,984)
Other payables and accruals		   (841)	 –	  (841)
Lease liabilities			    (326)	 –	  (326)

				     (5,151)	 –	  (5,151)

Company

2020

Financial assets
Other receivables			    50 	  50 	  – 
Amount due from subsidiary companies		   7,507 	  7,507 	  –
Deposits with licensed banks		   6,500 	  6,500 	  –
Cash and bank balances			    7,160 	  7,160 	 –

				     21,217 	  21,217 	  –

Financial liabilities
Other payable and accruals		   (508)	 –	  (508)
Amount due to subsidiary companies		   (428)	 – 	  (428)

				     (936)	 –	  (936)
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

a)	 Categories of financial instruments (Cont’d)

				    Carrying		
				    amount	 FAAC	 FLAC
Company			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2019

Financial assets
Amount due from subsidiary companies		   7,870 	  7,870 	 –
Cash and bank balances			    2,091 	  2,091 	  –

				     9,961 	  9,961 	 – 

Financial liabilities
Other payable and accruals		   (260)	 –	  (260)
Amount due to subsidiary companies		   (626)	 –	  (626)

				     (886)	 – 	  (886)

b)	 Financial risk management 

	 The Group and the Company have exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments 
as follows : -

•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity and cash flow risk
•	 Market risk
•	 Operational risk

i)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from its 
receivables from customer. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from loans 
and advances to subsidiary companies.

	 Trade receivables

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. Credit valuations are performed on customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

	 At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether any of the trade receivables are credit impaired.
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

i)	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables (Cont’d)

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk (Cont’d)

	 The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables are written off (either partially 
or fully) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables that are 
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities.

	 There are no significant changes as compared to previous financial year.

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
	
	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade 

receivables are represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 The trade receivables are not secured by any collateral or supported by any other credit 
enhancements.

	 Concentration of credit risk

	 The following shows the total amount due from the top five (5) major customers as at the reporting 
date, which represents more than 86% (2019 – 90%) of the total trade receivables.

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

	
Trade receivables				     3,845 	  3,502 

 

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses

	 The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade 
receivables from individual customers, which comprise a very large number of insignificant balances 
outstanding.

	 To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on credit risk and days past 
due.

	 Where a trade receivable has a low credit risk, it is excluded from the allowance matrix and its 
ECL is assessed individually by considering historical payment trends and financial strength of 
the receivable.
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

i)	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (Cont’d)

	 The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2020 which are grouped together as they are expected to have 
similar risk nature : - 

					     Loss	
Group			   Gross	 allowance	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2020

Current (not past due)		   3,719 	 –	  3,719 
1-30 days past due			    47 	 –	  47 
31-60 days past due			   144 	 –	  144 
61-90 days past due			   139 	 –	  139 

				     4,049 	 –	  4,049 

Credit impaired	
More than 90 days past due		   503 	  (100)	  403 

				     4,552 	  (100)	  4,452

2019

Current (not past due)		   3,330 	  –	  3,330 
1-30 days past due			    116 	  –	  116 
31-60 days past due			   171 	 – 	  171 
61-90 days past due			   34 	 – 	  34

				    3,651 	  –	  3,651

Credit impaired
More than 90 days past due		   492 	  (235)	  257 

				    4,143 	  (235)	  3,908
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

i)	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (Cont’d)

	 The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the financial 
year are shown below : -

				    Lifetime	 Credit		
			   ECL	 Impaired	 Total

Group			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Balance at 1 January 2019		   2,024 	 – 	  2,024 
Disposal of subsidiary company		   (2,024)	 –	  (2,024)
Net measurement of loss allowance		  –	  235 	  235 

Balance at 31 December 2019		  –	  235 	  235 
Net measurement of loss allowance		  –	  (135)	  (135)

Balance at 31 December 2020		  –	  100 	  100 

	 Other receivables

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their 
carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group did not recognised any allowance for impairment 
losses.

	
	 Financial guarantees 

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities 
granted to certain subsidiary companies. The Company monitors the ability of the subsidiary 
companies to service their loan on an individual basis.

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

	 The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM3,500,000 (2019 – RM5,500,000) representing 
the outstanding corporate /bankers’ guarantees related to the subsidiary companies as at the end 
of the reporting period. 

	 As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that any subsidiary would default on 
repayment. 

	 The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was 
not material.
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

i)	 Credit risk (Cont’d)

	 Financial guarantees (Cont’d)

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses

	 The Company assumes that there is a significant increase in credit risk when a subsidiary company’s 
financial position deteriorates significantly. The Company considers a financial guarantee to be 
credit impaired when : -

•	 The subsidiary company is unlikely to repay its credit obligation to the bank in full; or

•	 The subsidiary company is continuously loss making and is having a deficit shareholders’ 
funds.

	 The Company determines the probability of default of the guaranteed loans individually using 
internal information available.

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the Company did not recognised any allowance for impairment 
losses.

	 Inter-company loans and advances

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Company provides unsecured loans and advances to subsidiary companies. The Company 
monitors the ability of the subsidiary companies to repay the loans and advances regularly. 

	 Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral

	 As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their 
carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

	 Recognition and measurement of impairment losses

	 As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the loans and advances to the 
subsidiaries are not recoverable. The Company does not specifically monitor the ageing of current 
advances to the subsidiaries. However, these advances have been overdue for more than a year 
and being impaired.

ii)	 Liquidity risks 

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
principally from its various payables.

	 The Group and the Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities 
deemed adequate by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

	 It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly 
earlier or at significantly different amounts.
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d.)

ii)	 Liquidity risks (Cont’d)

	 Maturity analysis (Cont’d)

				     Effective 	 Contractual	
2020			   Carrying	  interest 	 cash	  Under  
			   amount	  rate 	 flows	  1 year 
Company		  RM’000	  % 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities	
Other payables and accruals	  508 	 –	  508 	  508 
Amount due to subsidiary 
 companies	
-  interest bearing		   372 	  3.10 	  372 	  372 
-  no interest bearing	  56 	 –	  56 	  56 

			    936 		   936 	  936

2019

Non-derivative financial liabilities	
Other payables and accruals	 260 	 –	  260 	  260 
Amount due to subsidiary
 companies	
-  interest bearing		   520 	  3.50 	  520 	  520 
-  no interest bearing	  106 	 – 	  106 	  106 

			    886 		   886 	  886 

iii)	 Market risk

	 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and other prices that will affect the Group’s and the Company’s financial position or cash flows. 
Other than interest rates risk and foreign exchange rate risk, the Group and the Company are not 
expose to other prices risk.

	 Currency risk

	 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currency of Group entities. The currency giving rise 
to this risk is primarily US Dollar (“USD”).
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d.)

iii)    Market risk (Cont’d)

	 Currency risk (Cont’d)

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Group is closely monitoring the foreign currency risk on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
net exposure is at acceptable level. On occasion, the Group enters into forward foreign currency 
contracts to hedge against its foreign currency risk.

	 Exposure to foreign currency risk

	 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency (a currency which is other than the functional currency 
of the Group entities) risk, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows : -

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Denominted in USD

Balance recognised in the statement of financial position : -	
Cash and bank balances			   –	  4 

Net exposure				    –	  4 

	 Currency risk sensitivity analysis

	 The Group’s exposure to currency risk is immaterial in the context of the financial statements and 
hence, sensitivity analysis is not presented.

	 Interest rate risk 

	 The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes 
in interest rates. The Group’s variable rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash 
flows due to changes interest rates. Short-term investment such as deposits with licensed bank 
are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk.

	 Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk

	 The Group’s policy is to borrow principally on the floating rate basis but to retain a proportion of 
fixed rate debt. The objectives for the mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings are set to 
reduce the impact of an upward change in interest rates while enabling benefits to be enjoyed if 
interest rates fall. 
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

b)	 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

iii)    Market risk (Cont’d)

	 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 Exposure to interest rate risk

	 The interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial 
instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period are as follows : -

				    Effective		  Effective
				    interest		  interest
Group		  2020	 rate	 2019	 rate
			   RM’000	 %	 RM’000	 %

Fixed rate instruments
Deposits with licensed banks	 6,837	 1.50 – 1.70	 792	 3.15
Lease liabilities		  (136)	 3.10 – 4.35	 (326)	 4.35

Company

Fixed rate instruments
Amount due from
 subsidiary companies	 7,032	 3.10	 7,561	 3.50
Amount due to
 subsidiary companies	 (372)	 3.10	 (519)	 3.50
Deposits with licensed banks	 6,500	 1.50 – 1.70	 –	 –

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis : -

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

	 The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss. Therefore, a change on interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not 
affect profit or loss.

iv)	 Operational risk

	 The operational risk arises from the daily activities of the Group which includes legal, credit 
reputation and financing risk and other risks associated to daily running of its business operations.

	 Such risks are mitigated through proper authority levels of approval limits, clear reporting structure, 
segregation of duties, policies and procedures implemented and periodic management meetings.

	 In dealing with its stewardship, the directors recognise that effective risk management is an integral 
part of good business practice.

	 The directors will pursue an ongoing process of identifying, assessing and managing key business 
areas, overall operational and financial risks faced by the business units as well as regularly 
reviewing and enhancing risk mitigating strategies with its appointed and key management 
personnel.
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32.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

c)	 Fair value information
	
	 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term receivables and payables reasonably 

approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments. As 
the financial assets and liabilities of the Group and of the Company are not carried at fair value by any 
valuation method, the fair value hierarchy is not presented.

33.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

	 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to maintain an optimal 
capital structure so as to support their businesses and maximise shareholders’ value. To achieve this objective, 
the Group may take adjustments to the capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions, such as 
adjusting the amount of dividend payment, returning of capital to shareholders or issuing new shares.

	 The Group manages its capital based on debt-to-equity ratio. The debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as total 
borrowings from financial institutions divided by total equity.

	 The Group has no borrowings from financial institutions. The debt-to-equity ratio is not presented as it does 
not provide a meaningful indicator of the risk of borrowings.

	 Under the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Guidance Note No. 3/2006, the Company is required to maintain 
its shareholders’ equity equal to or not less than the 25% of the issued and paid-up share capital (excluding 
treasury shares) of the Company. The Company has complied with this requirement.

 

34.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Unsecured
Corporate guarantees issued to third
 parties for supplies of goods and
 services to : -
 -  subsidiary companies		  –	 –	  3,500 	  5,500 

A subsidiary is defending an action
 brought by an supplier. While	
 liabilities is not admitted, if
 defence against the action is
 unsuccessful, then fine and legal
 costs could amount to RM106,304.
 Based on legal advice, the 
 Directors do not expect the
 outcome of the action to have a
 material effect on the Group’s
 financial position.		  –	  106 	 –	 – 
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34.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Secured
Bankers’ guarantee issued in favour
 of third parties secured by deposit
 with a licensed bank		   255 	  258 	 –	 –

Bankers’ guarantee issued in favour
 of third parties secured by cash
 held by margin		   3 	 –	 –	  – 

			    258 	  364 	  3,500 	  5,500 

	 The directors are of the opinion that adequate allowance has been made in the financial statements for any 
possible liabilities.

35.	 RELATED PARTIES 

	 Identity of related parties 

	 For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group 
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control 
or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 

	 Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. 
The key management personnel include all the Directors of the Group, and certain members of the senior 
management of the Group.

	 The Group has related party relationship with its subsidiaries, Directors and key management personnel. 
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35.	 RELATED PARTIES (CONT’D)

	 Significant related party transactions

	 Related party transactions have been entered into the normal course of business under normal trade terms. 
The significant related party transactions of the Group and of the Company are show below. The related party 
balances are shown in Note 8, 9, 10, 16, 18 and 19 to the financial statements.

a)	 Related party /companies transactions : -

i)	 Transactions with a company in which one of the directors of the Company : -

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

MobilityOne Sdn. Bhd.			 
-  Sales commission				   12	 17
-  Sales of goods				    4	 –
-  Rental income				    –	 1
-  Purchases				    (12,349)	 (55,546)

LMS Technology Distribution Sdn. Bhd.
-  Sales of goods				    808	 –

ii)	 Transactions with one of the directors : -

			   Group
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman			 
-  Lease rental				    (230)	 (211)

iii)	 Transactions with subsidiary companies : -

			   Company
					     2020	 2019
					     RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Interest income on advances to subsidiary companies 			 
-  Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd.			   37	 5
-  MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd.			   208	 123
-  Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 		  4	 7
-  SBOne Solutions Sdn. Bhd.			   5	 *
-  SoftFac Technology Sdn. Bhd.			   1	 –
-  TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd.			   9	 14

Interest expenses on advance from subsidiary companies 
-  Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd.			   –	 *
-  SBOne Solutions Sdn. Bhd.			   (4)	 (5)
-  SoftFac Technology Sdn. Bhd.			   (7)	 (8)

*	 Less than RM1,000
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35.	 RELATED PARTIES (CONT’D)

	 Significant related party transactions (Cont’d)

b)	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 The remuneration paid by the Group and the Company to key management personnel during the financial 
year are as follows : -

		  Group	 Company	
			   2020	 2019	 2020	 2019
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Directors of the Company	

Executive directors
-  Fees		   35 	  65 	  35 	  65 
-  Other emoluments		   529 	  743 	  1 	  215 
-  Contibution to defined
 contribution plan		   63 	  70 	 –	  7 
Non-executive directors
-  Fees		   210 	  210 	  210 	  210 
-  Other emoluments		   5 	  8 	  5 	  8

			   842 	  1,096 	  251 	  505 

Directors of subsidiary companies

Executive directors
-  Other emoluments	  	 54 	  431 	 –	 – 
-  Contibution to defined
 contribution plan		  –	  61 	 –	 –

			    54 	  492 	 –	 –
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36.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

a)	 On 3 February 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company proposed to undertakes : -

i)	 a private placement of up to 62,020,100 new ordinary shares of the Company, representing 
approximately 30% of the existing total number of issued share of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares); and

ii)	 an issuance of up to 134,377,022 free warrants on the basis of 1 free warrant for every 2 existing 
ordinary shares in the Company held at an entitlement date to be determined later.

	 The above proposals had been submitted to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 5 February 2020.

	 On 21 May 2020, 22 May 2020 and 28 May 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company proposed to 
undertakes to replace the proposal issuance of up to 134,377,022 free warrants with a proposed rights 
issue of up to 268,754,045 new ordinary share s of Company together with up to 268,754,045 free 
detachable warrants on the basis of 1 free warrant for every 1 existing ordinary shares in the Company 
held at an entitlement date. The above proposals had been submitted to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad on 28 May 2020.

	 On 3 July 2020, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad approved the following : -

i)	 a private placement of up to 62,020,100 new ordinary shares of the Company, representing 
approximately 30% of the existing total number of issued share of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares); 

ii)	 a rights issue of up to 268,754,045 new ordinary shares of the Company in the Company held at 
an entitlement date; and 

iii)	 an issuance of up to 268,754,045 free warrants on the basis of 1 free warrant for every 1 existing 
ordinary share in the Company held at an entitlement date.

	 On 7 August 2020, Company has fixed the issue price for the rights share up to  268,754,045 ordinary 
shares at RM0.03 each ordinary shares together with up to 268,754,045 free detachable warrant on the 
basis on 1 rights share and 1 warrant for every existing ordinary shares in the Company.

	 On 17 August 2020, Company has fixed the issue price for the placement of 20,673,000 placement 
shares at RM0.30 per Placement Share. On 27 August 2020, 20,673,000 ordinary shares of RM0.30 each 
were allotted and issued pursuant to the Private Placement and listed on the Bursa Securities Malaysia 
Berhad. 

	 On 28 August 2020, up to 227,406,945 ordinary shares at RM0.03 each ordinary shares together with 
up to 227,406,945 free detachable warrant on the basis on 1 right share and 1 warrant for every existing 
ordinary shares in the Company were allotted and issued pursuant to the rights issue and listed on the 
Bursa Securities Malaysia Berhad. On 15 September 2020, the Company close completed its proposed 
rights issue.

b)		 On 11 February 2020, the Company acquired an additional 49% interest in Agensi Pekerjaan O2U 
Solutions Sdn. Bhd. for RM1 which increased the equity ownership from 51% to 100%. Accordingly, 
Agensi Pekerjaan O2U Solutions Sdn. Bhd. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The 
acquisition was completed on 11 February 2020.

c)		 On 13 February 2020, the Company incorporated a private company limited by shares, known as Onecent 
Sdn. Bhd. (“OCSB”). The share capital of OCSB is RM1,000 comprising 1,000 ordinary shares at RM1 
each which has been issued and fully paid-up. The Company holds 800 shares in OCSB for RM800, 
representing 80% equity interest in OCSB. 
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36.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (CONT’D)

d)	 On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into a Shares Sale Agreement (“SSA”) with a third party to dispose 
of the entire shareholding of the Company in TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd for a total cash consideration of RM1. 
The disposal was completed on 14 May 2020. TFP Soft Sdn. Bhd. has ceased to be a subsidiary company 
of the Company since then.

e)		 On 31 August 2020, Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd. (“CZSB”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
entered into an agreement with an individual to dispose of 49,000 ordinary shares in Comm Zed Solution 
Sdn. Bhd.  at a total consideration of RM1 which reduced the equity ownership from 100% to 51%. 

f)	 On 13 October 2020 and 21 October 2020, the Company converted 900,800 units, and 2,400,000 units 
of warrants at an exercise price of RM0.03 each respectively. 

	 Following the conversion of warrants, the issued share capital of the Company is RM22,637,442 
comprising 459,393,690 ordinary shares.

g)		 The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted significantly disrupted many business operations around the world. 
For the Group and the Company, the impact on business operations has not been a direct consequence 
of the COVID-19 pandemic but a result of the measures taken by the Government of Malaysia to contain 
it.

	 Up to the date of these financial statements, there is no significant impact of the movement control 
measures arising from the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s and the Company’s revenue, profitability 
and cash flow.

	 The scale and duration of the economic uncertainty and its related impact on the outlook and prospects 
of the Group and the Company could not be reasonably estimated at this juncture. The Group and the 
Company is closely monitoring the evolving situation of the COVID-19 pandemic and the effects, if any 
will be reflected in the 2021’s annual financial statements.

37.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

a)	 On 4 January 2021, the Company, entered into a Joint Venture Agreement cum Shareholder Agreement 
with Ace Capital Growth Sdn. Bhd. to incorporate a joint venture company for the purpose of trading 
precious metals. The Company subscribed 6 shares in One Gold Sdn. Bhd. (“OGSB”), representing 60% 
equity interest for a total cash consideration of RM6. Following the subscription, OGSB became a 60% 
owned subsidiary of the Company. The subscription was completed on 11 February 2021.

b)	 On 14 January 2021, 22 January 2021, 2 February 2021, 10 February 2021, 24 February 2021, 8 March 
2021, 13 April 2021, 22 April 2021, 5 May 2021 and 20 May 2021, the Company had converted 7,994,300 
units, 1,092,000 units, 3,939,300 units, 7,660,000 units, 1,214,300 units, 2,000,000 units, 3,650,000 units, 
500,000 units, , 1,379,300 units and 290,000 units of warrants at an exercise price of RM0.03 each 
respectively. 

	 Following the conversion of warrants, the issued share capital of the Company is RM26,839,553 
comprising 509,785,890 shares.

c)		  On 2 February 2021, Comm Zed Sdn. Bhd. (“CZSB”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
acquired the remaining 49% interest in Comm Zed Solution Sdn. Bhd. for RM1 which increased the 
equity ownership from 51% to 100%. Accordingly, Comm Zed Solution Sdn. Bhd. became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company.

d)	 On 26 February 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“MBP”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the 
Company, entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with Persatuan Penghantar P-Hailing 
Malaysia (“PENGHANTAR”) for the provisions of Digital Solutions services.
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37.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONT’D)

e)		 On 1 March 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“MBP”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
enter into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with SB Supplies & Logistics Sdn. Bhd (“SB Supplies & 
Logistics” or “SugarBun”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Borneo Oil Berhad for the provisions of 
OneCall Airtime and Internet Data Plan Services and /or OneCall mobile Apps to customers of SugarBun.

f)		 On 1 April 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“MBP”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
enter into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with NWP Access Sdn. Bhd (“NWP Access”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of NWP Holdings Berhad to explore a business collaboration or work together with 
each other in the proposed engagement relating to amongst others, OneCALL services, mobile fin-tech 
services, micro-lending services and micro-insurances services to NWP Access.

g)		 On 9 April 2021, MBP Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“MBP”) a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
enter into a Dealer Agreement (DA) with Multimax Creations Sdn. Bhd (“MULTIMAX” or “the Dealer”), for 
the appointment of MULTIMAX as non-exclusive dealer to distribute and resell the products and /services 
made available by MBP to any Agropreneur member(s) procured by MULTIMAX, and duly registered and 
approved by MBP to purchase and /or subscribe to the products provided by MBP in the distribution 
channel.

h)	 On 9 April 2021, Onecent Sdn. Bhd. (“OCSB”) a 80%-owned subsidiary company of the Company, entered 
into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with Vearich International Sdn. Bhd. (“VEARICH”) for the 
collaboration for the provision of mobile fin-tech services to VEARICH and its members.

i)	 On 9 April 2021, Onecent Sdn. Bhd. (“OCSB”) a 80%-owned subsidiary company of the Company, entered 
into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with Bumijez Sdn. Bhd. (“BUMIJEZ”) for the collaboration for 
the provision of mobile fin-tech services to BUMIJEZ and its members.

j)	 On 9 April 2021, Company has fixed the issue price for the placement of 20,673,000 placement shares 
at RM0.161 per Placement Share. On 21 April 2021, 20,673,000 ordinary shares of RM0.30 each were 
allotted and issued pursuant to the Private Placement and listed on the Bursa Securities Malaysia Berhad. 

k)	 On 20 April 2021, Onecent Sdn. Bhd. (“OCSB”) a 80%-owned subsidiary company of the Company, 
entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with Persatuan Pengusaha Restoran Muslim Malaysia 
(“PRESMA”) for the collaboration for the provision of mobile fin-tech services to PRESMA and its members.

l)		 On 23 April 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company proposed to undertakes : -

i)	 acquisition of approximately 10% of the share capital of Ace Innovate Asia Berhad (“AIAB”) from 
several shareholders of AIAB for a total purchase consideration of RM10,650,000 to be satisfied 
by new ordinary shares of Company; and 

ii)	 a diversification of the existing business of Company and its subsidiary companies to include 
mobile financial technology (“FINTECH”) related business.

	 The above proposals had been submitted to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 30 April 2021 and 
approved on 24 May 2021.
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Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act, 2016

STATUTORY
DECLARATION

Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2016

We, Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman and Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin Abbas Alhabshee, being two of the directors 
of TFP Solutions Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on 
pages 54 to 134 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 December 2020 and of the results and the cash flows 
of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors

Dato’  Hussian  @  Rizal  Bin  A.  Rahman	 Datuk  Seri  Syed  Ali  Bin  Abbas  Alhabshee

Kuala Lumpur,
Date : 25 May 2021

I, Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin A. Rahman, NRIC: 620419-12-5345, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial 
management of TFP Solutions Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on 
pages 54 to 134, to the best of my knowledge and belief, are correct.

And, I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of 
the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared at Kuala Lumpur on 25 May 2021

Dato’  Hussian  @  Rizal  Bin  A.  Rahman

Before me

Samirtha Apostler PPN (W 805) 
Commissioner for Oaths
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SHARE CAPITAL 

Total Number of Issued Shares	 :	 508,116,590 (including 1,279,000 Treasury Shares as per Record of 
Depositors as at 30 April 2021)

Class of Shares 	 :	 Ordinary Shares 
Voting Rights 	 :	 One vote for each ordinary share held  

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021

			   No. of	 No. of	 % of
Size of Holding 			   shareholders	  Shares#	  shares

1 - 99			   7	 301	 0.00
100 - 1,000			   184	 91,555	 0.02
1,001 - 10,000			   1,263	 7,490,950	 1.48
10,001 - 100,000			   1,551	 65,638,400	 12.95
100,001 - 5%* 			   349	 236,834,594	 46.73
5% AND ABOVE **			   2	 196,781,790	 38.82

Total 			   3,356	 506,837,590	 100.00

Remark : 
*	 - Less than 5% of Issued Shares 	
**	 - 5% and above of Issued Shares 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The substantial shareholders based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the Company and their 
shareholdings are as follows: -

	 Name of	 No. of Shares held	 No. of Shares held
No.	 Substantial Shareholders		  Direct	 %	 Indirect	 %

1	 Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd. 		  84,694,594	 16.71	 –	 –
2	 Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd.		  124,679,790	 24.60	 –	 –
3	 Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin
	  A. Rahman		  –	 –	 124,679,790*	 24.60*
4	 Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin
	  Abbas Alhabshee		  –	 –	 84,694,594**	 16.71**

*	 Deemed interest through Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
**	 Deemed Interest through Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021

The Directors’ Shareholdings based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings of the Company are as follows:-

		  No. of Shares held	 No. of Shares held
No.	 Name of Directors		  Direct	 %	 Indirect	 %

1	 Dato' Hussian @ Rizal Bin
	  A. Rahman		  –	 –	 124,679,790*	 24.60*
2	 Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin
	  Abbas Alhabshee		  –	 –	 84,694,594**	 16.71**
3	 YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah
	  binti Munir		  –	 –	 –	 –
4	 Kong Wei Peng		  –	 –	 –	 –
5	 Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan		  –	 –	 –	 –
6	 Wong Loke Lim		  –	 –	 –	 –
7	 Yeong Siew Lee		  –	 –	 –	 –
8	 Datuk Chu Boon Tiong		  –	 –	 –	 –

*	 Deemed interest through Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
**	 Deemed Interest through Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad

LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNTS HOLDERS 
(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021)

No.	 Name of Shareholders	 No. of Shares	 %

1	 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 112,087,196	 22.12
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR RAPPORTRANS SDN BHD	
2	 MILAN PREMIER SDN BHD	 84,694,594	 16.71
3	 LING AH CHAI @ LING SIEW HUA	 18,215,000	 3.59
4	 KOH CHEE MENG	 13,473,000	 2.66
5	 RAPPORTRANS SDN BHD	 12,592,594	 2.48
6	 CHIN SEAK FAN	 12,014,200	 2.37
7	 AFFIN HWANG NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 	 11,314,300	 2.23
	 MAJESTIC SALUTE SDN BHD FOR WONG KONG CHOONG @ 
	 LEONG KONG CHOONG	
8	 SHOO KIM LOOI	 9,367,600	 1.85
9	 WONG WAI CHOONG	 6,172,800	 1.22
10	 RAYMOND SELVARAJ A/L VICTOR BENJAMIN	 4,505,800	 0.89
11	 CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 3,678,600	 0.73
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHEE KEAT HOE (MP0350)	
12	 CHEW CHEE HEONG	 3,626,000	 0.72
13	 KOH CHEE MENG	 3,230,900	 0.64
14	 KUAH HUI SUAN	 3,200,000	 0.63
15	 GOH MENG KEONG	 3,100,000	 0.61
16	 EU TECK YEE	 2,700,000	 0.53
17	 TAN TIAN HOCK	 2,700,000	 0.53
18	 TANG CHIN CHUAI	 2,344,100	 0.46
19	 KOH CHEE MENG	 2,231,400	 0.44
20	 LOW LEEK LOON	 2,000,000	 0.39
21	 TEE KIAN HENG	 2,000,000	 0.39
22	 KOH LI LI	 2,000,000	 0.39
23	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 1,800,000	 0.36
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SER TOH CHON CHIEN (E-BPT)	
24	 OOI PIT YEN	 1,800,000	 0.36
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LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNTS HOLDERS (CONT’D)
(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021)

No.	 Name of Shareholders	 No. of Shares	 %

25	 SITI MUNAJAT BINTI MD GHAZALI	 1,750,000	 0.35
26	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 1,695,000	 0.33
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YEU ING DEE (E-KKU/BFT)	
27	 TEOW WEE LOON	 1,600,000	 0.32
28	 MU SING KEONG	 1,600,000	 0.32
29	 HO SIA SENG	 1,575,000	 0.31
30	 CHIN GUO WEI	 1,450,000	 0.29

Analysis Of Shareholdings
as at 30 April 2021

(Cont’d)
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Total Number of Issued Shares	 :	 196,056,245 free detachable warrants issued pursuant to the Renounceable 
Rights Issue with Warrants exercise)

Number of Warrants Holders	 :	 466

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTS HOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021

			   No. of Warrants	 No. of Warrants	 % of Warrants
Size of Holding 			   Holders	 Holdings	 Holdings

1 - 99			   6	 426	 0.00
100 - 1,000			   21	 6,930	 0.01
1,001 - 10,000			   143	 806,000	 0.41
10,001 - 100,000			   221	 9,498,600	 4.84
100,001 - 5%* 			   72	 73,848,597	 37.67
5% AND ABOVE **			   3	 111,895,692	 57.07

Total 			   466	 196,056,245	 100.00

Remark : 
*	 - Less than 5% of Issued Warrants
**	 - 5% and above of Issued Warrants 

SUBSTANTIAL WARRANTS HOLDERS 

The substantial warrants holders based on the Register of Substantial warrants holders of the Company and their 
warrants holdings are as follows:-

	 Name of	 No. of Warrants held	 No. of Warrants held
No.	 Substantial Warrants holders		  Direct	 %	 Indirect	 %

1	 Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd. 		  45,694,594	 23.31	 –	 –
2	 Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd.		  62,339,895	 31.80	 –	 –
3	 Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin
	  A. Rahman		  –	 –	 62,339,895*	 31.80*
4	 Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin
	  Abbas Alhabshee		  –	 –	 45,694,594**	 23.31**

*	 Deemed interest through Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
**	 Deemed Interest through Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN WARRANTS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021

		  No. of Warrants held	 No. of Warrants held
No.	 Name of Directors		  Direct	 %	 Indirect	 %

1	 Dato’ Hussian @ Rizal Bin
	  A. Rahman		  –	 –	 62,339,895*	 31.80*
2	 Datuk Seri Syed Ali Bin
	  Abbas Alhabshee		  –	 –	 45,694,594**	 23.31**
3	 YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah
	  binti Munir		  –	 –	 –	 –
4	 Kong Wei Peng		  –	 –	 –	 –
5	 Noor Shahwan Bin Saffwan		  –	 –	 –	 –
6	 Wong Loke Lim		  –	 –	 –	 –
7	 Yeong Siew Lee		  –	 –	 –	 –
8	 Datuk Chu Boon Tiong		  –	 –	 –	 –

*	 Deemed interest through Rapportrans Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad
**	 Deemed Interest through Milan Premier Sdn. Bhd., who in turn holds shares in TFP Solutions Berhad

LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST WARRANTS HOLDERS 
(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021) 

No. 	  Name of Warrants Holders	 No. of Warrants	 %

1	 KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 56,043,598	 28.59
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR RAPPORTRANS SDN BHD	
2	 MILAN PREMIER SDN BHD	 45,694,594	 23.31
3	 LING AH CHAI @ LING SIEW HUA	 10,157,500	 5.18
4	 SHOO KIM LOOI	 6,874,300	 3.51
5	 RAPPORTRANS SDN BHD	 6,296,297	 3.21
6	 WONG WAI CHOONG	 6,172,800	 3.15
7	 CHIN SEAK FAN	 6,000,000	 3.06
8	 GOH MENG KEONG	 5,619,000	 2.87
9	 WONG KONG CHOONG @ LEONG KONG CHOONG	 3,975,900	 2.03
10	 CHAN CHOOI FOON	 3,844,100	 1.96
11	 MUI KAR WAI	 3,487,000	 1.78
12	 KOH CHEE MENG	 3,000,000	 1.53
13	 AURUM RESOURCES SDN BHD	 2,766,800	 1.41
14	 TAN LIP HAN	 2,463,100	 1.26
15	 EU TECK YEE	 2,300,000	 1.17
16	 TANG CHIN CHUAI	 1,844,100	 0.94
17	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 1,000,000	 0.51
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH MIAH KIAT	
18	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 1,000,000	 0.51
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YAP CHIOU HAN (E-KTU)	
19	 ANISMAWATI BINTI HARUN	 900,000	 0.46
20	 CHAN PAK KEE	 750,000	 0.38
21	 M & A NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 700,000	 0.36
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GT-M SIGN SDN BHD (M&A)	
22	 CHE ALIAS BIN MAT	 650,000	 0.33
23	 YONG SIEW NGEE	 634,300	 0.32
24	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 	 605,600	 0.31
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LEE YOKE CHOON (E-SGM)	

Analysis Of Warrants Holdings
as at 30 April 2021

(Cont’d)
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LIST OF TOP 30 LARGEST WARRANTS HOLDERS (CONT’D)
(ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF DEPOSITORS AS AT 30 APRIL 2021) 

No. 	  Name of Warrants Holders	 No. of Warrants	 %

25	 LOW WAI LENG	 600,000	 0.31
26	 GAN SBWU SIN	 545,000	 0.28
27	 BEH SEET FONG	 528,000	 0.27
28	 LOW KAI YEE	 500,000	 0.26
29	 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD	 491,000	 0.25
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHAN KOK HENG	
30	 PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD)	 480,000	 0.24
	 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YAP TZY LIQ (E-KPG)

Analysis Of Warrants Holdings
as at 30 April 2021

(Cont’d)
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NOTICE OF FOURTEENTH 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourteenth (14th) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of TFP Solutions Berhad 
(“the Company”) will be held at TFP Experience Center, Ground Floor, Wisma LMS, No. 6, Jalan Abd Rahman Idris, 
Off Jalan Raja Muda Aziz, 50300 Kuala Lumpur on Tuesday, 29 June 2021 at 2.00 p.m. for the following purposes:-

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
thereon.

Please refer to
Explanatory Note 1

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees up to RM500,000 to be divided amongst 
the Directors in such manner as the Directors may determine in respect of the 
period from the conclusion of the 14th AGM until the conclusion of the next AGM 
of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 1

3.	 To approve the payment of other benefits up to RM200,000 in respect of the period 
from the conclusion of the 14th AGM until the conclusion of the next AGM of the 
Company.

Ordinary Resolution 2

4.	 To re-elect the following Directors who is to retire by rotation pursuant to Clause 
125 of the Company’s Constitution and being eligible, have has offered herself 
for re-election:

I. Yeong Siew Lee Ordinary Resolution 3

5.	 To re-elect the following Directors who are to retire by rotation pursuant to Clause 
130 of the Company’s Constitution and being eligible, have offered themselves 
for re-election:

I.	 YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir

II.	 Kong Wei Peng

III.	 Datuk Chu Boon Tiong

Ordinary Resolution 4

Ordinary Resolution 5

Ordinary Resolution 6

6.	 To re-appoint Messrs. Kreston John & Gan as Auditors of the Company and to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM and to authorise the Directors to 
fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 7
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Notice Of Fourteenth Annual General Meeting
(Cont’d)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, with or without modifications to pass the following 
resolutions: -

7.	 AUTHORITY TO ISSUE AND ALLOT SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 
76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2016

	 “THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 (“the Act”), 
Additional Temporary Relief Measures to Listed Corporations for COVID-19, issued 
by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on 16 April 2020 and the 
ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Securities and subject to the 
approvals of the relevant governmental/ regulatory authorities, the Directors be 
and are hereby empowered to issue shares in the capital of the Company from 
time to time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the 
Directors, may in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate 
number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 20% of the 
issued share capital of the Company for the time being (“20% General Mandate”) 
and that the Directors be and are hereby also empowered to obtain approval 
from the Bursa Securities for the listing and quotation of the additional shares 
so issued. 

	 AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately upon the passing of this 
resolution and continue to be in force until 31 December 2021, as empowered 
by Bursa Securities pursuant to its letter dated 16 April 2020 to grant additional 
temporary relief measures to listed corporations, notwithstanding Section 76(3) 
of the Act, duly varied and adopted by the Directors of the Company pursuant to 
Section 76(4) of the Act.”

Ordinary Resolution 8

8.	 PROPOSED NEW AND RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR 
RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING 
NATURE (“PROPOSED RRPTs MANDATE”)

	 “THAT, subject to the provisions of the AMLR of Bursa Securities, approval be and is 
hereby given for the Proposed New and Renewal of Existing Shareholder Mandate 
for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature for the 
Company and/or its subsidiaries to enter into and to give effect to the category of 
the recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature from time 
to time with the Related Party as specified in the Circular to Shareholders dated 
31 May 2021 provided that such transactions are:-

(a)	 undertaken in the ordinary course of business at arm’s length basis and on 
normal commercial terms which are not more favourable to the Related 
Parties than those generally available to the public;

(b)	 necessary for the day-to-day operations; and
(c)	 not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company.

	 THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until :-

(a)	 the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company following this AGM at which 
such Shareholders’ Mandate is passed, at which it will lapse, unless by an 
ordinary resolution passed at such AGM, the authority is renewed; or

Ordinary Resolution 9
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(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date is 
required to be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Act (but must not 
extend to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of 
the Act); or

(c)	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in a general 
meeting.

	 whichever is earlier;

	 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised to complete and 
do all such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may 
be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the 
Proposed RRPTs Mandate.”

9. 	 To transact any other business of which due notice has been given in accordance 
with the Act.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAN TONG LANG (MAICSA 7045482/ SSM PC NO. 201908002253)
THIEN LEE MEE (LS0009760/SSM PC No. 201908002254)
Company Secretaries

Selangor
Date: 31 May 2021

Notes:

(1)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 21 June 
2021 (General Meeting Record of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend, participate, speak and/or vote at the 
meeting.

(2)	 A member is entitled to appoint one (1) or more proxies to attend and vote in his place. Where a member appoints 
more than one (1) proxy, he shall specify the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy, 
failing which the appointment shall be invalid.

(3)	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. 
A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the 
Meeting.

(4)	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company 
for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“Omnibus Account”) as defined under the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there shall be no limit to the number of proxies which the Exempt 
Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.

(5)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised 
in writing and in the case of a corporate member, either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer 
or attorney duly authorised.

(6)	 The instrument appointing a proxy together with the power of attorney (if any) or a certified copy thereof must 
be deposited at the Company's Share Registrar Office, Boardroom.com Sdn Bhd at Level 5, Block B, Dataran 
PHB, Saujana Resort, Section U2, 40150 Shah Alam, Selangor at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time for 
holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

(7)	  Pursuant to Rule 8.31A of ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all resolutions 
set out in the Notice of AGM will put to vote by way of poll.

Notice Of Fourteenth Annual General Meeting
(Cont’d)
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Explanatory Note to Ordinary and Special Business: -

1.	 Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020

	 The Agenda No. 1 is meant for discussion only as Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2016 provide that 
the audited financial statements are to be laid in the general meeting and do not require a formal approval of 
the shareholders. Hence, this Agenda item is not put forward for voting.

2. 	 Ordinary Resolution 1 & 2 : To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees and other benefits payable 
	
	 Pursuant to Section 230(1) of the Act, fees and benefits payable to the Directors of public company or a listed 

company and its subsidiaries shall be approved by shareholders at a general meeting. The Directors’ benefits 
payable comprises of meeting attendance allowances and other claimable benefits.

	 In determining the estimated total amount of Directors’ benefits, the Board has considered various factors, 
among others, the estimated claimable benefits and estimated number of meetings for the Board and Board 
Committees held for the period commencing from the conclusion of the 14th AGM until the next AGM of the 
Company.

	 In the event the proposed amount is insufficient (e.g. due to more meetings or enlarged Board size), approval 
will be sought at the next AGM for additional fees to meet the shortfall.

	
3. 	 Ordinary Resolution 3 : Re-election of Directors who retire by rotation in accordance with Clause 125 of the 

Company’s Constitution

	 Clause 125 of the Company’s Constitution states that an election of Directors shall take place each year during 
the annual general meeting. At the first annual general meeting of the Company, all the Directors shall retire 
from office, and at the annual general meeting in every subsequent year, one-third of the Directors are subject 
to retirement by rotation such that each Director shall retire from office once in every three (3) years or, if their 
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to one-third (1/3) shall retire from office 
such that each Director shall retire from office once in every three (3) years, and if there is only one (1) Director 
who is subject to retirement by rotation, he shall retire. All Directors who retire from office shall be eligible for 
re-election.

	 Yeong Siew Lee is standing for re-election as Director of the Company and being eligible, has offered herself 
for re-election.

	 For the purpose of determining the eligibility of the Directors to stand for re-election at the 14th AGM, the 
Nomination Committee has considered and recommended Yeong Siew Lee for re-election as Director pursuant 
to Clause 125 of the Company’s Constitution.

4.	 Retirement Director

	 Mr Wong Loke Lim who is retiring pursuant to Clause 125 of the Company’s Constitution at the forthcoming 
14th AGM of the Company, he has expressed his intention not to seek re-election at the forthcoming 14th AGM 
of the Company.  Hence, he shall cease to be a Director of the Company at the conclusion of the 14th AGM of 
the Company.

5.  	 Ordinary Resolution 4, 5 & 6 : Re-election of Directors who retire in accordance with Clause 130 of the 
Company’s Constitution

	 Clause 130 of the Company’s Constitution states that an election of Directors shall take place If the Company, 
at the meeting at which a Director retires by rotation, does not fill the vacancy, the retiring Director shall, if 
willing to act, be deemed to have been reappointed unless at the meeting, it is resolved not to fill the vacancy 
or unless a resolution for the reappointment of the Director is put to the meeting and lost. All Directors who 
retire from office shall be eligible for re-election.

Notice Of Fourteenth Annual General Meeting
(Cont’d)



146
www.tfp.com.my
TFP Solutions Berhad         2020 ANNUAL REPORT

Explanatory Note to Ordinary and Special Business (Cont’d): -
	
5.  	 Ordinary Resolution 4, 5 & 6 : Re-election of Directors who retire in accordance with Clause 130 of the 

Company’s Constitution (Cont’d)
	
	 YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir, Kong Wei Peng and Datuk Chu Boon Tiong are standing for 

re-election as Directors of the Company and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

	 For the purpose of determining the eligibility of the Directors to stand for re-election at the 14th AGM, the 
Nomination Committee has considered and recommended YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir, Kong 
Wei Peng and Datuk Chu Boon Tiong for re-election as Directors pursuant to Clause 130 of the Company’s 
Constitution.

6.	 Ordinary Resolution 8 - Authority to Issue and Allot Shares Pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 8 is intended to renew the authority granted to the Directors at the Thirteenth 
Annual General Meeting held on 4 August 2020 to issue and allot shares at any time to such persons in their 
absolute discretion without convening a general meeting provided that the aggregate number of the shares 
issued does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being (hereinafter 
referred to as “Previous Mandate”). As at the date of this notice, the Previous Mandate was not utilised and 
accordingly no proceed was raised. 

	 In view of the challenging time due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Bursa Securities has via its letter dated 16 
April 2020 empowered the listed issuer to issue new securities up to 20% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) until 31 December 2021 (“20% General Mandate”). After that, the 10% General 
Mandate will be reinstated according to Rule 6.04 of the AMLR of Bursa Securities.

	 The Board would like to procure approval for the 20% General Mandate pursuant to Section 76(4) of the Act, 
from its shareholders at the 14th AGM of the Company.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to allot and issue 
ordinary shares of the Company from time to time and to grant rights to subscribe for shares in the Company, 
convert any securities into shares in the Company, or allot shares under an agreement or option or offer, 
provided that the aggregate number of shares allotted pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 20% of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company for the time being (“Proposed 20% 
General Mandate”) up to 31 December 2021. 

	 The 20% General Mandate may be utilised by the Company to issue and allot new ordinary shares until 31 
December 2021 and thereafter, the 10% General Mandate will be reinstated with effect from 1 January 2022. 
This authorisation will expire at the conclusion of next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

	 After having considered all aspects of the 20% General Mandate, the Board is of the opinion that the adoption 
of the 20% General Mandate would be in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders, on the basis 
that it is the most optimum and cost efficient method of fund raising for the Company.

7.	 Ordinary Resolution 9 - Proposed RRPTs Mandate 

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will provide a renewal mandate for the Company and/or its 
subsidiaries to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with Related 
Parties in the ordinary course of business based on commercial terms which are not more favourable to the 
Related Parties than those generally available to the public and which are necessary for the Group’s day-to-
day operations. This mandate shall lapse at the conclusion of the next AGM unless authority for the renewal 
is obtained from the shareholders of the Company at general meeting.

	 Further information on the Proposed RRPTs Mandate are set out in the Circular to Shareholders dated 31 May 
2021 which is dispatched together with the Company’s Annual Report 2020. 

Notice Of Fourteenth Annual General Meeting
(Cont’d)
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Notice Of Fourteenth Annual General Meeting
(Cont’d)

COVID-19 Outbreak Measure Notes

The health and safety of our members and staff who will attend the 14th AGM are the top priority of the Company. 
Hence, the following precautionary measures will be taken for the conduct of the 14th AGM:-

a. 	 Members or proxies are encouraged to abide by the most current regulations in place and enforced by the Ministry 
of Health and Government of Malaysia at the time deciding on whether or not to attend the 14th AGM in person.

b. 	 Securities Commission Malaysia had on 18 April 2020 and its subsequent latest revision on 6 May 2021 issued 
a Guidance and FAQs on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers (“SC Guidance”). The Malaysian 
National Security Council had on 16 June 2020 and its subsequent revised from time to time issued a Standard 
Operating Procedures (“SOP”) for government and private events, including meetings.

c.	 Pursuant to the SOP, only member/proxy aged between 18 to 60 years old are allowed to enter the venue and 
Patient under Investigation (PUI) and Person under Surveillance (PUS) are not allowed to enter the venue.

d.	 Members are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting (or any other person) to act as proxy to attend 
and vote at the 14th AGM on their behalf by submitting the proxy form with predetermined voting instruction.

e. 	 Members or proxies who are feeling unwell or have been placed on quarantine orders or stay-at-home notices, 
you are advised to refrain from attending the 14th AGM in person.

f. 	 Members or proxies who had been in physical contact with a person infected with COVID-19 are advised to refrain 
from attending the 14th AGM in person.

g. 	 In the interest of the public health including the well-being of our members, members must cooperate with the 
precautionary measures put in place by the Company should members (or your proxies) wish to attend the 14th  
AGM in person.

h. 	 Members/proxies must sanitise their hands and are strongly advised to wear a face mask if they are attending 
the Meeting in person.

i. 	 Members or proxies are advised to observe/maintain social distancing throughout the Meeting.
j. 	 NO door gift will be provided to the Members or proxies.

In view of the constant evolving COVID-19 situation in Malaysia, we may be required to change the arrangements of our 
14th AGM at short notice. Kindly check Bursa Securities’s and Company’s website at www.tfp.com.my for the latest 
updates on the status of the said meeting.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Pursuant to Rule 8.29(2) of ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad)

No notice of nomination has been received to date from any member nominating any individual for election as a 
Director at the AGM of the Company. There is therefore no individual standing for election as Director, save for the 
above Directors who are standing for re-election.

Further details of Directors standing for re-election as Directors at the 14th AGM are set out in their respective profiles 
which appear in the Directors’ Profiles of this Annual Report and the details of their interests in the securities of the 
Company are disclosed in the Statistics of Shareholdings of this Annual Report.

The Company will seek shareholders’ approval at the AGM for issue of securities in accordance with Rule 6.04(3) 
of the AMLR of Bursa Securities. Please refer to the Proposed Ordinary Resolution 8 as stated in the Notice of the 
14th AGM of the Company for details.
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I/We (Full Name in Block Letters)	................................................................................................................................................................

NRIC/Passport/Company No. .....................................................................................................................................................................

of ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................

being *a member/members of TFP SOLUTIONS BERHAD hereby appoint …………………………………………………....................................………..

NRIC/Passport/Company No. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………….......................................................…………

of………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...................................................……………....

*and/or failing *him/her, …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….......................................................………

NRIC/Passport/Company No. ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..............................................……………

of………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...................................................……....

or *failing him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our Proxy to vote for *me/us and act on *my/our behalf at the Fourteenth 
(14th) Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at TFP Experience Center, Ground floor, Wisma LMS, No. 6, Jalan Abd 
Rahman Idris, Off Jalan Raja Muda Aziz, 50300 Kuala Lumpur on Tuesday, 29 June 2021 at 2 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

The proportions of my/our holdings to be represented by our proxy(ies) as follows:-

Name of Proxy(ies) Proportion of Shares Held
1.
2.
Total Number of Shares Held

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting 
is given, the proxy will vote or abstain at his/her discretion.

No. *For *Against
1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees up to RM500,000 to be divided 

amongst the Directors in such manner as the Directors may determine 
in respect of the period from the conclusion of the 14th AGM until the 
conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 1 

2. To approve the payment of other benefits up to RM200,000 in respect 
of the period from the conclusion of the 14th AGM until the conclusion 
of the next AGM of the Company.

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Yeong Siew Lee as Director. Ordinary Resolution 3
4. To re-elect YM Puteri Munawarah Syammiyah Binti Munir as Director. Ordinary Resolution 4
5. To re-elect Kong Wei Peng as Director. Ordinary Resolution 5
6. To re-elect Datuk Chu Boon Tiong as Director Ordinary Resolution 6
7. To re-appoint Messrs. Kreston John & Gan as Auditors of the Company. Ordinary Resolution 7

8.
As Special Business: -
Authority to allot shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016.

Ordinary Resolution 8

9. Proposed New and Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

Ordinary Resolution 9

* Strike out whichever not applicable.

Dated this …………............ day of …………………..........………… 2021

	 …..……………………………………………………………........…….
	 (Signature(s)/Common Seal of Shareholder)

Notes:
(1)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 21 June 2021 (General Meeting Record 

of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend, participate, speak and/or vote at the meeting.
(2)	 A member entitled to attend, participate, speak and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint more than one (1) proxy to attend, participate, 

speak and vote on his/her behalf. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall not be invalid unless he specifies 
the proportions of his/her shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

(3)	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and 
vote at the meeting shall have the same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting.

(4)	 Where a member of the Company is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners 
in one securities account (“Omnibus Account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there shall be no limit 
to the number of proxies which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each Omnibus Account it holds.

(5)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing and in the case 
of a corporate member, either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

(6)	 The instrument appointing a proxy together with the power of attorney (if any) or a certified copy thereof must be deposited at the Company's 
Share Registrar Office, Boardroom.com Sdn Bhd at Level 5, Block B, Dataran PHB, Saujana Resort, Section U2, 40150, Shah Alam, Selangor at 
least forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

(7) 	 Pursuant to Rule 8.31A of ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all resolutions set out in the Notice of AGM 
will put to vote by way of poll.✄

TFP SOLUTIONS BERHAD
Registration No.200701015543 (773550-A)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

PROXY FORM

No. of shares held

CDS Account No.
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Please fold here

Please fold here

The Share Registrar

TFP SOLUTIONS BERHAD
c/o Boardroom.com Sdn. Bhd. of

Level 5, Block B
Dataran PHB, Saujana Resort

Section U2
40150 Shah Alam

 Selangor Darul Ehsan
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Tel : +603 9213 0688     Fax : +603 2202 7667
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